
Having trouble reading this? Please call 0115 901 3910 if you need it in large print, audio 
or another format.

Agenda

Civic Centre, 
Arnot Hill Park, 

Arnold,
Nottinghamshire, 

NG5 6LU

Planning Committee

Date: Wednesday 14 October 2015

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: Council Chamber, Civic Centre.

For any further information please contact: 

Lyndsey Parnell

Senior Elections and Members' Services Officer

0115 901 3910

Public Document Pack



Planning Committee
Membership

Chair Councillor John Truscott

Vice-Chair Councillor Barbara Miller

Councillor Michael Adams
Councillor Pauline Allan
Councillor Peter Barnes
Councillor Sandra Barnes
Councillor Chris Barnfather
Councillor Alan Bexon
Councillor Bob Collis
Councillor Gary Gregory
Councillor Sarah Hewson
Councillor Meredith Lawrence
Councillor Marje Paling
Councillor Colin Powell
Councillor Paul Stirland
Councillor Paul Wilkinson



AGENDA Page

1.  Apologies for Absence and Substitutions.

2.  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 23 
September 2015.

5 - 10

Planning Committee Protocol. 
3.  Declaration of Interests

4.  Updated Planning Committee Protocol and Code of Practice 13 - 30

Report of the Service Manager, Planning.

5.  Application No. 2014/0242- Land Adjacent 4 Northcliffe Avenue, 
Mapperley, Nottinghamshire.

31 - 42

6.  Application No. 2014/1168- Newstead and Annesley Country Park, 
Tilford Road, Newstead.

43 - 112

7.  Application No. 2015/0941- 231 Mapperley Plains, Arnold. 113 - 124

8.  Application No. 2015/0954- Gedling Country Park, Spring Lane. 125 - 130

9.  Development Management Improvement Plan 131 - 144

Report of the Service Manager, Planning. 

10.  Appeal Decision- 16 Cottage Meadow, Colwick. 145 - 146

11.  Planning Delegation Panel Action Sheets 147 - 150

12.  Future Planning Applications 151 - 152

13.  Any other items which the Chair considers urgent.



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Wednesday 23 September 2015

Councillor John Truscott (Chair)

In Attendance: Councillor Barbara Miller
Councillor Michael Adams
Councillor Pauline Allan
Councillor Peter Barnes
Councillor Sandra Barnes
Councillor Chris Barnfather
Councillor Alan Bexon
Councillor Bob Collis

Councillor Gary Gregory
Councillor Sarah Hewson
Councillor Meredith Lawrence
Councillor Marje Paling
Councillor Colin Powell
Councillor Paul Stirland
Councillor Paul Wilkinson

Absent:  

Officers in Attendance: P Baguley, N Morley, L Parnell and F Whyley

59   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS. 

None received.

60   TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 02 SEPTEMBER 2015. 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be 
approved as a correct record.

61   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

The Chair, on behalf of all Members, declared a none pecuniary interest 
in application numbers 2015/0920 and 2015/1012 as the sites are in the 
ownership of Gedling Borough Council and in application number 
2015/1000 as the applicant is Gedling Borough Council.

62   APPLICATION NO. 2015/0920- 9 PENINE CLOSE, BESTWOOD 

Change of use of land to residential curtilage.

The Service Manager, Planning, introduced the application and clarified 
the location of the land in question. 

RESOLVED to GRANT CONDITIONAL PLANNING CONSENT.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



Conditions

1. The development must be begun not later than three years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the following 
plans: Site Location Plan and the proposed fencing as shown on 
'Side view of the house', both received by the Local Planning 
Authority on 21 July 2015. The development shall thereafter be 
undertaken in accordance with these plans unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and to define the terms of this 
permission.

Reasons for Decision

In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development is 
visually acceptable, results in no significant impact on neighbouring 
residential properties and amenities, and results in no unduly detrimental 
harm to the character and setting of the locality. The proposal therefore 
accords with Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the 
Aligned Core Strategy 2014 and saved Policies ENV1 (Development 
Criteria) and H10 (Extensions) of the Gedling Borough Replacement 
Local Plan.

Notes to Applicant

The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with the 
applicant in accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Discussions have taken place during the 
consideration of the application to address adverse impacts identified by 
officers and/or address concerns raised in letters of representation 
submitted in connection with the proposal. The application for planning 
permission is subsequently approved subject to conditions.

63   APPLICATION NO. 2015/1000- PROPOSED CCTV COLUMN, 
COLLYER ROAD, CALVERTON 

Proposed CCTV Column, Collyer Road, Calverton, Nottinghamshire.

RESOLVED to GRANT CONDITIONAL PLANNING PERMISSION.

Page 6



Conditions

1. The development must be begun not later than three years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with the plans received on 4th August 2015 
and the detailed specification contained in two emails dated 25th 
and 27th August 2015 which form part of this permission unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the details as approved.

Reasons for Decision

In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development is 
visually acceptable, results in no significant impact on neighbouring 
properties, and seeks to reduce crime and disorder in the area.  The 
proposal therefore accords with the requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy 
(2014) and ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local 
Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014).

Notes to Applicant

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 
contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to The Coal Authority on 0845 762   6848. Further 
information is also available on The Coal Authority website at 
www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, 
current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at 
www.groundstability.com.

Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant in accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  During the processing of the 
application a number of details were clarified with the applicant to ensure 
that the development is appropriate and can proceed as envisaged.  
Such details were controlled by the imposition of a suitably worded 
planning condition.

Page 7



The applicant is advised that it is necessary to obtain a Licence to 
construct a structure on the public highway.  In this regard, the applicant 
is required to contact the County Council's Highway Liaison Team on 
telephone 0115 9774474 to arrange for these works to be carried out.

64   APPLICATION NO. 2015/1012- JUBILEE DEPOT. JUBILEE ROAD, 
DAYBROOK 

New modular 2 storey building to replace old tyre store, canteen and 
toilet block.

RESOLVED to GRANT CONDITIONAL PLANNING PERMISSION.

Conditions

1. The development must be begun not later than three years 
beginning with the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
complete accordance with the plans and drawings received on 6th 
August 2015 which are attached to and form part of this 
permission unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.

3. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Design and Access 
Statement and the following mitigation measures: The internal 
finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 300mm above the 
adjacent external ground levels.  The mitigation measures shall 
be fully implemented prior to occupation.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with 
the details as approved.

3. To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and 
future occupants.

Reasons for Decision

In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development is 
visually acceptable, results in no significant impact on neighbouring 
properties, and introduces no flood risk concerns.  The proposal 
therefore accords with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy (2014) and ENV1 of 

Page 8



the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies 
Saved 2014).

Notes to Applicant

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may 
contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining 
feature is encountered during development, this should be reported 
immediately to The Coal Authority on 0845 762   6848. Further 
information is also available on The Coal Authority website at 
www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, 
current and future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal 
Authority's Property Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at 
www.groundstability.com.

Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant in accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  During the processing of the 
application there were no problems for which the Local Planning 
Authority had to seek a solution in relation to this application.

It is noted that the applicant intends to select contrasting colours for the 
wall cladding of the proposal at ground and first floor.  Whilst it is not 
considered necessary to impose a planning condition to agree the 
precise colour of the material with the Local Planning Authority, owing to 
the location of the site within the confines of the depot, the applicant is 
informed that the use of more subtle colours would be appropriate.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority and once the Local Planning Authority has 
identified the part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination 
development must be halted on that part of the site.  An assessment 
must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Planning Authority, and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation and verification 
reporting, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

The applicant shall consider all appropriate flood resilient design and 
construction techniques and shall give consideration to the 
recommendations of the Environment Agency and DEFRA Report, 
'Improving the flood performance of New Buildings - Flood Resilient 
Construction' (ISBN 9781859462874).

65   PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL ACTION SHEETS 

RESOLVED:

Page 9



To note the information.

66   FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

RESOLVED: 

To note the information.

67   ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT. 

None.

The meeting finished at 6.07 pm

Signed by Chair:
Date:

Page 10



PLANNING COMMITTEE PROTOCOL

1. This protocol is intended to ensure that planning decisions made at the Planning Committee 
meeting are reached, and are seen to be, in a fair, open and impartial manner, and that only 
relevant planning matters are taken into account.

2. Planning Committee is a quasi-judicial body, empowered by the Borough Council to 
determine planning applications in accordance with its constitution.  In making legally 
binding decisions therefore, it is important that the committee meeting is run in an ordered 
way, with Councillors, officers and members of the public understanding their role within the 
process.

3. In terms of Councillors’ role at the Planning Committee, whilst Councillors have a special 
duty to their ward constituents, including those who did not vote for them, their over-riding 
duty is to the whole borough.  Therefore, whilst it is acceptable to approach Councillors 
before the meeting, no opinion will be given, as this would compromise their ability to 
consider the application at the meeting itself.  The role of Councillors at committee is not to 
represent the views of their constituents, but to consider planning applications in the 
interests of the whole Borough.  When voting on applications, Councillors may therefore 
decide to vote against the views expressed by their constituents.  Members may also 
request that their votes are recorded.

4. Planning Committee meetings are in public and members of the public are welcome to 
attend and observe; however, they are not allowed to address the meeting unless they have 
an interest in a planning application and follow the correct procedure.

5. Speaking at Planning Committee is restricted to applicants for planning permission, 
residents and residents’ associations who have made written comments to the Council 
about the application and these have been received before the committee report is 
published. Professional agents representing either applicants or residents are not allowed to 
speak on their behalf. A maximum of 3 minutes per speaker is allowed, so where more than 
1 person wishes to address the meeting, all parties with a common interest should normally 
agree who should represent them. No additional material or photographs will be allowed to 
be presented to the committee.

6. Other than as detailed above, no person is permitted to address the Planning Committee 
and interruptions to the proceedings will not be tolerated. Should the meeting be interrupted, 
the Chairman will bring the meeting to order. In exceptional circumstances the Chairman 
can suspend the meeting, or clear the chamber and continue behind closed doors, or 
adjourn the meeting to a future date.

7. After Councillors have debated the application, a vote will be taken. If Councillors wish to 
take a decision contrary to Officer recommendation, a motion to do so will be moved, 
seconded and voted upon. Where the decision is to refuse permission contrary to Officer 
recommendation, the motion will include reasons for refusal which are relevant to the 
planning considerations on the application, and which are capable of being supported and 
substantiated should an appeal be lodged. The Chairman may wish to adjourn the meeting 
for a short time for Officers to assist in drafting the reasons for refusal. The Chairman may 
move that the vote be recorded. 

8. Where members of the public wish to leave the chamber before the end of the meeting, they 
should do so in an orderly and respectful manner, refraining from talking until they have 
passed through the chamber doors, as talking within the foyer can disrupt the meeting.

12 January 2011Page 11

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee

Subject: Updated Planning Committee Protocol and Code of Practice

Date: 14th October 2015

Author: Service Manager, Planning

1. Purpose of the Report

To approve the updated Planning Committee protocol, revised Code of Practice 
for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications and the Planning Delegation 
Panel arrangements.

2. Background

The existing Protocol was adopted in January 2011, and it is recognised that it 
needs to be refreshed to reflect changes in the context in which Planning 
Committee determines applications, changes to other relevant codes of conduct 
and emerging examples of good practice.

Members of the Planning Committee will recall that the Local Government 
Association and the Planning Advisory Service published ‘Probity In Planning’ in 
April 2013.  This revised previous 2009 guidance for Councillors and Officers 
involved in the planning process.  The guidance was endorsed by the Borough 
Council’s Standards Committee, then referred to Planning Committee to 
determine what action to take.

A cross party working group of Members has met several times to consider the 
implications of the revised guidance and to review the Council’s  Planning 
Committee Protocol and Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning 
Applications. In addition, the working group raised issues about the current 
arrangements for the Planning Delegation Panel, in particular the make-up of the 
Panel and the ability for substitutes to attend.

3. Proposal

The protocol has been revised to ensure that
 decision making is fair, open and impartial
 only relevant planning matters are taken into account
 it complies with members Code of Conduct, Code of Practice for 

Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications, the predetermination 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.



briefing note and the Council’s Constitution.

The revisions reflect
 guidance on predetermination and predisposition
 lobbying issues
 clarification on members’ and officers’ roles at committee
 clarification on member decisions contrary to officer advice, and the 

process for determining these.

Once adopted, the protocol will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it 
remains up to date and represents good practice.

At the same time, the Code of Practice for Councillors dealing with Planning 
Applications has been updated to reflect the ‘Probity In Planning’ guidance. In 
summary the proposed revised version:

 includes a new section clarifying the general role of officers and members
 includes a new section on development proposals submitted by officers, 

members and the Council.
 provides more detail on the process to be followed when decisions are 

taken contrary to officer recommendation.
 provides more detail on when site visits should be carried out.

The operation of the Planning Delegation Panel (PDP) has been reviewed.  As a 
result of this, it is proposed to amend the Constitution to incorporate the following 
changes:

 A statement of the role of the Planning Delegation Panel, which reflects 
the current officer delegation arrangements;

 Confirmation that all Councillors may attend the meeting and contribute to 
discussions; and

 Where a permanent member of the PDP is unable to attend, they can 
send a substitute member of Planning Committee in their place to take 
part in making recommendations about how planning applications should 
be determined.

Changes to the Code of Practice and arrangements for the Planning Delegation 
Panel will need to be approved by Full Council as they represent changes to the 
Constitution.

4. Resource Implications

None.

5. Recommendations

Page 14



That Planning Committee:

1. Adopts the Protocol for use at committee meetings;

2. Agrees the revised version of the Gedling Borough Council Code of Practice 
for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications and refers it to Council for 
approval and insertion into the Constitution; and 

3. Agrees the revised arrangements for the Planning Delegation Panel and 
refers it to Council for approval and insertion into the Constitution.

6. Appendices

Appendix 1 - updated Planning Committee Protocol

Appendix 2 - revised Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning 
Applications

Appendix 3 – revised arrangements for the Planning Delegation Panel

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE PROTOCOL

Introduction

1. This protocol is intended to ensure that planning decisions made at the Planning 
Committee meeting are reached, and are seen to be reached, in a fair, open and 
impartial manner, and that only relevant planning matters are taken into account.

2. Planning Committee is empowered by the Borough Council, as the democratically 
accountable decision maker, to determine planning applications in accordance with its 
constitution.  In making legally binding decisions therefore, it is important that the 
committee meeting is run in an ordered way, with Councillors, officers and members of 
the public understanding their role within the process.

3. If a Councillor has any doubts about the application of this Protocol to their own 
circumstances they should seek advice from the Council Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before any meeting takes place at 
which they think the issue might arise.

4. This protocol should be read in conjunction with the Council;s Member’s Code of 
Conduct, Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications, 
briefing note on predetermination and the Council’s Constitution.

Disclosable Pecuniary and Non- Pecuniary Interests 

5. The guidance relating to this is covered in the Council’s Member’s Code of Conduct 
and Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications.

6. If a Councillor requires advice about whether they need to declare an interest, they 
should seek advice from the Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer as soon as 
possible and preferably well before any meeting takes place at which they think the 
issue might arise.

Pre-determination and Predisposition 

7. Councillors will often form an initial view (a predisposition) about a planning 
application early on in its passage through the system whether or not they have been 
lobbied. Under Section 25(2) of the Localism Act 2011 a Councillor is not to be taken 
to have had, or to have appeared to have had, a closed mind when making a decision 
just because the decision-maker had previously done anything that directly or 
indirectly indicated what view the decision-maker took, or would or might take in 
relation to a matter, and, the matter was relevant to the decision. 

8. This provision recognises the role of Councillors in matters of local interest and 
debate, but Councillors who are members of the Planning Committee taking part in a 
decision on a planning matter should not make up their minds how to vote prior to 
consideration of the matter by the Planning Committee and therefore should not 

Page 17



comment or make any commitment in advance as to how they intend to vote which 
might indicate that they have a closed mind (predetermination).

9. If a Councillor has made up their mind prior to the meeting, or have made public 
comments which indicate that they might have done, and is not able to reconsider 
their previously held view, then they will not be able to participate on the matter. The 
Councillor should declare that they do not intend to vote because they have (or could 
reasonably be perceived as having) judged the matter elsewhere.  The Councillor will 
be then not be entitled to speak on the matter at the Planning Committee, unless they 
register to do so as part of the public speaking provision.  For advice on pre-
determination and predisposition, Councillors should refer to the Code of Practice for 
Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications in the Council’s Constitution, and 
seek the advice of the Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer.

Lobbying 

10.The guidance relating to this is covered in the Code for dealing with Planning 
Applications.

11. If a Councillor requires advice about being lobbied, they should seek advice from the 
Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before 
any meeting takes place at which they think the issue might arise.

Roles at Planning Committee

12.The role of Councillors at committee is not to represent the views of their constituents, 
but to consider planning applications in the interests of the whole Borough.  When 
voting on applications, Councillors may therefore decide to vote against the views 
expressed by their constituents.  Councillors may also request that their votes are 
recorded.

13.The role of Officers at Planning Committee is to advise the Councillors on professional 
matters, and to assist in the smooth running of the meeting.  There will normally be a 
senior Planning Officer, plus a supporting Planning Officer, a senior Legal Officer and 
a Member Services Officer in attendance, who will provide advice on matters within 
their own professional expertise.

14. If they have questions about a development proposal, Councillors are encouraged to 
contact the case Officer in advance.  The Officer will then provide advice and answer 
any questions about the report and the proposal, which will result in more efficient use 
of the Committees time and more transparent decision making.

Speaking at Planning Committee

15.Planning Committee meetings are in public and members of the public are welcome to 
attend and observe; however, they are not allowed to address the meeting unless they 
have an interest in a planning application and follow the correct procedure.

16.Speaking at Planning Committee is restricted to applicants for planning permission,  
residents and residents’ associations who have made written comments to the Council 

Page 18



about the application and these have been received before the committee report is 
published. Professional agents representing either applicants or residents are not 
allowed to speak on their behalf. Anyone intending to speak at Committee must 
register to do so in writing, providing name and contact details, by 5pm three working 
days before the Committee meeting.  As most Committee meetings are currently held 
on Wednesdays, this is usually 5pm on the Friday before. A maximum of 3 minutes 
per speaker is allowed, unless extended at the Chair of the Committee’s discretion, so 
where more than one person wishes to address the meeting, all parties with a 
common interest should normally agree who should represent them or split the three 
minutes between them. No additional material or photographs will be allowed to be 
presented to the committee, and Councillors are not allowed to ask questions of 
speakers.

17.Other than as detailed above, no person is permitted to address the Planning 
Committee and interruptions to the proceedings will not be tolerated. Should the 
meeting be interrupted, the Chair of the Committee will bring the meeting to order. In 
exceptional circumstances the Chair of the Committee can suspend the meeting, or 
clear the chamber and continue behind closed doors, or adjourn the meeting to a 
future date.

18.Where members of the public wish to leave the chamber before the end of the 
meeting, they should do so in an orderly and respectful manner, refraining from talking 
until they have passed through the chamber doors, as talking within the foyer can 
disrupt the meeting.

Determination of planning applications

19.Councillors will then debate the motion and may ask for clarification from officers.  
However, if there are issues which require factual clarification, normally these should 
be directed to the case Officer before the Committee meeting, not at the meeting itself.  
After Councillors have debated the application, a vote will be taken. 

20.Whilst Officers will provide advice and a recommendation on every application and 
matter considered, it is the responsibility of Councillors, acting in the interests of the 
whole Borough, to decide what weight to attach to the advice given and to the 
considerations of each individual application.  In this way, Councillors may decide to 
apply different weight to certain issues and reach a decision contrary to Officer advice.  
In this instance, if the Officer recommendation has been moved and seconded but 
fails to be supported, or if the recommendation is not moved or seconded, then this 
does not mean that the decision contrary to Officer advice has been approved; this 
needs to be a separate motion to move and must be voted on.  If, in moving such a 
motion Councillors require advice about the details of the motion, the meeting can be 
adjourned for a short time to allow members and Officers to draft the motion, which 
will include reasons for the decision which are relevant to the planning considerations 
on the application, and which are capable of being supported and substantiated 
should an appeal be lodged.  Councillors may move that the vote be recorded and, in 
the event of a refusal of planning permission, record the names of Councillors who 
would be willing to appear if the refusal was the subject of an appeal. 
Oct 2015

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

EXTRACT FROM THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION

12. Gedling Borough Council Code of Practice for Councillors in Dealing 
with Planning Applications
12.1 Introduction

12.1.1 This Code is based upon the Guidance Note issued by the 
Local Government Association on Probity in Planning for 
Councillors and Officers.  It has been prepared by the 
Planning Committee and has been adopted by the Council.  
Failure on the part of any Councillor to comply with this Code 
may comprise conduct which could reasonably be regarded 
as bringing his office or the Council into disrepute and may 
accordingly be a breach of Paragraph 7 of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct.

12.2 The General Role of Councillors and Officers

12.2.1 Councillors and Officers have different but complementary 
roles.  Both serve the public but Councillors are responsible to 
the electorate, whilst Officers are responsible to the Council 
as a whole.  Officers advise Councillors and the Council and 
carry out the Council’s work.  They are employed by the 
Council, not by individual Councillors.  A successful 
relationship between Councillors and Officers will be based 
upon mutual trust, understanding and respect of each other’s 
positions and roles.

12.2.2 Officers who are chartered town planners are subject to the 
Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Code of Professional 
Conduct, breaches of which may be subject to disciplinary 
action by the RTPI. Similarly Officers who are Solicitors are 
subject to the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA) Code of 
Conduct, breaches of which may be subject to disciplinary 
action by the SRA. Councillors must not ask officers to act in 
a way which will put them in breach of their professional rules.

12.3 Conflicts of Interest and Predetermination 

12.3.1 A member of the Planning Committee who is also a member 
of another body, whether within the Council such as the 
Cabinet or a committee, or outside the Council such as a 
parish council or charitable body, should comply with the 
requirements of the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct with 
regard to the declaration of interests and the participation or 
non-participation in the consideration of any planning 
application submitted by that body.

Page 21



12.3.2 A Member of the Planning Committee who has expressed a 
clear intention to vote in a particular way or has otherwise 
predetermined their position on an application before its 
consideration by the Committee must not take part in the 
decision as a Member of the Planning Committee.

12.3.3 If any member of the Planning Committee has expressed a 
view on a planning application to be considered by the 
Planning Committee on any occasion and in any forum in 
advance of consideration of the matter by the Planning 
Committee, but is willing to and intends to listen to all the 
considerations presented to the committee before deciding on 
how to vote, then they should not be regarded as having 
fettered their discretion and they may participate and on that 
application.  

12.4 Development proposals submitted by councillors and officers and 
Council development

12.4.1 Councillors and Officers have a right as members of the 
public to submit planning applications.  Such applications 
must be handled in the following way so as to avoid 
accusations of favouritism:

 Officers and Councillors must not act as agents for 
those pursuing planning matters within the Council even 
if they are not involved in the decision making.

 Where a Councillor is the applicant for planning 
permission or is a relative or close associate of the 
applicant, that Member should play no part in the 
decision-making process for those proposals.  A 
Councillor who is the applicant will have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest in their own application and would 
commit a criminal offence if they participated in its 
consideration.

 Where an Officer is the applicant for planning 
permission or is a relative or close associate of the 
applicant, that Officer should play no part in processing, 
advising on or determining the application.

 The Monitoring Officer should be informed of any 
application submitted by a Councillor or Officer.

 Councillor/Officer applicants must not lobby or bring 
pressure to bear on other Officers or Councillors in 
connection with their application.

 Any planning application submitted by a Councillor or 
Officer (or their partner or spouse or immediate family 
member) should be dealt with by the Planning 
Committee itself and not dealt with by officers under 
delegated powers.

Page 22



 The right of an applicant to address the Planning 
Committee before consideration of the application by the 
Planning Committee should not apply where the 
applicant is a member of the Council.  In that case, the 
Councillor may write to the Committee with such 
representations as they wish to make.

         12.4.2  The decision making process for proposals relating to Council 
owned land or Council development can be open to criticism 
on the basis that the Council may find it difficult to separate its 
roles as developer and planning authority.  It is therefore 
important that the application is treated with the same 
transparency and impartiality as those of private developers. 
Such applications must therefore be handled in the following 
way:

 Any Officer involved in the initiation of the proposals 
must not be involved in the processing and 
determination of the application.

 Any Councillor/Officer involved in the initiation of the 
proposals must not lobby or bring pressure to bear on 
other officers or Councillors in connection with the 
application.

 Any planning application submitted by or on behalf of 
the Council should be dealt with by the Planning 
Committee itself and not dealt with by officers under 
delegated powers.

 Any Councillor involved in the decision to initiate the 
proposals can only participate at Planning Committee if 
they are prepared to make their decision in the light of 
the information and evidence presented there.

12.5 Lobbying of and by Councillor

12.5.1 Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process; however it 
can lead to the impartiality and integrity of Councillors being 
called into question unless care is exercised.  When being 
lobbied by any party on a planning application, members of 
the Planning Committee should avoid expressing any opinion 
which might be taken as indicating that they have already 
made up their mind on the issue. If Councillors do express an 
opinion, they should make it clear that they will only be in a 
position to make a final decision after having heard all the 
relevant arguments and taking into account all relevant 
material and planning consideration at committee.  In order to 
avoid any allegation of predetermination or bias, Councillors 
could restrict themselves to giving procedural advice, 
including advice on how and to whom those lobbying can 
communicate.

Page 23



12.5.2 Councillors can raise issues which have been raised by their 
constituents with officers.  

12.5.3 The consideration of planning applications by the Planning 
Committee should not be subject to whipping arrangements 
on behalf of the political groups and Councillors must not 
decide in group meetings before the Committee how they 
should vote on the matter in Committee.  The use of political 
whips to seek to influence the outcome of a planning 
application is likely to be regarded as maladministration.

12.5.4 A member of the Planning Committee should avoid 
organising support for or against a planning application and 
should avoid lobbying other Councillors on such applications.

12.5.5 Councillors should not put improper pressure on officers for a 
particular recommendation or decision, and should not do 
anything which compromises or is likely to compromise 
officers’ impartiality or professional integrity.  Councillors must 
recognise that Officers who are chartered town planners are 
subject to the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Code of 
Professional Conduct and may be subject to disciplinary 
action if they are in breach of the Code. Similarly Solicitors 
are subject to the Solicitors Regulation Authority Code of 
Conduct.

12.5.6 If any Councillor, whether or not a member of the Planning 
Committee, acts as a speaker on behalf of a lobby group at 
Committee, they must withdraw once they have spoken in 
order to avoid any suggestion that members of the Committee 
may be influenced by their continued presence.

12.6. Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendations

12.6.1 The Planning Committee must only make planning decisions 
in accordance with the development plan (which includes the 
Aligned Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan and 
supplementary planning documents), unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and Article 11 of the 
Articles of the Constitution.

12.6.2 Planning Committee can make a decision which is contrary to 
the officer recommendation. This will usually be as a result in 
the difference in the assessment of how a policy has been 
complied with or a different weight given to material 
considerations.

12.4.2 When making a decision which differs from the Officer 
recommendation, Planning Committee will:

Page 24



 Record the reasons for the decision as part of the 
mover’s motion.

 Adjourn for officers to draft suitable wording to reflect the 
reasons proposed.

 In any case in which Councillors wish to add to or 
amend conditions proposed by Officers, adjourn the 
meeting to give Officers a reasonable opportunity to 
draft suitable conditions reflecting Councillors wishes

 Give officers the opportunity to explain the implications 
of the decision, including an assessment of a likely 
appeal outcome and chance of a successful award of 
costs against the Council, should one be made.

 Formally agree the detailed reasons for the decision 
when the meeting re-convenes.

 Consider adjourning the matter to another meeting 
where there are concerns about the validity of the 
reasons proposed.

12.4.3 If the Planning Committee makes a decision contrary to the 
officers’ recommendation, the Minutes should contain a 
detailed note of the Committee’s reasons for the decision, 
which should be placed on the application file. Councillors 
must be prepared to explain in full their reasons for not 
agreeing with the officer recommendation. The reasons for 
the decision should be clear and convincing.

12.4.4 Where Councillors refuse permission contrary to Officer 
advice, after the Committee meeting, Officers and Councillors 
will meet to discuss how to pursue the matter.  Where it 
appears that the grounds for refusal could be overcome by 
further negotiation with the applicant, Officers will pursue this 
with a view to encouraging a revised application.  However, 
this can involve cost for the applicant and can be time 
consuming.  Therefore, notwithstanding any attempts at 
negotiation by Officers, the applicant may decide to appeal 
the decision.

12.4.5 Where an appeal is received, Officers and Councillors will 
meet to discuss the nature of the appeal, the issues raised 
and how it will be handled.

12.4.6 For appeals determined by Written Representations, after 
discussion with the relevant Councillors, Officers will produce 
the draft written statement, which will reflect and justify the 
reasons for refusal.  This will then be sent to the nominated 
Member(s) to agree or add to the statement.  Officers will 
provide technical and professional guidance on whether it is 
appropriate to include or exclude certain information.  The 
statement will then be submitted and the appeal determined.

12.4.7 For appeals determined at Informal Hearings, the statement 
will be produced as above.  Pre-hearing meetings will then be 
held between Planning and Legal Officers and the nominated 
Member(s) to discuss what the planning issues are, and how 

Page 25



the nominated Member(s) will present their reasons for the 
decision and defend the appeal at the hearing. 

12.4.8 An informal hearing is a round table debate in the form of a 
discussion led by the Inspector. Cross-examination is not 
usually permitted unless the Inspector considers that it is 
required to ensure a thorough examination of the main issues. 
In such cases the Inspector will consider whether the informal 
hearing should be closed and a full public inquiry be held 
instead.

12.4.9 Solicitors or other professional advisers (such as highways or 
landscape officers) do not usually attend informal hearings on 
behalf of the Council as there is no role for them at the round 
table discussion. However, it is recognised that in exceptional 
circumstances there may be grounds for   an advocate to 
attend the informal hearing. In such cases the Council 
Solicitor and Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chair 
of the Planning Committee will determine what attendance, if 
any, is appropriate.

12.4.10 Planning Officers will attend the informal hearing to act in a 
facilitator role, clarifying any questions regarding process or 
factual matters, for example regarding points of planning 
policy, site history or technical issues, and to provide 
professional advice for Councillors.

12.4.11 At the hearing itself,  if an application for award of costs is 
made by the appellant, Planning Officers will support the 
nominated Member(s) in responding to these, and may 
respond on issues of procedure and decision-making.  In this 
situation Officers will work with Councillors to emphasise the 
importance of local decision making and to explain the 
process which was applied when applying weight to the 
material considerations of the case.

12.4.12 For appeals determined at Public Inquiries, the same process 
as above will apply.  However, as these involve more 
significant issues, and may require professional legal 
representation, there are likely to be more meetings before 
statements are exchanged and before the inquiry itself.  It will 
be important therefore that both Officers and the nominated 
Councillors attend all of these.

12.4.13 Officers and professional legal representatives will act as 
advocates (or expert witnesses) and will also work with 
Councillors to prepare them to be cross examined during the 
Inquiry.  This will include investigating potential lines of 
inquiry.

12.5 Site Visits

12.7.1 Site visits will only be arranged for the Planning Committee 
with the agreement of the Chair of the Committee where the 
benefit is clear and substantial. A site visit is only likely to be 
necessary if: 

Page 26



12.7.1.1 the impact of the proposed development is difficult 
to visualise from the plans and any supporting 
material, including photographs taken by Officers; 
or

12.5.1.2  there is a good reason why the comments of the 
applicant and objectors cannot be expressed 
adequately in writing 

12.5.1.3  the proposed development is particularly 
contentious or significant in relation to the locality.

12.5.2 Where a site visit is arranged for the Planning Committee:

 the purpose, format and conduct should be clear at the 
outset and adhered to by all throughout the visit

 a record of the reasons why a site visit is called shall be 
kept

 the Committee will be accompanied by Officers
 the visit must not be used as a lobbying opportunity by 

the applicant, objectors or supporters.  This will be made 
clear to parties present

 the visit itself will consist of an inspection of the site by 
the Committee to gain a better understanding of the 
issues and will be run on the strict lines of a planning 
inspector’s site visit.

 the merits or otherwise of the application will not be 
discussed.

12.5.3 Where a site visit is not arranged for the Planning Committee 
a member of the Committee may be tempted to visit the 
application site alone.  Members do not have the right to enter 
private property and can only view the site from public 
vantage points. Even if invited by the owner to do so, 
Members of the Planning Committee should not enter the site 
on their own, as this could lead to a perception of bias or pre-
determination.  

12.6 Member Training

12.8.1  All Councillors of the Council will receive training with regard 
to the planning system.  Only Councillors who are willing to 
accept within a reasonable time such training will be permitted 
to serve on the Planning Committee.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



13. Planning Delegation Panel

Role of the Planning Delegation Panel

The Planning Delegation Panel will be consulted by the Corporate Director 
responsible for the planning service in respect of all planning applications 
which do not fall to be decided by him under his other delegations and to 
decide which of these applications he will determine and which he will refer to 
the Planning Committee for determination.

13.1 The Planning Delegation Panel will consist of a permanent membership of six 
Councillors drawn from and agreed by the Planning Committee.  In the event 
that a permanent member of the panel is unable to attend, another member of 
the Planning Committee may act as substitute.

13.2 The quorum for the Planning Delegation Panel shall be three.

13.3 Meetings of the Panel will be held each Friday and the agenda for the meeting 
will be issued in advance.

13.4 Where an application is added to the agenda after it has been circulated, the 
panel members and relevant ward members will be notified.

13.5 All Councillors may attend the meetings and contribute to discussions.

13.6 Notes of each meeting of the panel will be included as information items on 
the next available Planning Committee agenda.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 2014/0242

Location:
Land Adjacent 4 Northcliffe Avenue, Mapperley, 
Nottinghamshire.

NOTE: 
 This map is provided only for purposes of site location and should not be read as an up to date representation of the area around the site.
Reproduced with the permission of the Controller of H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright No. LA 100021248
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution of civil proceedings

Page 31

Agenda Item 5.



Report to Planning Committee

Application Number: 2014/0242

Location: Land Adjacent 4 Northcliffe Avenue, Mapperley, 
Nottinghamshire.

Proposal: Construct 4 New Detached Dwellings

Applicant: Mr L Corronato

Agent: Mr Dino Labbate

Case Officer: Alison Jackson

Site Description

The application site relates to a corner plot located on the north side of Northcliffe 
Avenue, within the established urban area of Mapperley. The application site is 
currently used for growing various crops and vines. There is a narrow access point 
from Northcliffe Avenue with a brick wall and metal barrier located along the 
boundary with the highway. The site is relatively level in nature. 

Relevant Planning History

Planning permission was refused in August 2015, reference 2013/0646, for the 
erection of four detached dwellings on the site. Permission was refused for the 
following reasons:

1. In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development would result 
in an overintensive development, out of keeping with the character and appearance 
of the site and wider locality contrary to the aims of paragraphs 56 and 57 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and 
Policies H7 and H16 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Plan (Certain Saved 
Policies) 2008.

2. In the opinion of the Borough Council, the proposed development would have 
a material impact on highway safety at the site by virtue of the substandard vehicle 
access and parking amenity proposed to serve the development, contrary to the 
aims of the 6 C's design guide and the adopted Parking Provision for Residential 
Development SPD.

3. In the opinion the Borough Council the proposed development would result in 
a material overbearing and overlooking impact on the existing neighbouring 
properties by virtue of the proximity of built form to neighbouring residential amenity 

Page 32



and the position and number of rear facing windows at first floor level associated to 
dwelling labelled unit 2. The proposal therefore fails to accord with one of the core 
principles of the NPPF as set out in paragraph 17 bullet point 4.

Proposed Development

Planning permission is now sought for the erection of four detached dwellings on the 
site together with the erection of a single garage.

The proposed dwelling labelled as unit 1 would be a five bedroom dwelling. The 
dwelling would be L-shaped in design incorporating a double integral garage. The 
dwelling would have maximum dimensions of 18.1 metres by 14.6 metres with an 
overall height of 9.29 metres. The dwelling is proposed to have a side and rear 
garden area.

The proposed dwelling labelled as unit 2 would be a four bedroom property with a 
single integral garage. The dwelling would have maximum dimensions of 13.7 
metres by 11 metres and would have an overall height of 8.6 metres. The proposed 
dwelling would have a driveway to the front of the garage. A rear garden area is 
proposed to serve the dwelling. The rear garden area would have a maximum depth 
of 10.15 metres.

The proposed dwelling labelled as unit 3 would be a four bedroom property with a 
single integral garage. The dwelling would have maximum dimensions of 11.1 
metres by 10.6 metres and would have an overall height of 9.41 metres. The 
proposed dwelling would have a driveway to the front of the garage. A rear garden 
area is proposed to serve the dwelling. The rear garden area would have a 
maximum depth of 10.1 metres.

The proposed dwelling labelled as unit 4 would be a four bedroom property. The 
dwelling would have maximum dimensions of 12.7 metres by 8.4 metres and would 
have an overall height of 9.41 metres. The proposed dwelling would have a driveway 
to the front of the site and a separate single garage. A rear garden area is proposed 
to serve the dwelling. The rear garden area would have a maximum depth of 11.05 
metres.

The proposed single garage serving unit 4 would measure 3.5 metres by 6 metres 
and would have an overall height of 4.75 metres.

Consultations

Neighbouring properties have been notified of the application by letter. The 
application has also been advertised on site - There have been 2 written 
representations received as result, the contents of which are summarised below:

 No objections to the development providing it is sympathetic to the area.
 Overintensive development.
 Out of character.
 Too big and overbearing impact.
 Dominant impact.

Page 33



 Too close to neighbouring properties.
 Highway and pedestrian safety issues.
 Impact on the highway tree.
 Lack of off road car parking.
 Concerns over access arrangements for emergency vehicles.
 Concerns over the location of the refuse store.
 The details on the application forms are incorrect.
 Loss of privacy.
 Only bungalows should be built.
 The garden area too small resulting in a noise impact on neighbours.
 Concerns over exhaust omissions.

Nottinghamshire County Council Highway Authority - initially advised that they would 
be unable to support the proposed development of the site as the tree to the frontage 
of the site, which is located within the pavement, restricts the width of the proposed 
access into the site and restricts visibility to the proposed access.

However, following the advice of the County Council’s Forestry Officer in respect to 
the highway tree, who considers that the tree is in a poor state of health and should 
therefore be removed, there are no objections to the proposed development of the 
site in respect to highway safety issues however a number of standard conditions 
are suggested by the Highway Authority.

Forestry Officer – initially advised that a full tree survey should be submitted in order 
to take account of how the highway tree to the frontage of the site will be affected 
and how underground utilities to the site will be achieved.

However, following an inspection of the highway tree on site it was established that 
the highway tree to the frontage of the site is in a poor state of health and should be 
removed. A replacement tree should be provided in the near vicinity.

Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust – no objections but nesting birds should be protected 
and therefore works to develop the site should be undertaken outside of the bird 
breeding season. In addition, existing hedgerows should be retained and enhanced 
where appropriate.

Severn Trent Water – no objections.

Planning Considerations

The main considerations in the determination of this planning application are whether 
the proposal is an acceptable form of development on the site, the impact on 
neighbouring properties and the area in general and whether there are any highway 
safety implications arising from the proposal.

The relevant national policy guidance in respect of these matters is set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012). At the heart of the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The core principles set out in the 
guidance states at paragraph 17: - 

Page 34



Planning should: ‘proactively drive and support sustainable economic development 
to deliver homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local 
places that the country needs’.

In particular the following chapters are relevant in considering this application:

6. Delivering a wide choice of quality homes (paragraphs 47 – 55)
7. Requiring Good Design (paragraphs 56 – 68)

When delivering sustainable development paragraph 19 states: 

‘The Government is committed to ensuring that the planning system does everything 
it can to support sustainable economic growth. Therefore significant weight should 
be placed on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.’ 

Section 7 of the NPPF states inter-alia; that good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development and that it should contribute positively to making places 
better for people. Developments should function well and add to the overall quality of 
the area, respond to local character and history, reflecting the identity of local 
surroundings and materials and be visually attractive as a result of good architecture 
and appropriate landscaping. 

Gedling Borough adopted the Gedling Borough Aligned Core Strategy (GBACS) on 
10th September 2014 and this now forms part of the Development Plan along with 
certain policies saved contained within the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan 
referred to in Appendix E of the GBACS. 

 Policy 10 - Design and Enhancing Local Identity. 

Appendix E of the ACS refers to the Saved Policies from the Adopted Local Plan. 
The following policies contained within the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan 
(Certain Policies Saved) 2014 are relevant: - 

 Policy ENV1 – Development Criteria.
 Policy H7 – Residential Development on Unidentified Sites within the Urban 

Area and Defined Village Envelopes.
 H16 – Design of Residential Development.

As the site is situated within the urban area there are no objections in principle to its 
redevelopment for residential purposes.

I note that planning permission was previously refused under application reference 
2013/0646 for the development of the site for four dwellings for the reasons as set 
out above.

In my opinion, as the dwelling labelled as unit 1 has been reduced in size and the 
dwellings have been repositioned on the site to allow for more amenity space to 
serve the dwellings, together with more open space within the site, I am satisfied that 
the proposed development of the site overcomes the previous refusal reasons in 
terms of the intensity of the development and its impact on the character of the area.

Page 35



 
In this respect, it is my opinion the site is large enough to accommodate the 
proposed dwellings without resulting in an over-intensive use of the site, the 
dwellings are visually acceptable within the streetscene and would not be out of 
character with the surrounding area.

In respect to the impact of the proposed dwellings on neighbouring properties, I am 
satisfied that the relationship of the proposed dwellings with existing neighbouring 
properties, given that the dwellings have been repositioned on the site together with 
their design, there would be no undue overbearing or overshadowing impact onto 
neighbouring properties.

I am also satisfied that the relationship of the proposed dwellings is satisfactory with 
the dwellings resulting in no undue overbearing or overshadowing impact onto each 
other.

In my opinion the proposed single garage given its scale and siting would be visually 
acceptable and would result in no undue impact on neighbouring properties or the 
proposed dwellings in terms of any overbearing or overshadowing impact.

In respect to the potential overlooking impact from the proposed dwellings onto 
neighbouring properties I am satisfied given the relationship of the dwellings to 
neighbouring properties and the positioning of the windows to the dwellings there 
would be no undue overlooking impact from the majority of the windows onto 
neighbouring properties.

In respect to the impact of the proposed development on the flats which share the 
north west boundary of the application site I am satisfied, given that flats 46 to 60 are 
located at an angle to the application site and are set between 4 metres and 11 
metres to the boundary of the site and flats 78 to 84 are also set at an angle and 
located between 3.5 metres and 11 metres to the boundary of the application site 
there would be no significant overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking impact on 
these existing flats from the proposed development.

I am also mindful that with the attachment of a condition regarding the submission of 
details relating to the means of enclosure of the site and the individual plot 
boundaries, privacy to neighbouring properties together with privacy between the 
proposed dwellings would be protected.

However, I do note that two windows are proposed to be inserted in the first floor 
front elevation of the dwelling labelled as unit 1 which would serve en-suite rooms, 
given that these windows are in close proximity to the existing dwelling at no. 8, 
Northcliffe Avenue I would suggest that these windows are conditioned to be 
obscure glazed at all times.

I also note that two first floor side elevation windows are proposed to be inserted to 
the side elevation to the dwelling labelled as plot 4. However these windows, whilst 
adjacent to the existing dwelling no. 2b, Northcliffe Avenue, would just look over the 
roof of this neighbouring dwelling and would not unduly affect the privacy of this 
neighbouring dwelling.

Page 36



In respect to the proposed positioning of the refuse store on the site, I am satisfied 
that with the attachment of conditions relating to the submission of details of the 
boundary treatment around the bin store, this would be visually acceptable.

Should problems occur in terms of smells emanating from the bin store these can be 
controlled under separate legislation to planning.

In respect to the impact of the proposed development on the highway tree, following 
the Forestry Officer’s inspection of the tree which confirmed that the tree is in a poor 
state of health and needs to be removed, there are no objections to the proposed 
development of the site given that the highway tree is proposed to be felled.

I note that the Highway Authority has, following the receipt of information that the 
highway tree is proposed to be removed, raised no objections to the proposal and I 
am therefore satisfied that there are no highway safety implications arising from the 
proposal.

I am satisfied that the submitted details together with inspection of the site the 
application can be adequately assessed.

I note the comments of the Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust and consider that should 
planning permission be granted a note is attached to the permission drawing the 
applicant’s attention to the comments received.

In respect to the possible retention of hedging at the site as recommended by the 
Wildlife Trust I would advise that should permission be granted a condition as stated 
above would be attached requiring the submission of details relating to the means of 
enclosure of the site and therefore consideration would be given at this stage as to 
whether or not any of the hedgerows could be retained as an existing means of 
enclosure of the site.

Accordingly, I recommend that planning permission be granted. 

Recommendation:

To GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION, subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 
date of this permission.

2. The development shall be built in accordance with the details as set out within 
the application forms received on the 27th February 2014 and the plans 
received on the 27th February 2014.

3. Before development is commenced there shall be submitted to and approved 

Page 37



by the Borough Council precise details and samples of all materials to be 
used in the external construction of the proposed dwellings and the garage. 
Once these details are approved the dwellings and garage shall be built in 
accordance with these details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Borough Council as Local Planning Authority.

4. Before development is commenced there shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Borough Council precise details of the means of enclosure of the site 
and the individual plot boundaries. Once these details are approved the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The 
proposed means of enclosure shall be erected before the dwellings are first 
occupied, and shall thereafter be retained unless alternative means of 
enclosure are agreed in writing by the Borough Council as Local Planning 
Authority.

5. Before development is commenced there shall be submitted and approved by 
the Borough Council precise details relating to the landscaping of the site. 
This shall include the position, type and planting size of all trees and shrubs 
proposed to be planted. The approved landscape scheme shall be carried out 
in the first planting season following the substantial completion of the 
development and any planting material which becomes diseased or dies 
within five years of the completion of the development shall be replaced in the 
next planting season by the applicants or their successors in title.

6. Before development is commenced there shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Borough Council precise details of the means of surfacing of the unbuilt 
on portions of the site. Once these details are approved the development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and be completed in 
accordance with the approved details before the dwelling is first occupied.

7. No works permitted under Class A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 Schedule 2 of the 
Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) shall be undertaken without the prior 
written permission of the Borough Council as local planning authority.

8. The shared private driveway shall be laid out to a width of not less than 5.25 
metres for at least 5.0 metres back from the nearside edge of carriageway 
and 4.8 metres thereafter and shall provide for vehicle parking and turning 
areas in accordance with details first submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Borough Council as Local Planning Authority. The vehicle parking and 
turning areas shall not be used for any purpose other than the turning and 
parking of vehicles.

9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 
the dropped vehicular footway crossing has been widened and is available for 
use and constructed in accordance with the Highway Authority specification to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until all 

Page 38



drives and any parking or turning areas are surfaced in a hard bound material 
(not loose gravel) for a minimum of 5.5 metres behind the Highway boundary. 
The surfaced drives and any parking or turning areas shall then be maintained 
in such hard bound material for the life of the development and the parking 
areas retained thereafter.

11. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 
the access driveway / parking / turning areas are constructed with provision to 
prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water from the 
driveway/parking/turning areas to the public highway in accordance with 
details first submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council as 
Local Planning Authority. The provision to prevent the unregulated discharge 
of surface water to the public highway shall then be retained for the life of the 
development.

12. The gates to the refuse store shall open inwards only, and not onto the private 
driveway.

13. The first floor side elevation windows serving the stairwells to the end two 
dwellings shall be obscure glazed and either fixed shut or have small top hung 
opening windows at all times.

14. Before development is commenced there shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Borough Council precise details of the enclosure of the refuse 
storage area, this shall include details of the materials to be used in the 
construction of the refuse storage area. Once these details are approved the 
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Borough Council as Local Planning 
Authority.

15. The first floor front elevation windows serving the en-suites to Plot 1 shall be 
obscure glazed at all times.

16. No part of the development shall be bought into use until the tree located 
within the highway to the front of the site has been felled and removed in its 
entirety.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

2. For the avoidance of doubt.

3. To ensure that the materials to be used in the construction of the dwelling are 
appropriate, in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the Borough 
Council Replacement Local Plan. (Certain Saved Policies 2014).

4. To ensure that the means of enclosure of the site are appropriate in terms of 
appearance and protect the privacy of the proposed and neighbouring 

Page 39



dwellings, in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan. (Certain Saved Policies 2014).

5. To ensure that the site appears visually acceptable, in accordance with the 
aims of Policy ENV1 of the Borough Council Replacement Local Plan. 
(Certain Saved Policies 2014).

6. To ensure that the materials are visually acceptable, in accordance with the 
aims of Policy ENV1 of the Borough Council Replacement Local Plan. 
(Certain Saved Policies 2014).

7. To protect the amenity of adjoining and nearby dwellings, in accordance with 
the aims of policy ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local plan 
(Certain Saved Policies 2014).

8. In the interests of highway safety.

9. In the interests of highway safety.

10. To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited on the public 
highway (loose stones etc.)

11. To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the public highway 
causing dangers to road users.

12. To ensure that the driveway width is not reduced, and allows 2 cars to pass 
side by side.

13. To ensure that the proposal results in no undue overlooking impact onto 
neighbouring properties, in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the 
Borough Council Replacement Local Plan. (Certain Saved Policies 2014).

14. To ensure that the means of enclosure of the storage area appropriate in 
terms of appearance and protect the privacy of the proposed and 
neighbouring dwellings, in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the 
Borough Council Replacement Local Plan. (Certain Saved Policies 2014).

15. To ensure that the proposal results in no undue overlooking impact onto 
neighbouring properties, in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the 
Borough Council Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014).

16. In the interests of highway safety.

Reasons for Decision

The proposed development of the site would result in no undue impact on undue 
impact on neighbouring properties, the area in general and there are no highway 
safety implications arising from the proposal. As the highway tree is proposed to be 
felled the proposal will result in no undue impact on any trees. The proposal 
therefore accords with policies ENV1, H7 and H16 of the Gedling Borough Council 

Page 40



Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014), the National Planning Policy 
Framework March 2012 and the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough.

Notes to Applicant

You are advised to contact the Arboricultural Team at Nottinghamshire County 
Council on 0300 500 80 80 to arrange for a replacement tree at be planted along 
Northcliffe Avenue.

The proposal makes it necessary to widen the vehicular crossing over a footway of 
the public highway. These works shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the 
Highway Authority. You are, therefore, required to contact the County Council's 
Customer Services to arrange for these works on telephone 0300 500 80 80.

The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with the applicant in 
accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
Negotiations have taken place during the consideration of the application to address 
adverse impacts identified by officers. Amendments have been made to the 
proposal, addressing the identified adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more 
acceptable scheme and a favourable recommendation.

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 
during development, this should be reported immediately to The Coal Authority on 
0845 762   6848. Further information is also available on The Coal Authority website 
at www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, current and 
future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal Authority's Property 
Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com.

Your attention is drawn to the attached letter from the Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust.

The attached permission is for development which will involve building up to, or close 
to, the boundary of the site.  Your attention is drawn to the fact that if you should 
need access to neighbouring land in another ownership in order to facilitate the 
construction of the building and its future maintenance you are advised to obtain 
permission from the owner of the land for such access before beginning your 
development.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 2014/1168

Location:
Newstead And Annesley Country Park, Tilford Road, 
Newstead, Nottinghamshire.

NOTE: 
 This map is provided only for purposes of site location and should not be read as an up to date representation of the area around the site.
Reproduced with the permission of the Controller of H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright No. LA 100021248
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution of civil proceedings

Page 43

Agenda Item 6.



Report to Planning Committee

Application Number: 2014/1168

Location: Newstead And Annesley Country Park, Tilford Road, 
Newstead, Nottinghamshire.

Proposal: Wind turbine with a maximum tip height of 100m, associated 
infrastructure to include control building and crane 
hardstanding.

Applicant: Mr Rob Crowder

Agent: Mrs Sandra Painter

Case Officer: David Gray

1.0 The Proposed Development

1.1 Full Planning Permission is sought for the erection of a single wind turbine 
and associated infrastructure on land currently designated as Green Belt.

1.2 The proposed wind turbine would have the following specifications: - 
 Maximum tip height of 100m;
 Blade diameter of 77m;
 Hub Height: 61.5m;
 Number of blades: 3; and 
 Output rating: 1.5 MW. 

1.3 Whilst the above wind turbine is the proposed model used for this assessment 
the final turbine choice would be dependent on a number of factors but would 
not exceed the tip height of the above model. 

1.4 The proposed turbine would be sited on a solid foundation dependant on site 
geology, turbine location, and the turbine manufacturer’s ground stiffness 
foundation criteria. Given the previous coal mining history of the site, 
preliminary site survey work would be undertaken prior to the construction to 
establish which foundation would be appropriate for the site. The foundation 
would take the form of reinforced circular or square concrete foundation which 
would include a circular steel support plinth to accommodate the base profile 
of the tower section. The turbine foundations would typically measure 12m x 
12m. 

1.5 An area of hardstanding would be required in order to provide a solid base on 
which to lay down the turbine components ready for assembly and erection 
and to site the crane necessary to lift the tower sections, the nacelle and the 

Page 44



rotor components into place. The total area of hardstanding, adjacent to the 
proposed location of the turbine, would be approximately 1000sqm (25m x 
40m). The hardstanding would be constructed in layers of crushed stone or 
recycled aggregate. The hardstanding would be left in place for the life of the 
turbine and decommissioned when no longer in operation.   

1.6 The site would be accessed by an existing access track within the ownership 
of Rural Community Action Nottinghamshire (RCAN). The track forms part of 
Newstead and Annesley Country Park which is also in the ownership of 
RCAN.

1.7 Western Power Distribution (WPD), the local Distribution Network Operator, 
can provide a connection in the Country Park from a buried cable behind the 
compound of Northfield Construction. 

1.8 The proposal incorporates a Transformer Cabin that would have footprint 
dimensions of 10.5 metres x 4.5 metres and a height of 3 metres. 

1.9 The development has been designed to have an operational life of 25 years. 
At the end of this period the wind turbine would be decommissioned, or a new 
application submitted. The transformer and switchgear and associated cabin 
will be removed and the area reinstated. 

1.10 The agent has submitted a Planning Statement, Design and Access 
Statement, and Environmental Report with the application. The chapters 
covered in the supporting documentation cover the following: - 

 Project Description; 
 Policy and Process;
 Landscape and Visual Assessment;
 Ecology;
 Geology and Hydrology;
 Traffic and Transport;
 Noise Assessment; 
 Shadow Flicker;
 Aviation and EMI;
 Heritage Assessment;
 Tourism and Recreation. 

1.11 These conclude that it is considered that the proposal provides attributable, 
very special circumstances which clearly outweigh any potential perceived 
harm to the Green Belt thus justifying an exception to Green Belt policy in this 
instance. 

These considerations include: -

 The latest International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) scientific 
report;

 The consideration of the relevant European, National and Local 
policies;

Page 45



 The pivotal economic function of the proposal for the survival and long 
term running of the Country Park;

 The local and wider benefits the development of this proposal would 
bring;

 The design, environmental and site location considerations; 

1.12 The Planning Statement advises that the proposal is initiated out of 
Government Policy to develop the generation of renewable energies within a 
location owned by Rural Communities Action Nottinghamshire (RCAN) who 
are working to develop a sustainable country park for the local and wider 
community to enjoy. The proposal would also act to promote and deliver on 
local, national and European commitments for renewable energy targets and 
a reduction in reliance on fossil fuels.

1.13 The Planning Statement also advises that the long-term sustainability of the 
park is an important part to its survival. This consideration applies to its 
function as a resource as much as it does of funding. The wind turbine would 
enable both of these drivers to be satisfied. Clean electricity and a consistent 
income stream would be generated over the 25 year operational life of the 
proposal. In addition, a community fund would run over the same period.   

1.14 The proposal is on the western edge of the Green Belt designation within land 
owned and controlled by RCAN. The purpose of the park is to regenerate an 
area of land previously mined, for the benefit of access and enjoyment by the 
local and wider community.

1.15 Rural Community Action Nottinghamshire (RCAN) is one of 38 independent 
voluntary organisations across the country. RCAN exists to promote social 
economic wellbeing of rural communities. Through partnership working RCAN 
aim to improve the quality of life of people living and working in rural areas 
and their vision is for ‘Thriving, sustainable and cohesive rural communities in 
Nottinghamshire.’

1.16 RCAN is developing a community owned and managed Country Park 
connecting the two former mining villages of Newstead and Annesley, and on 
land which once was the former pit tips of the two mines until there closure in 
the late 1990s. The area has long been disadvantaged by the impact of the 
closure of the mines – unemployment, poverty and a range of social issues 
have stigmatised the area, which also feels cut off from the surrounding area 
geographically due to the road network. The site was purchased with the 
specific aim of creating a Country Park for the benefit of the local community 
and for use by local community groups to also benefit from the facilities on 
offer.  

1.17 During the processing of the application a detailed business plan and financial 
plan was submitted illustrating the various income streams that RCAN have 
been exploring to finance the continued operation of the organisation and of 
Newstead and Annesley Country Park. Solar Power was considered as an 
alternative to raising funds for the upkeep of the park but the assessment 
identified that 3.5ha of land would be required to generate 1.5 MW and the 

Page 46



financial returns for solar investment is significantly lower. The wind turbine 
was therefore considered the most sustainable revenue source to maintain 
the continued development of the Country Park. 

1.18 In summary the additional information submitted by the application outlines 
that the installation of the wind turbine would have a significant positive 
financial impact for the project and for RCAN: - 

 Successive Governments have encouraged the voluntary sector to 
reduce their reliance on grant aid and to look at ways of generating 
their own income. The Newstead and Annesley Country Park is owned 
by RCAN and managed to maximise the Environmental Social and 
Economic benefit to the area. 

 RCAN will receive a revenue income from the wind turbine erected 
within the Country Park. 

 The Board of RCAN is committed to develop the facilities of the 
Country Park including the opening of the visitor centre. RCAN would 
continue the development of the site management plan previously 
submitted to the council, improving paths, signage, and general access 
along with wildlife enhancements. 

 The £7,500 community fund would be spent locally allowing further 
improvements to the site and the community.

 The installation of the wind turbine would enable water and electricity 
services to be installed at the Visitors Centre, finally allowing it to open 
for the general public. 

 Electricity from the wind turbine would be supplied directly to the 
Visitors Centre, reducing the long term running costs and improving the 
eco credentials of the building. 

 RCAN, as a charity, is presently investing approximately £35k per 
annum on the Country Park. This includes: one and a half days a week 
of dedicated staff time supporting the wardens and the general running 
of the site, development of the ‘Friend of’ group, plus arrangement of 
the two Eon volunteer days. In addition there is a direct input to the 
Visitors Centre build and general oversight by the Chief Executive, 
CAST management of the fishing lake and support to the community 
payback team working on site. The £30k per year land rental would go 
towards subsidising these expenses.

 A consistent income stream would allow the future of the park to be 
secured and to remain open for the public benefit.   

2.0 Site Description

2.1 The application site is in a rural location which consists of rough grazing land 
adjacent to an existing access track within Newstead and Annesley Country 
Park to the east of Newstead Village. The previous use of the site was a 
colliery which is now owned and controlled by Rural Community Action 
Nottinghamshire, and is in use as Newstead and Annesley Country Park. 

2.2 The application site is within the designated Green Belt of Nottinghamshire 
and is sited on a Country Park that was a previous spoil heap serving 

Page 47



Annesley Colliery, which was decommissioned in 2000. 

2.3 There are no regional or local nature conservation designations that cover the 
application site. However, approximately 370 metres to the east of the 
application site there is a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation adjacent 
to a fishing pond. 

2.4 The application site is approximately 630 metres to the east of Newstead 
Village, 750 metres to the east of a new housing development sited on 
Annesley Cuttings within Ashfield District Council. The village of Ravenshead 
is approximately 3.2 km to the east of the application site, the village of Linby 
is approximately 2.5 km to the south, Kirkby in Ashfield is approximately 2.2 
km to the north, and the village of Papplewick is approximately 3.5 km to the 
southeast.

2.5 The closest neighbouring residential properties to the application site are:- 

 Foundry Terrace, approximately 608 metres to the southwest;
 North Lodge, approximately 627 metres to the south;
 Abbey Fields Farm, approximately 750 metres to the southeast;
 The Bungalow, approximately 900 metres to the east;
 Poets Corner, approximately 1,127 metres to the east;
 Monk Barn, approximately 1,188 metres to the north east;
 Nott’s Golf Club, approximately 1000 metres to the north.

2.6 Three Registered Parks and Gardens are identified within 5km of the 
application site. These include Newstead Abbey, Annesley Hall and 
Papplewick Hall. The boundary of Newstead Abbey Park and Gardens 
extends to within 580 metres of the proposed wind turbine location. 

2.7 There are 112 Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas identified within 5 km 
of the proposed wind turbine. Many of the Listed Buildings are contained 
within the Conservation Areas of Kirkby Cross, Linby and Papplewick and 
Newstead Abbey Park and Gardens. Four of the Listed Buildings are Grade 1 
which includes: 

 Newstead Abbey and adjoining boundary wall 1.65 km;
 Ruins of Church of All Saints 2.5 km;
 Papplewick Hall 2.89 km;
 Church of St James 2.8 km

A number of additional buildings (Local Interest Enhancement Buildings) are 
identified within 1 km of the proposal, which includes areas of the Newstead 
Colliery Village Hazelford farmhouse, Railway Overbridge and Abbeyfields 
Farmhouse. These are not listed but add to the surrounding heritage. 

2.8 The closest Conservation Areas are: - 

 Felley Conservation Area, approximately 1.1km metres to the west;
 Linby Conservation Area, approximately 2.5 km to the south;

Page 48



 Papplewick Conservation Area, approximately 3 km to the southeast.

3.0 Application Publicity and Procedures

3.1 The application has been advertised as a departure from the Local Plan. 2 x 
Site Notices advertising the application as a departure were posted. 4 x Site 
Notices have also been displayed to indicate that the proposed development 
could have an adverse impact on the setting of listed buildings and 
Conservation Areas in the vicinity of the site. The required Press Notices have 
been advertised within the Nottingham Evening Post. Site Notices were 
posted in Newstead Village and at Annesley Cuttings, Annesley Conservation 
Area, Papplewick Conservation Area, and Linby Conservation Area. 

3.2 577 Properties were notified of the application by the Borough Council 
focussing on the Village of Newstead, Annesley and Newstead Abbey. The 
consultation area was extended following a request from Ashfield District 
Council to include the new housing development located at Annesley 
Cuttings. 

As a result of this consultation 121 letters were returned no such address and 
13 letters were returned address inaccessible. 

3.3 Neighbour Consultation and General Publicity Responses

26 letters of representation have been received objecting to the proposal and 
11 letters have been submitted in support of the application.  

A further 97 individual letters have been received in support of the application 
as a result of a petition conducted in Newstead and Annesley. 

The following issues raised in the letters of representation can be outlined as 
follows under the following headings: 

Renewable Energy 

 Without Government subsidy the project would be unviable 
economically.

Green Belt 

 The proposed development would be contrary to ENV5 of the Gedling 
Borough Replacement Local Plan as it would adversely affect the 
openness of the Green Belt;

 The application would be contrary to para’s 79 – 90 of the NPPF;
 The planning application impact on the historical environment and the 

local Green Belt which would prove harmful and contrary to Policy 
ENV26.

Local Landscape/Country Park

Page 49



 The wind turbine would be unsightly and would detract users of the 
Country Park;

 The wind turbine would be too large and would detract from the 
landscape character of the area contrary to NPPF para 9; 

 The proposed turbine would be visible from a significant distance, seen 
clearly as you leave Annesley on the A611 and B6020, and across the 
rural areas to Papplewick and Ravenshead, and from the Conservation 
Area of Annesley;

 The wind turbine would be sited 50m from the visitors centre and would 
detract people from using it because of the noise; 

 As the project would be of no benefit to local residents the local 
landscape should not be ruined;

 The proposal would be an eyesore that would dominate the skyline;
 The proposed development including the crane hardstanding and 

control building would be too imposing;
 Contrary to paragraph 28 of the NPPF the placement of the wind 

turbine near to the visitor centre and angling areas will not improve but 
deter visitors to the eco-park and its continued existence should be 
brought into question;

 The proposed wind turbine would be prominent on the ridgeline when 
viewed from Hucknall and Linby in particular. The proposal would 
therefore be contrary to policy ENV32 of the GBRLP;

 The application would not conserve or enhance the local environment 
contrary to para 109 of the NPPF;

 NPPF para 165: - Planning Policies and decisions should be based on 
up to date information about the natural environment and other 
characteristics of the area. As no up to date surveys have been 
undertaken the application is contrary to this guidance; 

 The wind turbine would not be appropriate development and would be 
contrary to the purpose of the Country Park. 

Cultural Heritage 

 The historic environment associated with Lord Byron would be under 
threat.

 The turbine is close and would have a negative impact on 
Conservation Areas in the vicinity; 

 The turbine would have an adverse impact on the character and 
significance of the historic value of the landscape of Newstead Abbey 
Park which is designated Grade II* on the register of Parks and 
Gardens;

 The development would impact on Robin Hoods Way a public footpath.

Nature Conservation 

 An adverse impact on local birds and bats; 
 The application would be contrary to para’s 109, 110, and 113 of the 

NPPF, in that it would cause considerable harm to the local 
environment and also against Gedling Borough Policy ENV36;

 The application contains old ecological surveys produced to support an 

Page 50



application from imported material to create a lake submitted to the 
County Council. 

Amenity 

 The turbine would be too large and too close to neighbouring 
residential properties;

 The proposal would adversely affect walkers and horse riders of the 
local paths  and bridleways; 

 There is potential for nearby residents to experience undue shadow 
flicker from the turbine blades;

 The application would be contrary to Gedling Borough Policy ENV5 
given that it would have an adverse impact on the amenities of 
residents and users of nearby properties in terms of noise, amplitude 
modulation and low-frequency vibration; 

 Noise impact from the proposed turbine;
 The UK Noise Association recommends that wind turbines are not sited 

within 1 mile of residential properties;
 Risk of sleep disturbance and related health issues;
 The noise impacts would be contrary to para 69 of the NPPF;
 The applicant has not considered the noise impact appropriately;
 No background noise levels have been taken;
 The ESTU-R-97 is not fit for purpose; 

Safety 

 The construction of the wind turbine on a former coal mine could have 
technical and structural implications;

 The applicant has failed to take into account of the wind shear, ice 
throw and amplitude modulation and low frequency noise etc of the 
proposed turbine;

Transport and Communication 

 The roads through the villages and approaching roads are not suitable 
for extra-large vehicles delivering the wind turbine;

 Construction traffic through the small villages and past the school is of 
concern;

 There would be potential impact on television signals in the area; 
 The full impact on the local paths, bridleways and public footpaths and 

the adverse impact on tourism needs to be evaluated; 

Policy

 The proposal contravenes the following planning policies: Gedling 
Borough Council: ENV26, ENV32, and R7. Government Policy: PPS7

 The new government has indicated that developments should not be 
permitted if the local community is opposed to the scheme and this is 
enshrined in the Localism Bill. This gives a strong mandate from the 
local community to refuse the application if enough people oppose;

Page 51



 The application would be contrary to the principles set out in paragraph 
58 of the NPPF discussing local policies and neighbourhood plans;

 The application would be contrary to paragraph 73 of the NPPF as it 
would detract people from using the Country Park;

 The application should be refused under the requirements of para’s 93 
– 108 inclusive; 

 The development would not represent sustainable development as 
indicated in NPPF para 7 due to its close proximity to the visitor centre 
and fishing lakes, which would deter people from using them; 

Other Considerations

 Residents of the new development at Annesley Village were not 
consulted until a request was made by an Ashfield District Councillor;

 Annesley and Felley Parish were not consulted; 
 The photos and plans are enhanced in favour of the application;
 A large number of people buying houses in the Annesley Cuttings area 

would not have been aware that a wind turbine was going to be 
proposed when purchasing properties; 

 The turbine would impact on the value of property in the area; 
 Questions raised over the type and appropriateness of camera lens 

used to generate the photomontages and the location of the 
Viewpoints;

 The development could set standards for future developments in the 
area;

 The profits being generated are going to the Country Park and not the 
Local Residents;

 Despite extensive grants from the Greater Nottinghamshire 
Partnership, Heritage Lottery Funding and personal loans from 
directors over a period of from its inception in 2009 to date, the Eco-
Park still remains unfinished. 

 The use of the industry standard 50mm lens for the photomontages 
results in the wind turbine appearing smaller. Research undertaken by 
Alan McDonald – Architect – is referred to as documented in a National 
Newspaper article. The article highlighted the implications a 50mm 
rather that a 75mm lens making objects appear smaller at distance.  

 Alternative more efficient locations for wind turbines should be 
considered.

Comments in Support 

 Having a wind turbine was requested as a priority by Newstead 
residents when they were consulted in 2007 for the Parish Plan;

 No objections to noise or visual appearance after visiting larger wind 
farms in Scotland;

 The wind turbine could be an asset for Newstead and Annesley 
Country Park supporting its long-term objectives for the community;

 The wind turbine would support the Country Park and would provide 
valuable renewable energy;

 Generating renewable energy on a former colliery site puts out an 

Page 52



statement and action towards reversing dependence on high carbon 
producing sources of power;

 The site has already been transformed from former spoil heaps into 
woodland;

 The site being a former colliery and now a woodland acts as a carbon 
sink and the introduction of a wind turbine would further contribute to a 
sustainable green future;

 The site was previously used for coal production / energy generation 
and has now been transformed to a Country Park. The introduction of a 
wind turbine would be appropriate and would be of benefit to the site 
and rove an interesting and educational dimension to the site;

 The financial benefits to the Country Park to help its long term survival 
is a positive consideration;

 The Country Park is a key community asset and the wind turbine would 
assist the further development of the asset.

 The wind turbine would provide enough energy to meet the demands of 
700 homes, offsetting 2,000 tonnes of C02 per annum and contributing 
to local and national renewable energy targets.

 The visual impact must be put into context with the widespread 
environmental damage which climate change could cause in the area. 

3.4 Statutory and Technical Bodies Consultation Responses

The comments of the statutory and technical bodies that commented on the 
application are summarised below under the headings of ecology/wildlife; 
cultural heritage and landscape; hydrology; geology, hydrogeology and 
contamination; noise and shadow flicker; telecommunications; transport; 
parish councils and other local authorities. 

3.5 Ecology/Wildlife

Nottinghamshire County Council (Arboricultural Advice)

No trees of significance are affected by this proposal. 

Natural England

Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development being carried out 
in strict accordance with the details of the application, as submitted, will not 
damage or destroy features for which the site has been notified. Therefore the 
presence of an SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining the 
application. 

Natural England recommends that the application be considered under their 
Standing Advice (SA) with regards to protected species. 

Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust (NWT) – 

The additional information from Stillwind Ecology is appreciated, although we 
wish to provide you with the following advice:

Page 53



1.) & 2). Again, we wish to remind you that this site qualifies as a Local 
Wildlife Site for its breeding and overwintering birds. Whilst it is accepted, as 
stated by the Ecologist, that wildfowl populations are not “endangered”, these 
species are in decline, hence the recognition of the LWS for holding wintering 
numbers. Thus, as stated within our previous response, in order to comply 
with the NPPF, any potential impacts on birds are a material consideration in 
your determination.

5.) Collision risk assessments give a snapshot of flight behaviour and potential 
impacts on the site. We advise the LPA should still consider the presence of 
higher risk species (such as peregrine) and nationally protected species (such 
as woodlark, an Annex 1 species) recorded during the surveys and using the 
site, as potential impacts cannot be fully dismissed. As previously stated, 
impacts are likely to be more significant for species of lower population 
numbers within Nottinghamshire, such as peregrine. 

3). & 5). Behaviour was queried as it was stated that this would be included in 
Section 1.29 of the Ecological Assessment. We are aware that species such 
as lapwing forage on the ground, but additional information provides 
clarification of bird use within the footprint/near the turbine (and therefore the 
extent of species presence). Lapwings tend to feed in flocks, and will 
characteristically circulate in the air as a flock when disturbed (by predators), 
hence, although foraging on the ground, this does not eliminate the fact that 
they are likely to fly within and between the development footprint. You should 
also be aware that kestrels will hover and remain stationary at height whilst 
hunting. 

6). As previously stated, our concerns regarding breeding birds are during the 
operational phase. Land for the habitat mitigation/woodlark enhancement is 
yet to be secured (see point 15). As this land has not been secured, and 
involves a Site where woodlark are breeding (again, a European Protected 
Species), we strongly advice you take a precautionary approach, as this 
mitigation is yet to be guaranteed. 

7). It is appreciated that 3 survey visits were undertaken, which follows 
standard survey practice. However, our query regarding the BBS data refers 
to section 1.33. of the Ecological Assessment (GLM Ecology). It is stated that 
BBS surveys were undertaken by Corvus Consulting in 2014. The report 
refers to species recorded in Table 04; however, the results in Table 04 are 
dated 21/04/2011. We requested clarification to if this is an error in the date, 
or if the table is referring to previous data and not to the latest data collected 
in 2014. We also advised that the surveyor vantage point is provided, to 
determine the view shed of the survey. 

8). Additional evidence to support this statement would assist the LPA when 
determining the application and level of impact.

9), 10) & 11) It is understood that the site already has a high level of activity 
and recreational disturbance. Therefore, any additional disturbance should be 

Page 54



suitably mitigated for, to prevent an increase in the threshold of disturbance 
level and any consequential displacement of sensitive species of 
breeding/wintering birds. Techniques to reduce this within the management 
plan would be welcomed, particularly as we have already highlighted our 
concerns regarding birds uncommon in Nottinghamshire and ground nesting 
birds. 

12). We stated, “It is further stated within the SNH guidelines that where 
duration of one year or less is proposed (for survey duration), developers and 
consultants must clearly demonstrate that the chosen duration is robust and 
appropriate.” In the response by Stillwind Ecology dated 31st July, this has 
been clearly justified. 

13). We are aware of contradiction between guidelines. We highlighted this 
and that two hours would have been more ideal as this would be in 
accordance with Natural England TIN069 regarding surveyor fatigue, but the 
Ecologist has justified that the methodology is in accordance with SNH.

14). We have highlighted this issue/limitation regarding post monitoring at this 
stage so that it can be fully considered at the earliest opportunity. It is also 
important to recognise this limitation, as if you do not believe accurate post 
monitoring data is achievable, you may wish to condition stricter mitigation for 
bats such as curtailment during certain months/hours, in order to fully 
eliminate potential impacts. The LPA would need to assume that they will be 
able to understand and interpret the monitoring correctly. You should be 
aware of recent anecdotal evidence in which dead bats under turbines have 
been found in Nottinghamshire, such as a dead noctule recently found in 
Bilsthorpe.  

15). We are aware that the Ecologist has recommended construction works to 
be undertaken outside of the bird breeding season and we are in support of 
this. However, our concerns regarding breeding birds refer to the operational 
phase. Regarding our comments to the brief mitigation outline, the Addendum 
refers back to Section 1.64 and states the following: “Without consultation with 
local stakeholders it is unknown precisely what areas are to be considered for 
mitigation. If planning permission is granted, then as a planning condition a 
Habitat Management Plan for woodlark enhancement would be provided as a 
priority. This would entail input from RSPB, NWT, landowners and local 
groups and all other interested parties.”  We therefore advised an area to be 
secured prior to determination, and any further details on proposed 
mitigation/enhancements (to allow the LPA information at the earliest 
opportunity), so that this can be secured through a S106 agreement. In the 
absence of this detail, the impacts of this Annex 1 species cannot be properly 
assessed. 

Following receipt of additional ecological addendums the Wild Life Trust 
makes the following comments: - 

Part of the proposed mitigation is within the 50 metre buffer of the turbine and 
it would be preferable to see it beyond this buffer zone. 

Page 55



Bats

It is welcomed that the expertise that will be involved in designing the post 
monitoring surveys, it is still suggested that some form of information is put 
forward on how the post monitoring will be undertaken prior to determining this 
application – so that the LPA can determine if the methodology will be 
sufficient. 

Mitigation

Whilst it is welcomed that the applicant has put forth an area for mitigation, 
you should be aware that this is within the LWS boundary which is designated 
for botanical interest – therefore any mitigation should not compromise 
features which give the site its botanical interest. 

Also, it depends what they want to provide for woodlark to determine if the 
proposed area will be suitable. Having quickly looked back over the surveys, I 
believe at the proposed track a singing woodlark was recorded. If the 
proposed mitigation will be for foraging- I can understand them looking for 
insects in an open area surrounded by trees and scrub, but for nesting they 
would usually prefer a much more open expanse with a mix of short sward, 
bare patches etc, some small, sporadic scrub (like gorse), but nothing high 
enough to perch a corvid on, and where they can get long views. 

Nottinghamshire County Council (Ecology) – 

Site survey

An Ecological Assessment (undated 2014) has been carried out in support of 
this application, with an Ecology Report (dated September 2012) also 
submitted. Together, these provide a good understanding of the ecological 
interest of the application site and the wider Newstead and Annesley Country 
Park.

Impact on habitats

The proposed turbine is located within the boundary of the Annesley Pit Tip 
Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 5/392, and the 2012 Ecology Report identified the 
habitat that would be affected by the works as being semi improved 
grassland. Overall, the footprint of the development is very small compared to 
the size of the site as a whole, and permanent loss of habitat will be 
negligible. Nevertheless, it is evident that works will give rise to some 
temporary disturbance of the area during construction, so it is requested that 
a condition is used to require the submission of a brief restoration plan for this 
area, with the aim of re-establishing species-rich grassland.

Impact on birds

A Breeding Bird Survey (BBS), Vantage Point (VP) surveys, winter walk-over 

Page 56



surveys, and specific surveys for nightjar and woodlark have been carried out 
at the site. The level of survey is considered to be generally appropriate 
(although it should be noted that the BBS comprised a single visit in April but 
is supported by additional information from the 2012 Ecology Report), and has 
confirmed that the site is of particular ornithological interest. It should be noted 
that whilst no nightjars were recorded at the site, breeding woodlarks were 
confirmed to be present; however, this species is not considered to be at risk 
of collision with turbines. Therefore, it appears that the proposed turbine 
would not have an impact on the species for which Sherwood Forest may 
become designated as an SPA in the future.

Regarding the VP surveys, whilst a number of species were recorded flying 
within the collision risk area, it is stated that this did not occur frequently 
enough to warrant any meaningful collision modelling, and that any effects of 
collision mortality on local bird populations would be negligible. On that basis, 
it appears that the turbine, in its currently proposed location, will not give rise 
to any significant impact on birds using the site as a result of collision 
mortality.

By way of mitigation, vegetation clearance should take place outside the bird 
breeding season (which runs from march to August inclusive), unless 
otherwise approved, and this should be secured through a condition; the 
Ecological Assessment also recommends that construction should, if possible, 
also take place outside the bird breeding season.

Impact on bats

Surveys for bats were carried out using walked transects and a static 
detector, the latter positioned at the approximate location of the proposed 
turbine. Both confirmed that bats (primarily soprano pipistrelles) forage along 
the woodland edge adjacent to the turbine location. No potential roost sites 
were located within the vicinity of the turbine.

In order to minimise impacts on bats, Natural England guidance states that a 
50m buffer should be maintained around any feature (e.g. trees or hedgerow) 
into which no part of the turbine should intrude, meaning that that the edge of 
the rotor-swept area needs to be at least 50m from the nearest part of the 
habitat feature. This is recognised in section 1.73 of the Ecological 
Assessment, and it is stated that to facilitate this, young trees and scrub 
would need to be removed. Given that the vegetation to the north is on a 
slope, and can be expected to gain height as it grows, it is therefore 
requested that further information is provided, in the form of a plan, showing 
the extent of tree and scrub removal that will be required, calculated with 
reference to Natural England’s Technical Information Note TIN051 and taking 
account of the adjacent topography (i.e. it is not simply a case of drawing a 
50m radius around the base of the turbine).

Once this has been submitted, a condition will be required to ensure that the 
trees and shrubs within this area are removed and stump-treated (to prevent 
regrowth), and that the area is maintained as grassland for the 25 year 

Page 57



lifetime of the turbine.

Impact on other protected species

No evidence of badgers was found within the vicinity of the application site, 
but this species is known to be present in the area. A condition should be 
used to require that mitigation measures outlined in section 1.78 of the 
Ecological Assessment (2014) are adhered to.

The NACP site supports reptiles and amphibians (including a significant 
population of toads breeding in the adjacent waterbody. The mitigation 
measures outlined in section 1.80 should therefore form the basis of a 
Mitigation Strategy for Reptiles and Amphibians, the production of which 
should be secured through a condition.

Other mitigation

To mitigate for the loss of woodland that will arise through the imposition of a 
50m buffer zone around the turbine, it is recommended that the condition and 
value of the remaining woodland at the site is improved through thinning of 
dense plantations, the removal of conifers and other non-native species, and 
restocking with native species appropriate to the local area, if required. The 
production of a Woodland Enhancement Plan to this effect should be secured 
through a condition.

British Horse Society - no comments received. 

3.6 Cultural Heritage and Landscape

English Heritage

As this application potentially affects scheduled monuments, listed buildings 
and conservation areas the statutory requirement to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses and the character 
and appearance of the conservation area (Section 66(1) and 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, 1990) must be taken 
into account by your authority when making its decisions. 

English Heritage does not believe there is sufficient information to make an 
informed assessment of the proposal’s impact on the designated heritage 
assets potentially affected. Therefore we do not believe your authority is in a 
position to determine this application in line with paragraphs 128 and 129 of 
the NPPF.

The proposed turbine would sit within a landscape rich in heritage and is 
potentially within the setting of numerous highly graded designated heritage 
assets.

Historic associations with Newstead and the other nearby medieval and later 

Page 58



parks are of key importance alongside the literary and personal links with 
Byron. The inter-relationship of these parks, in terms of both social and design 
history, requires careful and robust assessment in relation to the potential 
impact of the turbine. Large estates and their now listed buildings were often 
designed with reference to one another, in terms of designated views and 
wider setting as well as the adjoining countryside. 

The turbine may be seen from numerous locations and will impact on the 
experience of moving through the landscape and the character of this area. 
This is particularly important in an area rich in designed landscape, 
juxtaposed against the rural landscape and villages within. We advise that the 
local authority needs to consider the significance of the heritage assets as a 
group is also derived from any relationship with each other and each with their 
rural landscapes beyond in assessing if the turbine will cause any harm. 

Following on from an additional Heritage Statement submitted by the agent 
Historic England have the following additional comments to make: - 

The review is limited in its assessment – it does not for example, mention the 
schedules monuments at Damstead or Annesley Castle – although the impact 
is potentially low, their exclusion demonstrates the lack of understanding of 
the historic landscape as a whole which is experienced in movements 
between places and the historic relationships between designated heritage 
assets. 

We note the heritage review accepts and recognises harm to a number of 
designated heritage assets – it is important to note that paragraph 132 of the 
NPPF makes it clear that ‘As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or 
loss should require clear and convincing justification.’ The decision maker 
would therefore need to ensure that considerable importance and weight 
should be given to the desirability or preserving the setting when balancing 
the possible public benefit (which would need clear and convincing 
justification) against the harm to designated heritage assets of outstanding 
national interest. 

On the basis of this additional information, we recommend that your authority 
is satisfied that you have received sufficient information from which to 
understand the potential impact on the significance of all heritage assets 
before determining the application (NPPF 128). Historic England remains 
unconvinced by this. It is essential that your Authorities conservation officer 
and Archaeological Adviser should be contacted for advice – the latter in 
relation to the potential impacts of the scheme on mitigation of impact and the 
evaluation and treatment of undesignated archaeological remains; you should 
be guided by their recommendations. We recommend this application is 
determined in line with Government legislation, policy and guidance relating to 
the historic environment. 

Nottinghamshire County Council Archaeology – No comments received. 

Nottinghamshire County Council Landscape and Reclamation Team – 

Page 59



 Built Heritage

Regarding the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, this should be 
cross referenced in the Heritage Statement. It highlights the location of three 
registered historic parklands in the close vicinity of the proposed turbine and 
has a ‘viewpoint’ usefully positioned in one of them (Newstead), however it 
does not contain a viewpoint from Papplewick Hall park or from Annesley 
parkland (which includes a Scheduled ancient monument). There appears to 
be no reference to any of the listed buildings associated with these parks or 
outside of them. It does not appear to refer to the designated conservation 
areas within the 5km buffer (Annesley; Linby; Papplewick; Bestwood and 
Blidworth for instance), as such the County Council expect it will be 
insufficient evidence to support any assessments provided in any Heritage 
Statement.

The key on the plan (Fig. 8) showing cumulative wind turbine ZTV is unclear. 

The proximity of the registered parklands and high grade listed buildings 
(Newstead Abbey – grade I listed for instance) would necessitate a 
consultation with English Heritage and the statutory amenity society of 
Nottinghamshire Historic Gardens Trust. 

 Landscape and Visual Impact

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Methodology 

The Environmental Report states that the Guidelines for Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment (Landscape Institute and the Institute of 
Environmental Management and Assessment) 2013 edition has used been 
used in the preparation of this LVA (Landscape and Visual Assessment) .  

Study Area

The study area for this LVA has been defined as a 10km radius from the 
proposed development for both landscape and visual receptors. The Zone of 
Theoretical Visibility was also defined as a 10km radius. 

Physical impact of the proposed development on the landscape

The location plan, Figure 1 and 2, shows the position of the proposed wind 
turbine and the new access road. Existing hedgerows and trees have not 
been shown on this drawing and any removal has not been quantified within 
the LVA. There is also no information as to if vegetation removal will be 
carried out on the transport of the turbine components to the site.  
Comparison of the aerial photograph with the site plan shows that there 
appears to be minimal loss of existing vegetation but this should be set out 
within the LVA. 

Overall, although the direct physical impacts on the landscape during the 

Page 60



construction phase have not been quantified within the LVA the County 
Council would assess the direct physical impact on the existing landscape as 
negligible. 

Impact of the proposed development on landscape character 

The site lies on the boundary of the National Character Area NCA 49 
Sherwood as defined by Natural England with NCA 49 Southern 
Magnesian Limestone which lies primarily to the south and west of the site 
of the location of the turbine site.

The applicant’s LVA identifies the National Character Areas on Figure 9 over 
a 30km study area and these are described within the LVA. 

At a regional level the East Midlands Regional Landscape Character 
Assessment 2010 (Natural England) defines the application area to be within 
Group 6d Limestone Farmlands

At a county level the Greater Nottingham Landscape Character assessment 
2009 defines countywide landscape character areas. The site lies within the 
Magnesian Limestone Ridge Linby Wooded Farmlands PZ ML17.

This sets out the characteristic features of this area, its landscape sensitivity, 
condition and actions in greater detail. 

The characteristic features of this policy zone include:

 Flat to gently undulating natural land although restored mineral working 
sites create artificial elevations in the landform

 Small streams flow through the area and there are some small, artificial 
water bodies in the north of the area, on restoration land

 The DPZ has an urban fringe farmland character, influenced by restored 
land, agricultural with   pockets of recreation land.

 Field sizes are medium to large and usually irregular in shape
 Hedgerows are often fragmented and are low and scrubby in places
 Large woodland blocks enclose pockets of farmland
 New areas of plantation and regenerating scrub on restored landscapes 

will add to the woodland content of the area as they mature
 Woodland belts follow the linear features through the landscape, such as 

the railway  embankment the streams and roads
 The extensive woodland blocks at Newstead Abbey and Annesley 

Plantation are visible in the adjoining DPZ areas and contribute to the 
wooded character

 The settlement of Newstead has a clear mining heritage and is 
characterised by rows of uniform red brick terraced housing

 Overhead power lines are a common feature crossing the farmland
 Views are open over the farmland but restricted and enclosed by the 

blocks of woodland
 There are long views from the recreational footpaths which cross the 

restored colliery mounds over the young woodland and the farmland 

Page 61



beyond

Impacts on Landscape character of the site

The applicant has not provided an overall assessment of the impact of the 
proposal on the landscape character at the county or more local scale or of 
the site itself. It has been based on the National Character assessment and 
the 1997 County assessment rather than the more recent Greater Nottingham 
Character Assessment 2009.  The more detailed local landscape 
assessments show that whilst the site this site is on the junction between the 
Southern Magnesian Limestone and Sherwood it is actually within the 
Magnesian Limestone NCA. 

The site description should relate to the more local landscape character 
assessments and an analysis of the impacts brought about by the proposed 
development (covering the construction, operational and decommissioning 
phases) along with whether these impacts are significant should be provided 
by the applicant. The scope for any mitigation, such as planting, for adverse 
effects on landscape character could be then identified from these findings. 

Visual Impacts of the proposed development  

The proposed development would comprise the installation of a 1.5MW wind 
turbine with a hub height of 61.5m, a rotor diameter of 77m and a height to tip 
of 100m. The design and height of the proposed turbine is therefore known 
and the visual impact can be predicted.

Eight viewpoints have been produced which have been assessed within the 
Environmental Report (Table 1 - Location of Viewpoints, page 28) and these 
are shown on a Zone Theoretical Visibility produced for the 10km diameter 
study area (Figure 6a). Whilst the County Council generally agree with the 
selection of the viewpoints in the LVIA and the description of the existing 
views and proposed views for a wind turbine development of this size the 
predicted levels of impact should be defined with regard to the sensitivity of 
the receptor and the magnitude of change which is experienced.

Written analysis of the sensitivities of the visual receptors to the proposed 
development, the magnitude of change and significance of effects should be 
provided for each viewpoint. The level of impact has not been given for any 
of the viewpoints.

For Viewpoint 1 (Newstead Abbey Grounds) the County Council note that 
the trees were in leaf in this photo montage which appears to screen the 
majority of the turbine. More of the turning blades may be visible in winter. 
The proposal is also described on page 35 as not significantly changing the 
setting of the view. However this landscape does contribute to the setting of 
a heritage asset and therefore would expect this to be picked up in the 
heritage assessment.   

Cumulative Landscape and Visual Assessment

Page 62



The Landscape and Visual Impact includes an assessment of cumulative 
impact assessment on page 25 - 27 where cumulative impacts are 
discussed in a generalised way. The cumulative impact assessment 
determines any additional effects the proposed development would have on 
landscape character and visual receptors when considered together with 
other wind turbine developments. 

Within the LVA Figure 8 “Cumulative Zone of Theoretical Visibility 10km 
shows the location of operational wind turbines within 10km of the proposed 
wind turbine. This has only identified the Lindhurst wind turbines to the north 
east of the application site. The colour coded key on this drawing does not 
make it clear as to how the ZVIs for these 2 wind turbine developments 
overlap. 

A search for other consented and operational wind turbine developments 
with other planning authorities in the 10km study area should be undertaken 
if this has not already been carried out. This is because any additional wind 
turbine developments may have a cumulative impact with this development 
either sequentially (along roads or public rights of way) or combined from 
one viewpoint in the same view or in succession. 

Mitigation

Whilst it is not possible to mitigate against the majority of visual impacts for a 
wind turbine development there is scope to strengthen the landscape 
character area of the Linby Wooded Farmlands PZ. I note that the LVA does 
not provide any mitigation proposals for any adverse impacts on landscape 
character.

Summary 

Whilst the County Council do not object to the principle of this development it 
recommended that due to its size and location further information is required 
from the applicant on this proposed wind turbine development.  This should 
include:

 The direct physical impacts on the landscape during the construction 
phase have not been quantified within the LVA.  There is no information as 
to if vegetation removal will be carried out to allow the transport of the 
turbine components to the site. No hedgerows or trees have been 
identified for removal within the LVA. 

 Effects on the landscape character of the immediate site surroundings at 
the various stages during construction, operational and decommission 
stages have not assessed.  This should include the assessment of the 
landscape receptors sensitivity and the magnitude of landscape effects to 
determine the significance of the effect.

 Effects on the landscape character of the wider site surroundings has 
been carried out based only on the National Landscape Character 

Page 63



Assessment. The Greater Nottingham Landscape Character Assessment 
should be used to provide the local context for impact of the proposed 
development on landscape character. The overall level of effect on 
landscape character should be provided. 

 Written analysis of the sensitivities of the visual receptors to the proposed 
development, the magnitude of change and significance of effects should 
be provided for each viewpoint. A summary of the overall visual effect 
should be given.

 Cumulative Impacts have been described in the LVA with regard to 
Lindhurst Wind farm.  There may be other developments particularly wind 
turbine sites which may have a cumulative landscape and visual impact. 
These should be assessed. 

 The significance of effects should inform the development proposals and 
where possible mitigation provided to any adverse effects.

Nottinghamshire County Council Biological & Geographical Assessment – no 
comments received.  

3.7 Hydrology, Geology, Hydrogeology and Contamination

Environment Agency

As the development is on high ground the Environment Agency treat it as low 
risk and therefore there is no further comment.

Gedling Borough Council Public Protection Service – 

No objections in relation to land contamination. 

Severn Trent Water

No objections. 

3.8 Noise and Shadow Flicker 

Gedling Borough Council Public Protection Service - 

No objections subject to conditions to prevent noise from being detrimental to 
nearby properties. 

3.9 Telecommunications and Transportation

Nottinghamshire County Council (Highway Authority) – 

There are no highway objections with regards to the erection of a wind turbine 
at Newstead and Annesley County Park.

Page 64



The proposed route for construction traffic and any abnormal load is 
acceptable and it is reassuring to know that the applicants would liaise with 
Network Rail with regards to timings for crossing the rail line in Newstead 
Village. 

The applicant should be informed that it would be both beneficial and good 
public relations if a letter drop was undertaken to residents of Tilford Road 
asking they park on one side of the carriageway only, on the date of the 
abnormal load to ensure adequate passage. 

Also, the applicant should liaise with the Network Coordinator officer, Mandy 
Pollard Ward, 0115 977 4702 with regards to the date of the abnormal load to 
ensure that there are no roadworks / closures on the proposed delivery route. 

Civil Aviation Authority

There is an international civil aviation requirement for all structures of 300 feet 
(91.4 metres) or more to be charted on aeronautical charts. However, on 
behalf of other non-regulatory aviation stakeholders, in the interest of Aviation 
safety, the CAA requests that any feature/structure 70 feet in height, or 
greater, above ground level is notified to the Defence Geographical Centre 
including location(s), height(s) and lighting status of the feature/structure, the 
estimated and actual dates of construction and the maximum height of any 
construction equipment to be used, at least 6 weeks prior to the start of 
construction, to allow for the appropriate notification to the relevant aviation 
communities. 

NATS

Following re-examination of the wind turbine being proposed at Newstead and 
Annesley Country Park, NATS remove their objection. Mitigation is available 
which can be funded by the developer. 
 
Mitigation has been formally approved by NATS. 

OFCOM

No comments received. 

East Midlands Airport

The application does not conflict with safeguarding criteria. No objections 
subject to a condition requiring the applicant to notify East Midlands Airport 1 
month before the operation of the wind turbine has commenced. 

North Midlands Helicopter Support

No comments received. 

Derby/Rutland/Leics/ Air Ambulance

Page 65



No comments received. 

MOD Safeguarding

No objections. If planning permission is forthcoming the MOD would like to be 
advised of the following prior to commencement of construction 

 The date the construction starts and ends;
 The maximum height of construction equipment;
 The latitude and longitude of every turbine.

3.9 Transport

Nottinghamshire County Council (Highway Authority)

There are no highway objections to the erection of a wind turbine at Newstead 
and Annesley Country Park.

The proposed route for construction traffic and any abnormal load is 
acceptable and it is reassuring to know that the applicants intend to liaise with 
Network Rail with regards to timings for crossing the rail line in Newstead 
Village. 

The Highway Authority would like the applicant to note that it would be 
beneficial and good public relations if a letter drop was undertaken to 
residents of Tilford Road asking that they park on one side of the carriageway 
only, on the date of the abnormal load to ensure adequate passage. 

Also, the applicant should liaise with the Highway Authority Network 
Coordination officer, Mandy Pollard Ward, 0115 977 4702 with regards to the 
date of the abnormal load to ensure that there are no roadworks / closures on 
the proposed delivery route. 

3.10 Local Authorities and Parish Councils

3.10.1 Gedling Borough Council (Planning Policy)

The proposal is for the construction of a wind turbine with a height to tip of 
100m on a site located within the Green Belt.  The site is also within a Local 
Wildlife Site (SINC) and a Country Park.  Although the Country Park is not 
designated by the Replacement Local Plan it should be given significant 
weight in determining the application.  

As such, the following policies are relevant to the principle of the 
development:

 NPPF Paragraph 28 (Supporting a prosperous rural economy);
 NPPF Paragraphs 69-78 (Promoting healthy communities);
 NPPF paragraphs 80-92 (Protecting Green Belts);

Page 66



 NPPF paragraphs 93-108 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, 
flooding and costal change);

 NPPF Paragraphs 109-125 (Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment); 

 ACS Policy 1: Climate Change; 
 ACS Policy 3: The Green Belt;
 ACS Policy 16: Green Infrastructure Parks and Open Space; and
 ACS Policy 17: Biodiversity.
 RLP Policy ENV5 (Renewable Energy);
 RLP Policy ENV26 (Control Over Development in the Green Belt); 
 RLP Policy ENV36 (Local Nature Conservation Designations); and
 RLP Policy R1 (Protection of Open Space).

In accordance with Paragraphs 214-215 of the NPPF due weight should be 
given to the policies of the Replacement Local Plan in accordance with their 
degree of consistency with the framework.  Consideration will also need to be 
given to whether policies are out of date in line with paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF.  Overall, it is considered that, in terms of this decision, ENV5 should 
be given limited weight while ENV26, ENV36 and R1 should be given 
significant weight.  

Gedling Borough Council, at its meeting on 10th September, approved the 
Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) for Gedling Borough (September 2014) which is 
now part of the development plan for the area.  

Additional information has been provided by the National Planning Practice 
Guidance.

Green Belt

As paragraph 91 of the NPPF identifies, elements of many renewable energy 
schemes will comprise inappropriate development within Green Belts.  As 
identified by the NPPF, ACS Policy 3 and ENV26, inappropriate development 
is, by definition, harmful to the openness of the Green Belt.  ‘Very special 
circumstances’ which clearly outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt and any other harm will need to be demonstrated.  Significant weight 
should be given to ACS Policy 3 as far as it is relevant to this proposal.

Wind turbines are thought to be an ‘engineering use’ as opposed to a 
‘building’.  They will, as such, be classed as inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt unless they maintain the openness of the Green Belt and do 
not conflict with the purposes of maintaining land within it (NPPF Paragraph 
90).

It is noted that, at page 21 of the submitted Environmental Report, the 
applicant considers the proposal to be appropriate as it does not cause 
encroachment and has significant benefits.  However, given the scale of the 
proposed turbine it is not considered that it will maintain the openness of the 
Green Belt.  While there may be benefits associated with the proposal, these 
do not affect whether the proposal is inappropriate or not.  It is, therefore, 

Page 67



considered that the proposal is inappropriate development within the Green 
Belt.  This is consistent with the approach that has been taken with other wind 
turbines of a similar height in the Green Belt.

The applicant is required to demonstrate that there are very special 
circumstances as to why permission should be granted.  This is a consistent 
requirement across the NPPF, ACS Policy 3 and ENV26.  If it is demonstrated 
that there are very special circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm to 
the Green Belt then it is considered that the impact on the Green Belt is 
acceptable.  The impact on other matters is considered below.  

Mitigation measures to reduce the impact of the proposal are not capable of 
being very special circumstances but may help mitigate the impact on issues 
such as landscape or heritage.  Paragraph 91 of the NPPF indicates that 
weight may be given to the wider environmental benefits associated with 
renewable energy generation as a very special circumstance.  The wider 
environmental benefits could include the protection of habitats and species 
from climate change and the reduced need to extract fossil fuels.

The lack of an alternative site is one of the very special circumstances usually 
considered.  In the case of renewable energy schemes, there is nothing to 
stop these alternative sites being developed in addition to sites in the Green 
Belt, provided the sites are suitable for the proposals.   Therefore the 
availability of a suitable non-green belt site is not a ground for refusal as 
shown at appeals at Enifer Downs (ref 2071880) and Carsington Pastures (ref 
2054080).  However, the Courts have ruled that different ways of generating 
renewable energy on site should be assessed as these may be less harmful.  
The applicant will need to provide evidence of why alternative, less harmful 
forms of energy generation are not considered suitable or possible.

The courts have also ruled that the risk of creating a precedent is a material 
consideration especially in the Green Belt where a high bar is set.  Where the 
very special circumstances put forward by the applicant are generic or 
capable of being easily replicated on other sites consideration will need to be 
given to the extent to which any very special circumstances could be used on 
different sites leading to a decrease in the openness of the Green Belt. The 
provision of very special circumstances which are specific and not easily 
replicable should help mitigate the risk of a precedent being created.

Renewable Energy

One of the core principles of the NPPF is that planning should support the 
transition to a low carbon future and encourage the use of renewable energy 
(paragraph 17).  Planning plays a key role in supporting the delivery of 
renewable and low carbon energy (paragraph 93) and there is a responsibility 
on all communities to contribute to energy generation from these sources 
(paragraph 97).  When determining applications local planning authorities 
should, inter alia (NPPF paragraph 98):

 Not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable 

Page 68



energy;
 Recognise that small scale projects provide a valuable contribution to 

cutting greenhouse emissions; and
 Approve applications if the impacts are or can be made acceptable.

While permission should not be refused for small scale schemes, the courts 
have ruled that the amount of energy that is produced by a renewable energy 
proposal is a material consideration.  The amount of energy produced by the 
proposal should be identified to establish the extent of the benefit that would 
arise from the proposal; this should then be compared to the impact of the 
proposal.

In terms of impacts, the NPPF (paragraph 97) indicates that the approach 
taken in the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy should be 
followed, while the NPPG also provides a number of issues that should be 
considered.  Together they show that the following issues should be 
considered for both wind turbines and solar panels:

 Biodiversity/Ecology and Geology
 Historic Environment
 Cumulative Landscape and Visual Impact
 Noise and Vibration
 Shadow Flicker and Reflected Light
 Traffic and Transport
 Electromagnetic Transmissions
 Safety
 Decommissioning

It is noted that information on many of these issues has been provided by the 
applicant; relevant consultations should be made.  Information may also be 
found in the evidence base prepared to inform the preparation of the Aligned 
Core Strategy (for example the Landscape Character Assessment).  
Guidance on assessing the issues above can be found in the NPPG and in 
the in-house Standing Guidance such as that prepared for Heritage.

The Renewable and Low Carbon Energy section of the NPPG sets out a 
number of considerations related to specific technologies including wind 
turbines.  These should be checked to ensure all issues are addressed.

National targets for renewable energy are as follows:

Source Target

UK Renewable Energy Strategy 15% of energy from renewable 
sources by 2020

Climate Change Act 2008 reduce UK ‘carbon account’ by 80% 
by 2050 from 1990 baseline

Page 69



The 2013 Energy Strategy Roadmap Update (November 2013)1 indicates that 
9.7% of energy is generated from renewable sources.  The Final Statement 
for the First Carbon Budget Period (May 2014)2 indicates that emissions are 
around 23.6% lower than in 1990.  Weight will need to be given to the 
contribution the proposal makes to the energy generated from renewable 
sources and to the reduction in carbon emissions.

Policy 1 of the ACS supports the development of low carbon energy schemes 
appropriate for the plan area which includes biomass, combined heat and 
power and micro-generation.  Significant weight should be given to the ACS.

Policy ENV5 (Renewable Energy) of the Gedling Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2008) states permission will 
be granted for renewable energy schemes provided the proposals:

a. Do not adversely impact the amenity of nearby properties;
b. Do not adversely impact the openness of the Green Belt; and
c. Are designed, sited and landscaped to minimise impact upon the 

character of the area.

As noted above, limited weight should be given to ENV5.

Green Infrastructure

Paragraph 73 of the NPPF sets out that access to high quality open spaces 
can make an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of 
communities.  Paragraph 74 goes on to identify that existing open space 
should not be built on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the open 
space to be surplus to requirements; or

 The loss would be replaced by equivalent or better provision; or 
 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision.

Policy 16.4 of the ACS also sets out that open space should be protected 
from development.  Exceptions may be made where the development is a 
small part of the Green Infrastructure network and will not be detrimental to its 
function.  Exceptions may also be made where the open space is underused 
or undervalued.  Alternative scheme designs that have no or little impact 
should be considered before mitigation is provided.  Significant weight should 
be given to ACS Policy 16.

Replacement Local Plan Policy R1 identifies that planning permission will not 
be granted for development on open space.  It also sets out a number of 
exceptions to this.  While none of the exceptions are directly relevant to 
Country Parks it is considered that the provision of renewable energy within a 
country park can be supported subject to there being no conflict with the use 

Page 70



or enjoyment of the Country Park.  

The applicant should provide information about how the proposal will impact 
on the use and enjoyment of the Country Park as well as alternative schemes 
which may have less impact.  Parks and Street Care should be consulted on 
this issue.  It is noted that there are instances elsewhere in the country where 
wind turbines have been permitted within Country Parks.

Biodiversity

Paragraph 109 of the NPPF sets out that the planning system should 
minimise the impacts on biodiversity.  Paragraph 113 goes onto require local 
planning authorities to set criteria based policies and make distinctions 
between the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites so 
that protection is commensurate with status.  When determining applications, 
paragraph 118 requires that a sequential approach is adopted; impacts should 
be avoided (through use of alternative sites) prior to mitigation or, as a last 
resort, compensation being considered.

Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy also includes the need to protect 
biodiversity and protect designated sites in line with their position in the 
hierarchy.  Policy 17e also repeats the sequential approach.  Significant 
weight should be given to Policy 17.

Replacement Local Plan Policy ENV36 sets out that in considering proposals 
which have an adverse effect on a Local Wildlife Site (SINC) the reasons for 
the proposal will be weighed against the local ecological and community value 
of the site.  Consideration will also be given to:

 The impact on the long term ecological viability of the habitat;
 The impact on the public’s enjoyment of the site; 
 Measures taken to minimise damage and disturbance to the habitat 

and wildlife; and
 The nature, layout and density of the development proposed.

The applicant should provide information about how the proposals will affect 
the two Local Wildlife sites and the steps taken to avoid and/or minimise harm 
to them.  Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust should be consulted regarding this.

Conclusion

In conclusion the applicant should provide:

 The very special circumstances which they consider apply along with 
supporting information and evidence;

 Evidence in relation to the issues identified in the National Policy 
Statement for Renewable Energy;

 Information about the level of energy to be produced; 
 Information about different ways of generating energy and why these 

are not considered to be reasonable alternatives in this case;

Page 71



 Information about how the proposals will impact on the use and 
enjoyment of the Country Park as well as alternative schemes which 
may have less impact; and

 Information about how the proposals will affect the Local Wildlife site 
and the steps taken to avoid and/or minimise harm to it.

The evidence relating to very special circumstances will need to be assessed 
to determine the extent to which they are generic and easily replicable.  

It is noted that information covering some of the requirements above has been 
provided by the applicant including on ecology, landscape and heritage.  The 
information provided should be reviewed to ensure that it is satisfactory and 
addresses the issues identified.  Appropriate consultations will need to be 
made with a range of organisations including GBC Parks & Street Care and 
Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust.

In response to the additional information with regards to the business plan 
and financial implications, Planning Policy has the following comments to 
make:

After reviewing the additional information provided, Planning Policy are 
satisfied that the applicant has explored alternative ways of generating the 
income required to support the operation of the Country Park. The level of 
income the alternative schemes provide would not generate sufficient or 
consistent income in the same way as the proposed wind turbine. Some of the 
alternative schemes identified within the additional information may be 
possible alongside the proposed wind turbine to supplement the income 
subject to planning permission in some cases. 

Should planning be forthcoming it is recommended that a condition be 
attached to any approval requiring the turbine to be removed if the Country 
Park ever closes. This would tie the proposal to the key identified VSC’s, 
including the operation of the park.  

3.10.2 Gedling Borough Council (Parks and Street Care)

Support the construction of a wind turbine as a suitable development due to it 
helping secure the future of the Country Park which in turn allows access for 
the community to the open countryside.

The electricity generating wind turbine would allow for renewable sustainable 
electricity generation which does not pollute the air and impact on greenhouse 
gases.

In a time of budget restrictions the lease monies arising from the siting of the 
turbine would help secure the long term viability of the park.  

3.10.3 Newstead Parish Council

The Parish is broadly supportive of the scheme but does have a number of 

Page 72



concerns which the Council hopes can be addressed. 

The Parish consider that the potential benefits of the proposal outweigh the 
harm likely to be caused by it. As a result the Parish Council would ask that 
planning conditions are applied (if this is possible) to ensure the applicant 
spends the financial benefit accrued through the lease of the site (but not 
including the Community Benefit Fund) wholly on the upkeep and 
maintenance of Newstead and Annesley Country Park. Any income raised 
should be used wholly to progress the development of the country park and 
should not, for example, be used to offset the running costs of RCAN. Whilst 
there is no suggestion this will be the case, the Parish Council would like to be 
assured that the funds acquired as a result of the wind turbine continue to be 
used directly into the park as a continued source of revenue throughout the 
whole period that the wind turbine is operational. Should it ever be the case, 
that the Country Park is not the beneficiary of these funds, then the Council’s 
opinion the application ceases to be one which demonstrates the very special 
circumstances required to override the fact the proposal is inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. The Parish Council believes the public interest 
in this case is best served by ensuring that plans for the country park are 
brought to fruition, the visitor centre finished and present paths around the 
park upgraded. 

- Location

The Parish notes consideration was given to the siting of the turbine in two 
potential locations within the park defined as Location 1 and Location 2. 
Following discussion, it was agreed by the Council that on balance location 2 
was the preferred option. The parish council does have some concerns in 
terms of noise levels where the likelihood that residents will be adversely 
affected by noise from location 2 which may be greater that location 1. 

- Wind turbine

It is noted that the maximum tip height should not exceed 100m which is a 
reduction from an earlier proposal of 126m in height. The smaller wind turbine 
would have less of a detrimental visual impact. The Borough Council should 
take steps to ensure that the height given is absolutely necessary to achieve 
the output required.   

The Parish Council refer to the Environmental report page 10 and request that 
consideration is given the architectural merits of the associated infrastructure 
including the cabin and the concrete base. The Parish consider that some 
planting would be possible around the surrounding perimeter fence to screen 
the infrastructure from visitors to the park and the visitor centre. 

The submitted plans show a mesh fence surrounding the buildings. 
Consideration should be given to a more durable fence such as heras type 
fencing screened where possible.

Construction works should be undertaken outside of bird breeding season. 

Page 73



The Parish Council suggest that construction works takes places only on 
weekdays between the hours of 8am and 6pm. 

- Landscape and Visual Assessment

The parish council consider that the wind turbine would be most prominent 
from Station Road / Newstead Crossing and have asked whether screening 
could be considered within Pocket Park which might mask the wind turbine 
from ground level. 

- Ecology

The Parish Council are pleased to note that comments have been taken on 
board from the Notts County Council Ecologist. The Parish are satisfied that 
this aspect of the application appears to have been carefully considered.

- Traffic and Transport

The Parish Council are reasonably satisfied that steps are being put in place 
to ensure that traffic movements through the village during the construction 
phase cause least disruption to residents. 

The Parish Council suggest that the best way to access the site from the 
A611 would be from Annesley Cutting rather that Hucknall Road. 

The Parish Council would like to be supplied with contact details for the site 
manager responsible for deliveries, in order to report any problems such as 
excessive dirt, inconsiderate driving. Notification to residents on Tilford Road 
should be given on the date of the abnormal load. Consideration should also 
be given to avoiding school collection times. 

- Noise Assessment

Of all the issues raised it is the issue of noise which most concerns the Parish 
Council.  The Parish request that Public Protection are consulted and relevant 
conditions to protect the amenity of residents from noise are considered. 

Particular attention should be given to the residents on Foundry Terrace 
which are high density and could be affected by noise. 

- Heritage Assessment

The Parish Council request the views of English Heritage are sought in 
connection with the likely impact on views from the Abbey. 

- Tourism and Recreation

Community Benefit Fund - According to the information contained in the 
proposal, it is proposed that Newstead Enterprise be given sole control of this 

Page 74



fund. As this organisation predominantly consists of members of RCAN, the 
Parish Council believes it should also have a voice on how this money is 
spent. The Parish Council consider it should be spent on wider purposes than 
simply Newstead and Annesley Country Park, where the income will already 
have been received from leasing the land to the wind turbine operator.  
 

- Conclusion

The Parish Council supports this application as a means to bring additional 
revenue to help secure a sustainable financial future for a much wanted 
country park where in light of the current economic climate the means of 
securing alternative funding to complete work required on the Country Park is 
limited. Nevertheless the Parish Council does have some concerns regarding 
the proposals, such as noise issues, which could be addressed by relevant 
planning considerations. 

3.10.4 Ravenshead Parish Council

No comment on this application as it is out of Ravenshead Parish Council 
jurisdiction.

3.10.5 Papplewick Parish Council

No comments received 

3.10.6 Linby Parish Council

No comments received 

3.10.7 Annesley and Felley Parish Council

No comments received 

3.10.8 Newark and Sherwood District Council

The site is located approximately 5.5km from the boundary with Newark & 
Sherwood and approximately 6km from Blidworth; our nearest settlement. 
This village has a Conservation Area which contains 5 listed buildings on the 
western periphery of which 4 are grade II listed and of greater importance the 
Church of St Mary of the Purification is Grade II*. The church is relatively 
prominent feature although it should be noted that the scale and height of the 
church tower is such that it is not a dominating landscape feature within the 
wider landscape. 

The turbine at Copt Hill Farm (13/01651/FUL) whilst not yet implemented is 
approximately 5km to the north east of the proposed turbine and as far as I 
can see does not appear to have been considered as part of the applicant’s 
assessment. In viewing the applicants ZTV the turbine would be sited 
approximately behind the 5km label on the plan and it is unclear as to whether 
the turbine would or wouldn’t be visible. Clarification should be sought from 

Page 75



the applicant. 

The Council recognises the support afforded to renewable energy 
developments within the National Planning Policy Framework and the need to 
apply material weight to the environmental benefits of the development. 
Notwithstanding this, due consideration should be made of the potential visual 
and cumulative impacts of the proposed turbine. 

In addition to the proposed turbine at Copt Hill the following turbines within our 
district may need to be taken account of:

- Turbine at Cottage Farm 
- Turbines at Lindhurst 
- Turbine at Norwood 

3.10.9 Ashfield District Council

Ashfield District Council raises no objection to the development but would 
make the case officer aware of the following:

1) There is no view point taken from the site of the former Annesley Colliery. 
This should be addressed prior to determination of the application;

2) There is no reference within the Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment to the type/model of camera used for the viewpoints. It is 
assumed that a full frame sensor 50mm fixed lens has been used. If not, 
the crop factor would need to be taken into consideration. 

3.10.10 Mansfield District Council

Given the significant distance of the proposal from the district boundary, I 
write to advise that Mansfield District Council does not wish to make 
observation.

4.0 Relevant Planning History

4.1 In February 2011 Full Planning Permission was granted (ref: 2010/0971) for 
the change of use of the site to form a Country Park on land to the north of 
Newstead Village. The change of use was from a previous spoil heap serving 
Annesley Colliery which closed in 2000. The proposal incorporated the 
construction of an eco-build Visitors Centre and associated car parking. 

4.2 In January 2013 a Request for Screening Opinion under Regulation 5 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2011. In April 2013 the Borough Council responded that the proposed 
development did not require an Environmental Statement. 

5.0 Assessment of Application Planning Considerations

5.1 The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of 
this application are contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) (March 2012) and additional information provided in the National 

Page 76



Planning Practise Guidance (NPPG). Other material considerations taken into 
account include the National Policy Statements (NPS) for Energy (EN-1) and 
Renewable Energy (EN-3) and the Written Ministerial Statements on 
renewable energy published in June 2013 by the Secretaries of State for 
Energy and Climate Change and for Communities and Local Government in 
April 2014 and 18 June 2015 (HCWS42).

5.2 Gedling Borough adopted the Gedling Borough Aligned Core Strategy 
(GBACS) on 10th September 2014 and this now forms part of the 
Development Plan along with certain saved policies contained within the 
Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (GBRLP) referred to in Appendix E 
of the GBACS.

5.3 The following paragraphs of the NPPF are of relevance to the principle of this 
application: - 

 NPPF paragraph 28 (Supporting a prosperous rural economy);
 NPPF paragraphs 69 – 78 (Promoting healthy communities);
 NPPF paragraphs 80 – 92 (Protecting Green Belts);
 NPPF paragraphs 93 – 108 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, 

flooding and coastal change);
 NPPF Paragraphs 109 – 125 (Conserving and enhancing the natural 

environment).

5.4 The following policies of the Gedling Borough Aligned Core Strategy 
(September 2014) are relevant to this application: - 

 Policy 1 – Climate Change;
 Policy 3 – Green Belt;
 Policy 16 – Green Infrastructure Parks and Open Space; and 
 Policy 17 – Biodiversity.

5.5.1 The following saved policies of the Gedling Borough Council Replacement 
Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014) are also relevant: -

 Policy ENV1 (Development Criteria);
 Policy ENV 5 (Renewable Energy); 
 Policy ENV36 (Local Nature Conservation Designations); and 
 Policy R1 (Protection of Public Open Space). 

In accordance with paragraphs 214 – 215 of the NPPF due weight should be 
given to the policies of the Replacement Local Plan in accordance to their 
degree of consistency with the framework. Consideration will also need to be 
given to whether policies are out of date in line with paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF. Overall, it is considered that, in terms of this decision, ENV5 should be 
given limited weight while ENV36 and R1 should be given significant weight. 

5.6 On the 18th June 2015 a written ministerial statement on local planning and 
wind farm applications was released by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (HCWS42). The Ministerial Statement states inter-alia: 

Page 77



‘Where a valid application for wind energy development has already been 
submitted to a local planning authority and the development plan does not 
identify suitable sites, the following transitional provision applies. In such 
instances, local planning authorities can find the proposal acceptable if, 
following consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed the planning 
impacts identified by affected local communities and therefore has there 
backing. 

 Given that the application was received October 2014 the application should 
be considered under the transitional provision above. 

In terms of weight to be afforded to this Statement, assessment and 
determination of planning applications should, primarily have regard to the 
policies set out in the Council’s adopted development plan unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Planning Act sets this as a legal requirement. The NPPF gives 
additional weight to this stating that where a proposal accords with an up-to-
date development plan it should be approved without delay as required by the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF). Paragraph 14 also requires the application to be determined in 
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development unless 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole; or specific polices in the Framework indicate that development should 
be restricted. Such policies include Green Belt designation, designated 
heritage assets and policies relating to sites protected under the Birds and 
Habitats Directives. 

Paragraph 196 of the NPPF makes it clear that the Framework itself is a 
material consideration in decision making. Along with the NPPF is National 
Planning Practise Guidance, which is guidance only and not policy, with 
Policy being given greater weight. 

I would recommend that the decision maker should attach substantial weight 
to the Ministerial Statement and whether the planning impacts have been 
addressed, as this represents the most recent expression of government 
planning policy for onshore wind. This view is supported in the Secretary of 
State’s decision at French Farm made in pursuance of section 77 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 ref: APP/J0540/V/14/2220136. My 
interpretation of the wording of the Ministerial Statement is that if the concerns 
raised by residents have been addressed to the point where the impact of the 
development is acceptable then permission can be granted. The statement 
goes on to confirm that whether the impacts are acceptable and therefore has 
the backing of the local community is ‘a planning judgement for the local 
planning authority’. In applying the transitional provision to this application 
proposal the representations received by the local community have been 
considered. 

5.7 The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are: 

Page 78



- 

 Renewable Energy 
 Green Belt 
 Public Benefit
 Local Landscape and Visual Impact 
 Cultural Heritage 
 Nature Conservation 
 Local Residents (Visual Impact, Shadow Flicker and Noise)
 Safety
 Transport and Contamination 
 Other considerations 

6.0 Renewable Energy 

6.1 One of the core principles of the NPPF is that planning should support the 
transition to a low carbon future and encourage the use of renewable energy 
(paragraph 17). 

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF states inter-alia: that planning ‘should support the 
transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate…, and encourage the 
use of renewable resources (for example, by the development of renewable 
energy)’

Planning plays a key role in supporting the delivery of renewable and low 
carbon energy (paragraph 93) and there is a responsibility on all communities 
to contribute to energy generation from these sources (paragraph 97).

Paragraph 98 of the NPPF states when determining planning applications, 
local authorities should: - 

 not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate the 
overall need for renewable or low carbon energy;

 recognise that even small scale projects provide a valuable contribution 
to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

 approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.’

6.2 While permission should not be refused for small scale schemes, the courts 
[(Court of Appeal, Maurice Kay L.J., Patten L.J., Sir Stanley Brunton, May 8, 
2014) 2014 EWCA Civ 599] have ruled that the amount of energy that is 
produced by renewable energy proposal is a material consideration. The 
amount of energy produced by renewable energy proposal should be identified 
to establish the extent of the benefit that would arise from the proposal and 
then compared to its impact. 

6.3 In terms of impacts, the NPPF (paragraph 97) indicates that the approach taken 
in the National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy should be followed, 
while the NPPG also provides a number of issues that should be considered. 
Together they show that the following issues should be considered in regards 
to turbines: 

Page 79



 Biodiversity / Ecology and Geology;
 Historic Environment;
 Cumulative Landscape and Visual Impact; 
 Noise and Vibration; 
 Shadow Flicker and Reflected Light; 
 Traffic and Transport; 
 Electromagnetic Transmissions;
 Safety;
 Decommissioning. 

Evidence regarding the impact of the proposal on each of these areas is 
considered within this report.  

 
6.4 National targets for renewable energy are as follows: 

National targets for renewable energy are as follows:

Source Target

UK Renewable Energy 
Strategy

15% of energy from 
renewable sources by 2020

Climate Change Act 
2008

reduce UK ‘carbon account’ 
by 80% by 2050 from 1990 
baseline

6.5 The Energy Strategy Roadmap Update (November 2013) indicates that 9.7% of 
energy is generated from renewable sources. The Final Statement for the First 
Carbon Period (May 2014) indicates that emissions are around 23.6% lower 
than 1990. Weight would need to be given to the contribution the proposal 
makes to the energy generated from renewable sources and to the reduction in 
carbon emissions.  

6.6  Policy 1 of the ACS supports the development of low carbon energy schemes 
appropriate for the plan area which includes biomass, combined heat and 
power and micro-generation. Significant weight should be given to the ACS. 

6.7 Policy ENV5 (Renewable Energy) of the Gedling Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2008) states permission will 
be granted for renewable energy schemes provided the proposals: 

a. Do not adversely impact the amenity of nearby properties;
b. Do not adversely impact on the openness of the Green Belt; and
c. Are designed, sited and landscaped to minimise impact upon the 

character of the area.

As noted above limited weight should be given to ENV5. 

Page 80



6.8 The need for renewable energy is also set out within other Government 
documents including, The Energy Bill (Nov 2012), Electricity Market Reform: 
Policy Review (Nov 2012), Annual Energy Statement 2012, UK Renewable 
Roadmap Update (Dec 2012), and the National Planning Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure. 

6.9 As a consequence of the national planning policy weight should be attached to 
the contribution the proposal makes to the energy generated from renewable 
sources and to the reduction in carbon emissions.

6.10 The applicant has stated within Section 1 of the Planning Statement that the 
wind turbine would be enabling the supply of electricity of an average 774 
homes. Para 3.5 outlines; in the proposed location the wind turbine has been 
calculated to have a capacity factor of 25%. It is upon this figure that 
calculations on the CO2 savings and number of houses equivalent have been 
calculated. The agent considers this to be a conservative estimate based on 
wind measurements taken from NOABL database which provides wind speeds 
over 1km square area at 10 metres. This data has then been extrapolated to 
derive wind speed measurements at the wind turbine hub height - 66.5 metres.

The wind turbine is calculated to produce 4,170kWh annually, the equivalent of 
powering 774 homes with CO2 savings of 1,937kg/pa 

6.11 It should be noted that the Government places great weight on the need for 
renewable and low carbon energy. This drive for renewable energy production 
can be seen within the NPPF at paragraph 97. 

6.12 The need for renewable energy is also set out within other Government 
documents including, The Energy Bill (Nov 2012), Electricity Market Reform: 
Policy Review (Nov 2012), Annual Energy Statement 2012, UK Renewable 
Roadmap Update (Dec 2012), and the National Planning Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure. 

7.0 Green Belt

7.1 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF states inter-alia: that planning ‘should support the 
transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate…, and encourage the 
use of renewable resources (for example, by the development of renewable 
energy)’

Paragraph 91 of the NPPF and Policy 3 of the ACS identifies, elements of 
many renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate development 
within the Green Belts. ‘Very special circumstances’ which clearly outweigh the 
harm to the openness of the Green Belt and any other harm will need to be 
demonstrated. Significant weight should be given to ACS Policy 3 as far as it is 
relevant to this proposal. 

7.2 Wind turbines are thought to be an ‘engineering use’ as opposed to a ‘building’. 
They will, as such, be classed as inappropriate development within the Green 
Belt unless they maintain the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict 

Page 81



with the purposes of maintaining land within it (NPPF Paragraph 90). 

7.3 It is noted that, at page 21 of the submitted Environmental Report, the applicant 
considers the proposal to be appropriate as it does not cause encroachment 
and has significant benefits. However, given the scale of the proposed turbine it 
is not considered that it will maintain the openness of the Green Belt. Whilst 
there may be benefits associated with the proposal, these do not affect whether 
the proposal is inappropriate or not. It is therefore, considered that the proposal 
is inappropriate development within the Green Belt. This is a consistent 
approach that has been taken with other wind turbines of a similar height in the 
Green Belt. 

Therefore, the applicant is required to demonstrate that there are very special 
circumstances as to why permission should be granted. This is a consistent 
requirement across the NPPF and ACS Policy 3. If it is demonstrated that there 
are very special circumstances which clearly outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt then it is considered that the development is acceptable. 

7.4 I note that the wind turbine would be located to the northeast of an industrial 
estate and a number of properties within Newstead Village and the under 
construction development at Annesley Cuttings. The application site would be 
sited centrally on land that has been transformed from a former colliery into a 
country park for use by the general public, giving access to open countryside. It 
is also noted that there are various blocks of woodland that would assist in 
screening the majority of the development from many of the main receptor 
points looking over the landscape. It is also noted that in this location that there 
are other modern elements such as overhead power lines and pylons to the 
south, in between the application site and Station Avenue. It is noted that 
Station Avenue is tree lined and whilst the development would be visible 
through the trees, it is my view the visual impact would be kept to less than 
substantial through the mature vegetation. Given the development would be 
located on a previous colliery, with a management plan in place to establish it 
as a country park and further improve the landscape value of the area, it is my 
opinion the proposal would only have a limited impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and would only cause a limited degree of encroachment in this 
location.  

7.5 Whilst I consider the impact on the openness of the Green Belt in this location 
would be slight, the scale of the proposed wind turbine means it would not 
maintain the openness of the Green Belt and should be classed as 
inappropriate development. Therefore very special circumstances which clearly 
outweigh the harm to the openness of the Green Belt and any other harm will 
need to be demonstrated. 

7.6 Very special circumstances as to why planning permission should be granted 
are therefore required. If very special circumstances are demonstrated that 
clearly outweigh the impact on the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, it 
is considered that the impact the impact on the Green Belt is acceptable. 

7.7 Mitigation measures to reduce the impact of the proposal are not capable of 

Page 82



being very special circumstances but may help to mitigate the impact on issues 
such as landscape and heritage. Paragraph 91 of the NPPF indicates that 
weight may be given to the wider environmental benefits associated with 
renewable energy generation as a very special circumstance. The wider 
environmental benefits could include the drive to a low carbon future, the 
protection of habitats and species from climate change and the reduced need 
to extract fossil fuels. 

7.8 The lack of an alternative site is one of the very special circumstances usually 
considered. In the case of wind turbines, there is nothing to stop these 
alternative sites being developed in addition to sites within the Green Belt, 
provided the sites are suitable for the proposals. Therefore the availability of a 
suitable non-green belt site is not a ground for refusal as shown at appeals at 
Enifer Downs (ref 2071880) and Carsington Pastures (ref 2054080). However, 
the Courts have ruled that different ways of generating renewable energy on 
site should be assessed as these may be less harmful. 

7.9 The courts have also ruled that the risk of creating a precedent is a material 
consideration especially in the Green Belt where a high bar is set. Where the 
very special circumstances put forward by the applicant are generic or capable 
of being easily replicated on other sites consideration will need to be given to 
the extent to which any very special circumstances could be used on different 
sites leading to a decrease in the openness of the Green Belt. The provisions of 
very special circumstances which are specific and not easily replicable should 
help mitigate the risk of a precedent being created.  

7.10 The Holder decision (paragraph 17) [(Court of Appeal, Maurice Kay L.J.,Patten 
L.J., Sir Stanley Brunton, May 8, 2014) 2014 EWCA Civ 599] has set out that 
alternative methods of producing renewable energy are a material 
consideration.

7.11 The Planning Statement and additional information submitted with the 
application addresses the Green Belt and alternative forms of generating 
energy. The agent advances the following as very special circumstances which 
outweigh harm to the Green Belt: - 

1. The latest International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) scientific 
report;

2. The consideration of the relevant European, National and Local policies;
3. The pivotal economic function of the proposal for the long term survival 

and long term running of the Country Park;
4. The local and wider benefits the development of this proposal would 

bring;
5. The design, environmental and site location considerations. 

It is my opinion that of these the first two are considered to be generic and 
easily replicable; whilst they should be given weight, additional circumstances 
will be required to achieve very special circumstances. 

The agent has expanded on points 3, 4, and 5 with respect to the very special 

Page 83



circumstances within the planning statement and within additional information 
submitted on 17th September 2015. 

 The development would provide infrastructure for the water and 
electricity to the visitor centre currently under construction, approved 
under planning application 2010/0971; 

 The development would assist in the continued delivery of the of the 
outline management plan. The delivery of the plan is to transform the 
former colliery into an ecological sustainable Country Park improving 
access and paths along with ecological and wildlife enhancements;

 Successive Governments have encouraged the voluntary sector to 
reduce their reliance on grant aid and look at ways of generating their 
own income. The Newstead and Annesley Country Park is owned by 
RCAN and managed to maximise the Environmental Social and 
Economic benefit to the area; 

 The Country Park is currently owned by RCAN and the revenue would 
allow for the continued access to the park and open space for the 
communities of Annesley and Newstead and the surrounding area;

 The development would result in a community fund of £7.5k per annum 
to be managed and operated by the local community; 

 There are no alternative sites outside of the Green Belt as this is 
RCAN’s only asset; 

 Alternative sources of income were extensively explored which would 
provide the income necessary to support the future of the Country Park 
and there were no better alternatives; 

 Alternative locations for the wind turbine were explored and resulted in 
the relocation of the proposed wind turbine to minimise the visual impact. 

7.12 I accept that there would be a financial benefit to Rural Community Action 
Nottinghamshire from the generation of on-site renewable energy and that this 
should be given weight. The extent that this, along with the wider environmental 
benefits and contribution to national renewable energy targets, amounts to very 
special circumstances is a combination of the extent of the benefits created 
along with less harmful alternatives. 

7.13 Given that the whole of the site ‘Newstead and Annesley Country Park’ is 
located within the Green Belt I do not consider there to be a better alternative 
site outside of Green Belt for the applicant to provide renewable energy. The 
lack of an alternative site is one of the very special circumstances usually 
considered. In the case of wind turbines, there is nothing to stop these 
alternative sites being developed in addition to sites in the Green Belt, provided 
the sites are suitable for the proposals. Therefore the availability of a suitable 
non-Green Belt site is not a ground for refusal as shown at appeals at Enifer 
Downs (re 2071880) and Carsington Pastures (ref 2054080). However, the 
Courts have ruled that different ways of generating renewable energy on site 
should be assessed as these may be harmful. 

7.14 On the 4th of December 2014 the agent provided further information on the 
alternative forms of renewable energy considered. It is accepted that Biomass 
and Ground Source Heat Pumps are not viable alternatives in this location due 

Page 84



to the technical requirements and critically the technologies provide heat and 
not electricity. An Anaerobic digestion plant was also considered however the 
plant would require significant additional inputs into its delivery. This would 
include the construction of the plant itself requiring an area of 5 to 6 times what 
is being considered for the wind turbine. There would be a requirement of the 
annual delivery to the site of approximately 30,000 tonnes of material to the site 
which would compromise the accessibility to the site for the general public. A 
business plan was submitted to the Borough Council on 17th September 2015 
that indicates that a range of alternative options to the wind turbine were 
explored. Solar power was considered as an alternative to raising the funds for 
the park. Assessment identified that 3.5 ha of land would be required to 
generate 1.5 MW and the financial returns for the solar investment are 
significantly lower. The wind turbine was therefore considered the most suitable 
source of generating electricity. I do not consider that any of these alternative 
forms of energy production would be more appropriate in this instance and the 
wind turbine proposed would be more suited to the rural location providing 
renewable energy and income to support the future of the Country Park. 

7.15 Paragraph 98 states that: - ‘local planning authorities should: 
 Not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate the 

overall need for renewable or low carbon energy and also recognises 
that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting 
greenhouse gas emissions; and 

 Approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.’

7.16 The agent has carefully considered the limitation of the Application Site and 
explored alternative sites for a single wind turbine and assessed the impacts at 
each location. This process incorporated community consultation and 
involvement. The financial contribution required to safeguard the continued 
operation of the Country Park has been balanced against the size of the wind 
turbine and the amount of energy produced.

7.17 It is accepted that the diversification of the rural economy to provide low carbon 
energy and support economic growth along with the continued development, 
improved public access and ecological enhancements to the Country Park do 
constitute a very special circumstance in this instance provided the applicant 
can justify the need for the development weighed against the impacts of the 
wind turbine on the openness of the Green Belt, Heritage Assets, Amenity, and 
Landscape being acceptable. 

7.18 It is therefore important to carefully consider the limitations of the application 
site and the impact of the development on the openness of the Green Belt in 
this location. In my opinion, when all these considerations are balanced against 
the impact of the proposed development would cause to the openness of the 
Green Belt at this location, and the limited extent of encroachment that would 
result (subject to the assessment of these in paragraphs 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 
above), that the special circumstances do outweigh the harm to the Green Belt 
at this location. It is my view that the limitations of the application site and the 
siting of the proposal in relation to other factors such as heritage assets and 
residential properties (considered in detail in the following chapters) along with 

Page 85



the other considerations which would be difficult to replicate and are unique to 
this application. I therefore consider that in this instance very special 
circumstances do exist which could allow this development to go ahead.     

7.19 Whilst I consider that very special circumstances exist these need to be 
balanced against the overall harm to the Green Belt by means of 
inappropriateness, impacts on openness and the other constraining factors. 
The planning impacts that need addressing and balanced against the special 
circumstances established relate to factors such as: 

 Biodiversity / Ecology and Geology;
 Historic Environment;
 Cumulative Landscape and Visual Impact;
 Noise and Vibration;
 Shadow Flicker and Reflected Light;
 Traffic and Transport;
 Electromagnetic Transmissions;
 Safety;
 Decommissioning. 

7.20 In addition the transitional arrangements outlined in the Ministerial Statement 
dated 22nd June are a material consideration that carries significant weight. The 
ministerial statement states ‘local planning authorities can find the proposal 
acceptable if, following consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed the 
planning impacts identified by affected local communities and therefore has 
their backing. The planning impacts raised by local residents will also need to 
be addressed. 

8.0 Public Benefit  

8.1 At the heart of the NPPF there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development with paragraph 28 addressing development in rural areas. There 
is a strong emphasis on the need to assist economic growth in rural areas in 
order to create jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable 
development. Paragraph 28 states inter-alia: - ‘To promote a strong rural 
economy, local and neighbourhood plans should: - … support sustainable rural 
tourism and leisure developments that benefit businesses in rural areas, 
communities and visitors, and which respect the character of the countryside. 
This should include supporting the provision and expansion of tourist and visitor 
facilities in appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing 
facilities in rural service centres.’ 

8.2 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF sets out that access to high quality open spaces can 
make an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of communities. 
Paragraph 74 goes on to identify that existing open space should not be built 
on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the open 
space to be surplus to requirements; or

 The loss would be replaced by equivalent or better provision; or

Page 86



 The development is for alternative sports and recreation provision.

8.3 Policy 16.4 of the ACSS also sets out that open space should be protected 
from development. Exceptions may be made where the development is a small 
part of the Green Infrastructure network and will not be detrimental to its 
function. Exceptions may also be made where the open space is underused or 
undervalued. Alternative scheme designs that have no or little impact should be 
considered before mitigation is provided. Significant weight should be given to 
ACS Policy 16. 

8.4 Replacement Local Plan Policy R1 identifies that planning permission will not 
be granted for development on open space. It also sets out a number of 
exceptions to this. While none of the exceptions are directly relevant to Country 
Parks it is considered that the provision of renewable energy within a Country 
Park can be supported subject to there being no conflict with the use or 
enjoyment of the park. I note that the proposed development would be sited on 
an existing area of aggregate / hardstanding and the impact on the Green 
Infrastructure would be minimal. It is my opinion that the physical development 
of the wind turbine and associated infrastructure would have a negligible impact 
on the enjoyment of the wider park and on the provision of open space. I also 
consider that the improvements sought through the financial benefits of the 
scheme would further enhance the green infrastructure of the park and improve 
access for the community.

8.5 The development would facilitate the opening of the visitor centre and would 
also result in an annual community financial contribution of £7.5k making an 
important contribution to economic growth in a rural area. The agent has 
confirmed that prior to the first export of electricity, a binding legal agreement 
will be submitted to the Borough Council between RCAN and the Friends of 
Newstead, which would include a representative from each of Newstead and 
Annesley Parish Councils, who will manage the £7.5k annual fund.  It is my 
opinion that the proposal would represent sustainable development in line with 
the guidance contained within the NPPF and significant weight should be 
attached to the benefits to the local community. The benefits to the community 
relate to the increased access and the continued long term viability of the 
Country Park making an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of 
the community, the completion of the Visitor Centre supporting the provision 
and expansion of tourist and visitor facilities, and the financial contribution to be 
made through an annual community fund. In this regard, it is considered that 
the proposal has the potential to contribute positively to the rural economy. 

8.6 Should planning permission be forthcoming I would suggest attaching 
conditions to any approval requiring the wind turbine to be decommissioned 
and removed from the site should the Country Park ever cease to give open 
access to the public, and to require the submission of the terms of agreement 
with the community stakeholders who are to manage the community fund.

9.0 Local Landscape and Visual Impact 

9.1 Policy ENV5 of the RLP advises that renewable energy schemes should not 

Page 87



adversely affect the character of prominent ridge lines and should be designed, 
sited and landscaped so as to minimise any impact upon the character of the 
area. However, due to the wording of the policy and its inconsistency with the 
NPPF, little weight should be attached to it in relation to determining this 
application. 

9.2 Policy 10 of the ACS requires all new development outside of settlements to be 
assessed with reference to the Greater Nottinghamshire Landscape Character 
Assessment. 

9.3 The Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
provides guidance on the issues to be considered in relation to the landscape 
and visual impacts of turbines. The visual impacts are concerned with the 
degree to which proposed renewable energy will become a feature in particular 
views, or sequence of views, and the impact that this will have on people 
experiencing those views. The landscape impacts are the effects of the 
proposed development on the fabric, character and quality of the landscape 
and the degree to which the turbine will become a defining characteristic in the 
landscape.  

9.4 At the county level the Greater Nottinghamshire Landscape Character 
assessment 2009 defines countywide landscape areas. The site lies within the 
Magnesium Limestone Ridge Linby Wooded Farmlands PZ ML17. 

The characteristic features of this policy zone include: 

 Flat to gently undulating natural land although restored mineral working 
sites create artificial elevations in the landform

 Small streams flow through the area and there are some small, artificial 
water bodies in the north of the area, on restoration land

 The DPZ has an urban fringe farmland character, influenced by restored 
land, agricultural with pockets of recreation land.

 Field sizes are medium to large and usually irregular in shape
 Hedgerows are often fragmented and are low and scrubby in places
 Large woodland blocks enclose pockets of farmland
 New areas of plantation and regenerating scrub on restored landscapes 

will add to the woodland content of the area as they mature
 Woodland belts follow the linear features through the landscape, such as 

the railway  embankment the streams and roads
 The extensive woodland blocks at Newstead Abbey and Annesley 

Plantation are visible in the adjoining DPZ areas and contribute to the 
wooded character

 The settlement of Newstead has a clear mining heritage and is 
characterised by rows of uniform red brick terraced housing

 Overhead power lines are a common feature crossing the farmland
 Views are open over the farmland but restricted and enclosed by the 

blocks of woodland
 There are long views from the recreational footpaths which cross the 

restored colliery mounds over the young woodland and the farmland 
beyond

Page 88



9.5 I note that The County Landscape Team in their comments assess overall that 
the direct physical impact of the development on the existing landscape would 
negligible. 

9.6 When assessing the impact of the development on the wider character of the 
area I have given careful consideration to the Landscape and Visual 
Assessment submitted by the agent. Whilst I note that the County Council 
requested more information on the wider impact on the landscape character of 
the area, I am satisfied that the information submitted is sufficient to assess the 
wider impacts of the turbine in this instance.

9.7 I accept that the wind turbine would have a significant impact on the landscape 
character in the immediate vicinity of the restored colliery mounds; however, 
the impact remains local and does not extend to a significant wider landscape 
impact outside the local area. I note that the area still carries significant 
characteristics from its previous use as a spoil heap decommissioned in 2000. I 
also note that since February 2011 significant ecological enhancements have 
been made by RCAN to transform the visual appearance of the site and to 
establish it as a viable Country Park. Submitted with the application is a 
management plan for the continued ecological enhancements incorporating 
plantation of broadleaved woodland and coniferous woodland to the north of 
the application site. This continued commitment to the long term viability and 
ecological enhancement of the Country Park would assist in visual mitigation 
from receptor points to the north over time as the woodlands mature. It is my 
view, given the nature of the site and the visual improvements being brought 
forward through the ecology management plan, that there would be a moderate 
adverse impact on the landscape character locally. However, once outside this 
area, impact on the landscape character would be slight as the wind turbine 
would be further away and what could be seen of the wind turbine would be 
viewed in conjunction with other elements, such as the overhead power lines 
and pylons which are a common feature in the farmland as identified in the 
Greater Nottinghamshire Landscape Character Assessment 2009. 

9.8 In assessing the impact of the proposal on the localised landscape, I would 
note the wind turbine would be located on the southeast edge of the Country 
Park and is bounded to the south and east by open undulating agricultural 
fields and restored land. The wind turbine would be sited approximately 635 
metres from the nearest residential properties at Boundary Terrace. However 
the rear gardens back onto the railway line and there is dense vegetation 
separating the properties from the railway line. There would also be a visual 
impact on the new development at Annesley Cuttings; however, I consider that 
the visual impact would be sufficiently mitigated by the mature blocks of 
woodlands which define the landscape inbetween the application site and this 
new residential development. I also note that there would be views from the 
A611 but these would be restricted to road users. On crossing the railway line, 
which in itself is a significant industrial visual characteristic, leaving Newstead 
Village the wind turbine would be seen against Newstead Industrial Estate in 
the foreground leading to the Country Park. Whilst the wind turbine would be 
prominent in this location the wind turbine should be seen in its wider context to 

Page 89



support the Country Park. 

9.9 The landscape was historically defined by the former coal mining use and the 
Country Park has now been established in its location. To the south of the 
application site the landscape is characterised by undulating agricultural fields 
and blocks of woodland. To the north would be the Country Park and further 
blocks of woodland. There would be views to the wind turbine experienced from 
Station Avenue leading to Newstead Abbey Park. Station Avenue is lined with 
mature trees and hedges and any views through from Station Avenue across to 
the proposed wind turbine would also include other modern features such as 
overhead power lines and pylons. 

9.10 Whilst I accept that there would be a significant local impact in the immediate 
vicinity, given the considerations above, I consider there to be only a moderate 
impact on the wider landscape character of the area. This moderate impact 
needs to be balanced against the significant weight to be attached to 
renewable energy schemes. The context of the wind turbine would be seen 
within a relatively newly created Country Park and its purpose would be to 
support the continued enhancement of the site and to provide increased 
ecological improvements. It should be noted that landscapes do change over 
time and that whether development is considered to be ‘bad’ or ‘good’ affect the 
perception of whether the impact of the development is acceptable to those 
viewing it. 

9.11 Given the distances to the wind turbine from the significant vantage points, I 
consider that whilst there would be an adverse impact on the local landscape it 
would be limited to less sensitive locations and in many areas would be part 
screened by blocks of woodland. I also note that there are a number of modern 
additions in the local landscape including electricity pylons and overhead lines.

9.12 I note from the Zone of Theoretical Visualisation indicates that there would be 
certain locations where cumulative impacts from this proposal and other wind 
turbine development would be seen. However, given the considerations set out 
above I do not consider that there would be an undue adverse impact due to 
the cumulative impact of wind turbine developments in this location and 
conclude that these impacts would be less than substantial given the distances 
to other wind turbine development.   

9.13 In light of the above considerations whilst there would be an impact on the 
landscape in visual terms and its character would change, the landscape would 
still be predominantly characterised by the Country Park, blocks of woodland, 
restored former colliery land and agricultural fields, and it is my opinion that the 
change would not be unacceptable particularly given the context of the need for 
renewable energy generation and the siting within an area previously mined for 
fossil fuels that is currently being managed to improve the biodiversity of the 
area. 

10.0 Cultural Heritage 

10.1 Legislation regarding buildings and areas of special architectural or historic 

Page 90



interest is contained in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, the NPPF and RLP Policy ENV21. 

10.2 The NPPF says at paragraph 98 that applicants for energy development 
should not have to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon 
energy. Applications should be approved if their impacts are (or can be made) 
acceptable. The NPPF advises that decision makers should follow the 
approach set out in the National Policy Statement (NPS) for Renewable 
Energy Infrastructure (EN-3), read with the Overarching NPS Energy (EN-1), 
both dated 2011. 

10.3 The NPPF has a number of core principles at paragraph 17 one of these says 
that planning should conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their 
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of 
life of this and future generations. 

10.4 Paragraphs 132 and 133 of the National Planning Policy Framework advise 
that: - 

‘When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. The more important an asset, the greater the weight should be. 
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the 
heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage assets are 
irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing 
justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or 
garden should be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of designated 
heritage assets of the highest significance, should be wholly exceptional.

Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that harm or loss.’

10.5 Section 66 of the 1990 Act requires that: 

‘In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the 
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features pf special 
architectural interest which it possess.’

10.6 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states: 

‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal, including its optimum viable use.’ 

10.7 Particularly relevant for this application is section 5.8 of EN-1 which concerns 
the historic environment. Paragraph 5.8.18 says that when considering 

Page 91



applications for development affecting the setting of a designated heritage 
asset, the IPC (or the decision maker) should treat favourably applications 
that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution 
to, or better reveal the significance of, the asset. When considering 
applications that do not do this, the decision maker should weigh any negative 
impact on the significance of the designated heritage asset, the greater the 
benefits that will be needed to be justify approval. 

10.8 The NPPF defines the setting of a heritage asset as the surroundings in which 
it is experienced. The extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution to the significance of the asset; may affect the ability to 
appreciate that significance; or, may be neutral. 

Historic England guidance: ‘Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 
Planning 3’ indicates that ‘while setting can be mapped in the context of an 
individual application or proposal, it does not have a fixed boundary and 
cannot be definitively and permanently described for all time as a spatially 
bound area or as lying within a set distance of a heritage asset because what 
comprises a heritage asset’s setting may change as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve or as the asset becomes better understood or due to the 
varying impacts of different proposals: for instance, new understanding of 
relationship between neighbouring heritage assets may extend what might 
have previously have been understood to comprise setting.’ 

10.9 The NPPF says that the significance of an asset is defined as its value to this 
and future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only 
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. 

10.10 Heritage significance can be harmed through development within setting. 
Substantial harm to the significance of a Grade II listed building should be 
exceptional. Substantial harm to the significance of designated heritage 
assets of highest significance (including SAMs, Grade I and II* listed 
buildings) should be wholly exceptional. Paragraph 133 of the NPPF says that 
if development would cause substantial harm to significance, then planning 
permission should not be granted unless it can be demonstrated that an 
exception is warranted; an exception would be justified if the substantial harm 
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that would outweigh the 
harm. If the development would cause less than substantial harm, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

10.11 The PPG also provides advice on conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment, saying that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and 
effective conservation delivers wider social, cultural, economic and 
environmental benefits. In assessing whether ‘substantial harm’ in the terms 
of the NPPF is likely to occur, it says: ‘what matters in assessing if proposals 
causes substantial harm is the impact on the significance of the heritage 
asset. As the NPPF makes clear, significance derives not only from a heritage 
asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. Whether a proposal 

Page 92



causes substantial harm will be the judgement for the decision taker, having 
regard to the circumstances of the case and the policy in the NPPF. In 
general terms, substantial harm is a high test, so it may not arise in many 
cases. For example, in determining whether works to a listed building 
constitute substantial harm, an important consideration would be whether the 
adverse impact seriously affects a key element of its special architectural or 
historic interest. It is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance rather than 
the scale of the development that is to be assessed. The harm may arise from 
the works to the asset or from development within its setting. While the impact 
of total destruction is obvious, partial destruction is likely to have considerable 
impact but, depending on the circumstances, it may still be less than 
substantial harm or conceivably no harm at all, for example, when removing 
later inappropriate additions to listed buildings which harm their significance. 
Similarly, works that are moderate or minor in scale are likely to cause less 
than substantial harm or no harm at all. However, even minor works have the 
potential to cause substantial harm.’ 

10.12 The most recent advice in the PPG with regard to how heritage should be 
taken into account in assessing wind turbines application is: ‘As significance 
of a heritage asset derives not only from its physical presence, but also its 
setting, careful consideration should be given to the impact of wind turbines 
on such assets. Depending on scale, design, and prominence a wind turbine 
within the setting of a heritage asset may cause substantial harm to the 
significance of an asset.  

10.13 In accordance with the statutory duty set out in section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (LBCA), special regard 
must be paid to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their settings 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. 
The preservation of setting is to be treated as a desired or sought-after 
objective, and considerable importance and weight attaches to the desirability 
of preserving the setting of listed buildings when weighing this factor in the 
balance. 

10.14 As required by section 72(1) of the LBCA, special attention must also be 
given, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area. The application site is not within a Conservation Area but the proposed 
single wind turbine may be visible from and around Felly, Linby and 
Papplewick Conservation Areas. In a wind turbine case at Asfordby Business 
Park, the Secretary of State noted that special attention should be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of those conservation 
areas whose settings would be affected by the scheme. 

10.15 The most significant heritage assets within 5 km proximity to the application 
site include Newstead Abbey Park and Gardens, Annesley Hall and 
Papplewick Hall. 

10.16 Newstead Abbey Gardens extend to within 580 metres south of the 
application site. The north edge of Newstead Abbey Park is defined by mature 

Page 93



woodland in which the Park and Gardens are enjoyed. The impact on this 
heritage asset would be localised to views as you enter/exit the park from 
Station Avenue and to the north boundary of the Registered Park and Garden. 
The proposed wind turbine would be sited approximately 580 metres to the 
north from this boundary. The construction of a wind turbine in the landscape, 
visible from the setting of the Registered Park and Garden, introduces a 
modern feature in the landscape. This would adjoin other modern attributes in 
the landscape including electricity pylons. It is my opinion given the significant 
distance to the wind turbine combined with other modern features in the 
landscape and the substantial screening that the impact on the setting of this 
Registered Park and Garden, and the Listed Buildings contained within, would 
be less than substantial and would have to be weighed against the public 
benefits of the scheme. I also consider that the development should be seen 
together with, how over time the landscape has changed and been enhanced 
from its previous use as a spoil heap serving a colliery. 

10.17 Papplewick Hall is sited approximately 2.89 kilometres from the application 
site and Annesley Lodge is approximately 2.4 kilometres from the application 
site. The views from the setting of Papplewick Hall and Annesley Lodge are 
all intersected with blocks of mature woodland and undulating landscape 
characteristics which would act as significant screening from the impact of the 
wind turbine. It is my opinion given the significant distances, the significant 
screening, and the location of modern features such as roads, power lines 
and a railway line within the visual landscape the impact on these heritage 
assets would be less than substantial and from most receptor points 
negligible. I do not consider that the proposed wind turbine sited on a previous 
colliery would significantly impact on the interconnectivity of these heritage 
assets and would not significantly impact on the historic relationships between 
these assets. Given the above, it is my opinion that the impact on the setting 
of this heritage asset would be less than substantial and would have to be 
weighed against the public benefits of the scheme.

10.19 Annesley and Felley Conservation Area is sited approximately 1.1 kilometres 
to the west and the zone of theoretical visibility indicate that the turbine would 
be partly visible from this area. Views from the Conservation Area to the 
southeast, and the visualisations submitted, indicate that the wind turbine 
would be partly visible beyond a large block of woodland. It is my opinion, 
given the block of woodland between the Conservation Area and the 
proposed wind turbine would act as a natural screen and a buffer, so the 
structure does not dominate the landscape in an overbearing manner. 
Therefore, I do not consider that the impact on this Conservation Area would 
be substantial in this instance. Given the above, it is my opinion that the 
impact on the setting of this heritage asset would be less than substantial and 
would have to be weighed against the public benefits of the scheme.

10.20 Papplewick and Linby Conservation Areas are experienced largely from within 
the built area. Views from Papplewick Conservation Area are largely to the 
north-east and south-west away from the proposed wind turbine. The Zone of 
Theoretical Visibility indicates that the wind turbine would be visible to the 
north of Linby Conservation Area. The north boundary of the Linby Lane, as 

Page 94



you leave Linby, is defined by mature vegetation and hedgerows that screen 
open views towards the proposed location of the wind turbine. The views 
beyond the hedgerows also incorporate telephone lines and other modern 
features. Linby Conservation Area is also mainly experienced from within the 
built form with views from the Conservation Area being restricted to the 
fringes. To the north of Linby is Freckland Wood which also acts as a natural 
screen from the development. Given the above, it is my opinion that the 
impact on the setting of the Conservation Area would be less than substantial 
and would have to be weighed against the public benefits of the scheme.

10.21 I note the comments from Historic England with regards to potential impacts 
on Damstead and Annesley Castle, however, there is a significant distance to 
these assets beyond the assets assessed above, and I consider that the 
potential impact on these would be low. 

10.22 I note the comments from Historic England with regards to undesignated 
archaeological remains, given the previous use of the site as a spoil heap I 
consider that there would be very little potential to impact on undesignated 
archaeological remains in this instance. I would however attach an informative 
to any approval that should any undesignated archaeological remains be 
found then Nottingham County Council Archaeological Officer should be 
contacted in order to advise on the evaluation and treatment of these. 

10.23 I do not consider that the proposed wind turbine sited on a previous colliery 
would significantly impact on the interconnectivity of the heritage assets 
discussed above and would not significantly impact on the historic 
relationships between these assets. In accordance with the NPPF, given it is 
my opinion that the harm to the settings of heritage assets could be 
commensurate as less than substantial, this impact needs to be weighed 
against the wider public benefits of the proposal. I consider that the weight to 
be given to the contribution that this proposal would make to reducing CO2 
emissions, combating climate change, to renewable targets, and to 
sustainable rural economic development to help secure the future of a 
Country Park for the benefit of the local community, would outweigh the less 
than substantial harm to the heritage assets discussed above. 

11.0 Nature Conservation 

11.1 Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that when determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity by applying the following principles. Where significant impacts 
cannot be adequately mitigated then permission should be refused and if the 
proposal affects a Site of Special Scientific Interest or ancient woodland the 
benefits of the development would need to outweigh the harm to the nature 
conservation interest. 

11.2 I note the comments from Nottingham County Council Ecology with relation to 
the ecological survey carried out providing a good understanding of the 
ecological interest of the application site and the wider Newstead and 
Annesley Park. The proposed wind turbine would be located with the 

Page 95



boundary of the Annesley Pit Tip Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and the ecological 
report identifies the habitat that would be affected by the works as being semi-
improved grassland. I concur with the County ecologist in that overall, the 
footprint of the development is very small compared with the site as a whole, 
and the permanent loss of habitat would be negligible. 

11.3 I note that the agent has responded to the Wildlife Trust concerns with 
regards to the potential impact on bats and birds. During the processing of the 
application the agent has proposed a mitigation area to deal with the potential 
impacts on birds, in particular woodlarks. Whilst I note that the agent has 
submitted a mitigation plan to offset the impact on woodlark, the siting is 
within the 50 metre buffer zone of the proposed development. It is my opinion 
that this mitigation can be made acceptable outside of this buffer zone. 
Should planning permission be forthcoming I would suggest attaching a 
condition to any approval requiring a detailed plan and management schedule 
showing the mitigation area to be designed and enhanced for woodlarks as a 
result of the development. I am satisfied that the provision of adequate 
mitigation area would result in the development addressing the impact on the 
local wildlife. 

11.4 I also note the comments from the County Ecologist whom considers that the 
level of survey undertaken with regards to birds is considered generally 
appropriate. The County have noted that woodlarks are confirmed to be 
present on the site; however, this species is not considered to be at risk of 
collision with wind turbines. Therefore, it appears that the proposed wind 
turbine would not have an impact on the species for which Sherwood Forest 
may become designated as an SPA in the future. I consider that the mitigation 
discussed in paragraph 11.3 would be adequate to address the impact on 
woodlarks at the site. 

11.5 It is also noted that the County Ecologist states that it appears that the 
turbine, in its currently proposed location, would not give rise to any significant 
impact on birds using the site as a result of collision mortality. 

11.6 In order to minimise the impact on bats, Natural England guidance states that 
a 50 metre buffer should be maintained around any feature (e.g. trees and 
hedgerow) into which part of the turbine should intrude, meaning the edge of 
the rotor-swept area needs to be at least 50 meters from the nearest part of 
the habitat feature. I note that the proposed wind turbine would be sited 50 
metres from any significant trees or hedgerows however there are trees to the 
north that are on a slope and can be expected to grow in the future. Section 
1.73 of the Ecological Assessment recognises this and to facilitate the 
development young trees and scrub would need to be removed. Should 
planning permission be forthcoming I would suggest attaching a condition to 
any approval requiring a plan to indicate the extent of tree and scrub removal 
that will be required, calculated in reference to Natural England’s Technical 
Information Note TIN051 taking into account of the adjacent topography. 
Once approved the trees and shrubs in this area will be stump-treated and the 
area maintained as grass land for the life of the development. 

Page 96



11.7 I also note the comments received with regards to the post monitoring surveys 
for bats. Should planning permission be forthcoming I would suggest 
attaching a condition to any approval requiring the submission of a 
programme of post installation monitoring of the bat population and activity at 
the site for a period of 5 years from the completion of the turbine installation. 

11.8 It is my opinion, given the former use of the site as a colliery, the potential to 
mitigate for any adverse impacts on the population of bats and woodlark, and 
the comprehensive ecological management plan to improve the biodiversity of 
the Country Park, there is the potential for the development to facilitate 
ecological improvements to the Country Park and result in an acceptable and 
positive impact on nature conservation in this instance. In this regard I 
consider that significant weight should be given to the ongoing ecological 
enhancements of the Country Park. 

11.9 I note the comments received with regards to the development being 
considered using up to date information about the natural environment and 
other characteristics of the area. During the processing of the application 
additional information and addendums were submitted by the agent to 
address concerns raised by the Wildlife Trust and Nottingham County Council 
Ecology. Given the outcome of this additional information, leading to the 
creation of mitigation measures to address the local impacts, I consider that 
sufficient information has been submitted to account for the impacts of the 
development on the natural environment. 

12.0 Local Residents (Visual Impact, Shadow Flicker and Noise)

12.1 The Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 
2013) provides guidance on how shadow flicker and noise should be 
assessed as part of an application. 

12.2 Paragraph 5.9.18 of EN-1 advises that all proposed energy infrastructure is 
likely to have visual effects for many receptors around proposed sites and that 
judgement has to be made on whether the visual effects on sensitive 
receptors, such as local residents and visitors to the area, outweigh the 
benefits of the project. EN-3 states at paragraph 2.7.6 that appropriate 
distances should be maintained between wind turbines and sensitive 
receptors to protect the amenity, the two main impact issues being visual 
amenity and noise. 

12.3 With regard to shadow flicker paragraph 35 of the document advises that 
under certain combinations of geographical position and time of day, the sun 
may pass behind rotors of a wind turbine and cast shadow over neighbouring 
properties. When blades rotate, the shadow flickers on and off. Only 
properties within 130 degrees either side of north, relative to the turbine would 
be affected. The guidance goes on to advise that modern wind turbines can 
be controlled so as to avoid shadow flicker. 

12.4 The Guidance state that the report The Assessment and Rating of Noise from 
Wind Farms (ETSU-R-97) should be used by local planning authorities when 

Page 97



assessing and rating noise from wind energy developments.

12.5 The closest properties to the proposed wind turbine would be located at 
Boundary Terrace and the new residential development at Annesley Cuttings 
and properties on Station Avenue leading to Newstead Abbey Park. 

12.6 For the properties closest to the wind turbine, the turbine is likely to be a 
significant and prominent feature on the landscape for the occupants of these 
properties. 

12.7 The proposed wind turbine would be screened for the majority of properties in 
Newstead Village and Annesley Cuttings due to the location of a significant 
block of woodland. There is also significant vegetation along Station Avenue 
with mature hedgerows and trees which would help mitigate the prominence 
on the landscape from these receptor points. I also consider that when the 
development at Annesley Cuttings is completed, the residential development 
would largely be experienced from within the built form and views out of the 
development would be mitigated by the mature vegetation. 

12.8 In relation to the visual impact of the proposed turbine on local residents, on 
balance, given the distances between the properties and the proposal, the 
various blocks of woodland in the landscape, and the undulating topography 
of the landscape, I do not consider that the proposed single wind turbine 
would be visually intrusive, overly prominent, or overbearing enough to be a 
reason for refusal in this instance. 

12.8 I also consider that the introduction of a single wind turbine in the landscape 
would be preferable to a cumulative impact of multiple smaller wind turbines 
that would produce the comparable CO2 saving and energy production. Given 
the limitations of the site I consider that the single wind turbine within this 
established landscape of this height and scale would be acceptable in this 
instance. 

12.9 I note the representations received with regards to the adverse visual impact 
of the development. The visual impact on the character on the landscape and 
heritage has been discussed in more detail in Sections 8.0 and 9.0 above. 
Given the topography of the land, the siting of the proposed wind turbine, the 
height to the tip, and the blocks of mature woodland, I consider that the 
application is acceptable in terms of impact of the development local 
residents. Whilst I note that the wind turbine would be visible from a number 
of receptor points, the visual impacts would be kept to a minimum in the 
location proposed and this less than substantial visual impact will need to be 
weighed against the public benefit of the scheme. 

12.10 The noise impact assessment submitted by the applicant has been reviewed 
by Public Protection. Public Protection concluded that the noise levels would 
fall within normal ETSU-R-97 limits for daytime and night time at nearby 
dwellings. As the levels are acceptable no objections were raised.

12.11 To ensure that noise levels do accord with the ETSU-R-97 it is recommended 

Page 98



that a condition be imposed on any planning consent. 

12.12 I note the comments received with regards to the ‘unfitness’ of the ETSU 97 
document to assess the potential impact of noise. However, The Planning 
Practise Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy advises that local 
planning authorities should use this documentation when assessing noise 
from wind turbines. The representation outlines that the submitted information 
relates to average wind speeds and there is a potential noise increase by 3.2 
dB(A) in high winds. However, following further consultation with Public 
Protection, I do not consider the potential for an increase in noise of 3 dB(A) 
in high winds to be significant in this instance. This is further reinforced from 
the following excerpt from The Little Red Book of Acoustics: ‘A 3dB change in 
level is generally just noticeable, and is a small change in the perceived level, 
even though it is a doubling of energy’.   

12.10 I note that a shadow flicker assessment has been submitted within Chapter 10 
of the Environmental Report using WindPro 2.9, an industry standard analysis 
package. The predictions are worst case in the sense that the calculations are 
based on information that the sun is never obscured by clouds. This analysis 
concludes that the impact on surrounding properties would be limited to a 
possibility of shadow flicker at a small number of properties for less than 7 
minutes a year. Given the distances from the wind turbine to the closest 
residential properties and the maximum impacts being 7 minutes in a year it is 
my opinion that no residential properties would be significantly adversely 
impacted by shadow flicker. It is also noted that Public Protection have not 
raised any concerns with regards to shadow flicker. 

12.11 I note the comments received with regards to the potential for the wind turbine 
to detract users to the park, visitor centre, and fishing lakes due to the 
proximity of the proposed development and the potential visual and noise 
impacts. I consider that, given the special circumstances put forward by the 
agent, the historic use of the site as a former colliery, and the improvements 
made by RCAN to develop the former spoil heap into a Country Park, that the 
proposed development of the wind turbine should be seen as facilitating 
development allowing for the future viability of the County Park for the general 
public. I therefore would not attach significant weight to the potential for the 
wind turbine development to detract some users to the park due to this 
needing to be balanced against the public benefit of the development 
facilitating the future viability, ecological enhancements and maintenance of 
the Country Park.  

12.12 I note the comments received with regards to the development being contrary 
to Policy ENV32 of the GBRLP given that the wind turbine would be 
prominent on the ridgeline when viewed from Hucknall and Linby. However, 
the proposed development does not fall on any of the Primary or Secondary 
ridgelines identified on the Gelding Borough Council Replacement Local Plan 
Proposals Map and therefore this policy is not relevant in this instance. 
However, the visual impacts and impacts on the surrounding villages and 
Conservation Areas have been carefully considered in sections 9.0 and 10.0 
above. 

Page 99



13.0 Transport, Communication and Safety

13.1 The Planning Practise Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
provides guidance on how safety is to be assessed in relation to wind 
turbines. The document requires consideration to be given to fall over 
distance, power lines, air traffic safety, defence, radar and the strategic road 
network. 

13.2 I note the Highway Authority have raised no objections to the proposed 
development in relation to the traffic that would be associated with the 
construction, operational and decommissioning stages of the proposal. I do 
note however that they have requested an informative be attached to any 
approval advising that it would be beneficial and good public relations if a 
letter drop was undertaken to residents of Tilford Road asking they park on 
one side of the carriageway on the date of the abnormal load to ensure 
adequate passage. An informative would also be attached advising the 
applicant to contact the Highway Authority Network Coordination Officer with 
regards to the date of the abnormal load to check for road closures and road 
works. Whilst I note the concerns from local residents raised in relation to the 
access roads and the construction traffic through the villages and past the 
school I do consider that the proposed traffic management plan is adequate to 
sufficiently mitigate any adverse impact from abnormal load and construction 
traffic. 

13.3 I note that following re-examination of the wind turbine, NATS have removed 
their objection as mitigation is available which can be funded by the 
developer. Should planning permission be forthcoming a condition would be 
attached to any approval requiring the formal approval of NATS to be 
submitted to the Borough Council and approved before the development is 
first commenced. 

13.4 I note that no objections have been received from local airport operators or 
the Ministry of Defence (MOD) in relation to the impact of the development on 
local air traffic. Should planning permission be forthcoming a condition would 
be attached to any approval requiring the developer to notify the MOD of the 
date that construction starts and ends, the maximum height of the equipment 
and the latitude and longitude of the turbine. 

13.5 OFCOM was consulted as part of this application and this consultation 
resulted in no representations being received. When referring to the National 
Planning Policy Statement for Renewable Energy other issues that need to be 
considered in regards to wind turbines include Electro-magnetic 
Transmissions. It is my opinion that any potential mitigation works, should any 
complaints be received in relation to electro-magnetic interference, can be 
suitably mitigated by condition. I note that the agent has agreed to the 
wording of the condition.  

13.6 With regards to fall over distance, it is recommended that wind turbines are 
sited at a minimum distance of the height of the wind turbine from ground to 

Page 100



tip plus 10% from any buildings. In relation to this wind turbine this distance 
would be 110 metres. The closest building to the application site is the visitor 
centre serving the Country Park which is over 250 metres from the wind 
turbine. No properties are located within this distance from the turbine.  

13.7 The closest National Grid power line lies approximately 270 metres of the 
proposed wind turbine. The National Grid buffer distance between wind 
turbines from and power lines is three times the rotor distance, in this instance 
this would be 231 metres. The proposed turbine would therefore be at 
sufficient distance so as not to cause any potential safety implications in 
relation to the power lines. 

13.8 I note the comments received regarding the construction of a wind turbine on 
a former colliery which could have structural or technical implications. 
However, the construction of the wind turbine would be a matter for the 
developer and the fall over distance has been observed. I would not attach 
significant enough weight to the construction being on a former coal mine to 
warrant a refusal of the application in this instance. 

13.9 I note the comments received with regards to the wind shear, ice throw and 
amplitude modulation. However, I am satisfied that the agent has accounted 
for the requirements of The Planning Practise Guidance for Renewable and 
Low Carbon Energy with regards to safety of the development and consider 
that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of Transport, Communication 
and Safety. 

14.0 Contamination

14.0 I note that Public Protection has raised no objection in relation to potential 
contamination at the site.  

15.0 Other Considerations 

15.0 I note neighbouring comments with regards to the economic viability of the 
scheme without Government subsidy. However, the direct benefits of the 
scheme to the Country Park are by way of land rental and I would give the 
commercial economic viability of the scheme very little weight in the planning 
balance. 

15.1 I note the neighbouring representations with relation to the impact of the 
development on the Green Belt, the Historic Environment, the Visual Impact 
on the Landscape, Renewable Energy, Nature Conservation, and Residential 
Amenity and the compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local Plan. The impact of the 
development in relation to National and Local Policy is assessed with regards 
to these matters in depth in Sections 6.0, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0 and 10.0 above.   

15.2 I note the representations received with regards to the accuracy of the photo 
montages submitted with the application. Whilst I accept that there is no 
evidence to suggest that these are precise representations of the wind 

Page 101



turbine, in my opinion they are a useful visual representation which allows any 
interested parties viewing the application to get a better understanding of how 
the development would look within the existing landscape. I do not consider 
that the accuracy of the lens type used to produce the photomontages would 
carry significant enough weigh to warrant a refusal of this application.  

15.3 I note the comments received with regards to the development setting 
standards for future developments in the area and a precedent for 
development being set. During the processing of the application the agent has 
submitted site specific details on the need for the turbine that has been 
proposed. A business plan and alternative ways of generating income have 
been provided addressing the special circumstances relating to the future 
viability of the Country Park to secure the ongoing management and 
ecological enhancements. These factors along with the factors referred to in 
The Planning Practise Guidance for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
need to be addressed on future applications. These include Biodiversity / 
Ecology and Geology; Historic Environment; Cumulative Landscape and 
Visual Impact; Noise and Vibration; Shadow Flicker and Reflected Light; 
Traffic and Transport; Electromagnetic Transmissions; Safety; 
Decommissioning. All these factors need to be considered with future 
applications for wind turbines and would need to satisfy the tests on their own 
merit. Given the level of detail required, the mitigating factors to do with the 
specific location of future applications for future wind turbines would be 
assessed on their individual merits against these factors.

15.4 I note the comments with regards to the profits not going to the local 
community. However, I would note that there is to be a community fund to be 
set up for the benefit of the community and the long term viability of the 
Country Park has a benefit to the community with regards to the increased 
access to open countryside. 

15.5 I note the comments with regards to alternative locations being considered for 
the proposed wind turbine. The Environmental Report submitted by the agent 
discusses two locations that were explored by the applicant given the 
limitations of the Country Park all being within the Green Belt I can except that 
there were no non Green Belt locations available to the applicant. I am 
satisfied that the agent has considered the site limitations and alternative 
locations in this instance. 

15.6 I am satisfied, given the distance of approximately 1.8 km to Robin Hoods 
Way, and the distances between all rights of way outside of the Country Park 
that there would be no significant impact on horses and ramblers using the 
registered footpaths in the area. It is also noted that Robin Hoods Way enters 
into Newstead Abbey Park to the South and that the majority of the path in 
this location would be screened by mature woodland. 

15.7 I note the comments from Newark and Sherwood District Council with regards 
to the cumulative impacts of wind turbines when considering the site as a 
whole. I note the wind turbines that have been constructed within Newark and 
Sherwood and those with extant permission, however, given the distances to 

Page 102



the nearest wind turbines I am satisfied that there would not be an undue 
cumulative impact from wind turbines in the area. 

16.0 Conclusions 

16.1 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, for decision making purposes this means approving 
development proposals that accord with the development plan, and where the 
development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, granting 
planning permission unless: 

 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in this framework indicate the development should be 
restricted. 

16.2 In light of the considerations given above in relation to 

 Renewable Energy 
 Green Belt 
 Public Benefit
 Local Landscape and Visual Impact 
 Cultural Heritage 
 Nature Conservation 
 Local Residents (Visual Impact, Shadow Flicker and Noise)
 Transport Communication and Safety
 Contamination  
 Other considerations 

I consider that, on balance and taking into account the benefits that would be 
generated as a result of this proposal, that it would constitute sustainable 
development. In reaching this conclusion I have had regard to paragraph 98 
of the NPPF which advises that when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should approve the application if impacts are, or can be 
made acceptable. Given the considerations set out in sections 6.0 – 15.0, 
above, I consider that it has been demonstrated that on balance the planning 
impacts have been addressed, are outweighed by the public benefits that 
result from the scheme, and therefore the impacts of the proposal have been 
made acceptable. 

16.3 In considering the impacts of the proposed development, the planning issues 
raised by the local community have been considered in chapters 6.0 – 15.0 
above. It is considered that on balance the proposals are acceptable and that 
any harm material to the determination of this proposal is outweighed by the 
benefits the turbine would bring. In respect of the Ministerial Statement 
released on 18th June 2015, if the concerns raised by residents have been 
addressed to the point where the impact is made acceptable, then permission 
can be granted.  The statement goes on to confirm that whether the impacts 
are addressed and therefore has the backing of the local community is ‘a 

Page 103



planning judgement for the local planning authority’. In my opinion all the 
planning matters raised by those objecting to the scheme have been 
acceptably addressed and outweighed by the overall benefit of the proposal. 

16.4 This application has been advertised as a departure; however, the application 
is only required to be referred to Secretary of State if the development by 
reason of its scale or nature or location, would have a significant impact on 
the openness of the Green Belt. Given the conclusions drawn in the Green 
Belt section of this report, I do not consider that this application should be 
referred to the Secretary of State. 

Recommendation:

To GRANT CONDITIONAL PLANNING PERMISSION. 

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from 
the date of this decision. Written confirmation of the date when electricity is 
first exported to the grid from the wind turbine hereby permitted (First Export 
Date) shall be submitted to the Borough Council within one month of the date 
of this taking place.

2. This permission shall endure for a period of 25 years from the First Export 
Date (of electricity to the grid), after which the use shall cease, and the 
turbine, ancillary structures, crane erection and lay down areas shall be 
removed from the site, and the land restored in accordance with details to be 
approved in writing under condition 18 below. The site shall be 
decommissioned in accordance with the details to be approved under 
condition 18.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans except insofar as may be otherwise required by 
other conditions of this planning permission: Newstead and Annesley Wind 
Turbine Environmental Report dated October 2014 received on 14th October 
2014; The Planning Statement dated November 2014; The Design and 
Access Statement received on 14th October 2014; and the GLM Ecology - 
The Newstead 3 Addendum dated 16th September 2015.

4. Before development hereby approved is first commenced, precise details and 
elevations of the proposed wind turbine and transformer cabin housing shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. The wind 
turbine shall be of a 3-blade configuration and not exceed an overall height of 
100 metres measured from ground level to the tips of the turbine blades. The 
blades of the wind turbine shall not have a rotor diameter of more than 77 
metres. The hub height of the turbine shall be no more than 61.5 metres 
measured from ground level to the top of the hub. The transformer cabin shall 
have the following parameters: No wider than 4.5 metres, no longer than 10.5 
metres, and it shall have a ridge height no more than 3 metres. The 

Page 104



development shall be implemented in accordance with the written approval.

5. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, and any associated 
materials transported to the site, a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. The 
Plan shall include the following: (i) A comprehensive study of the agreed 
delivery route to the application site including identification of the route where 
highway accommodation works will be required including the clearance of any 
vegetation and removal of street furniture; (ii) A schedule indicating the time 
for off peak construction deliveries; (iii) Details of measures to be taken to 
manage and control construction traffic on the agreed construction route and 
site access to include advance notification signage, abnormal load traffic 
warning signs and any temporary speed limits/traffic regulation orders; (iv) 
Details of measures to be taken to manage the proposed hedge and tree 
cutting including signage. (vi) details specifying how any damage caused by 
construction traffic to the highway along the agreed route shall be made good. 
The Construction Traffic Management Plan shall thereafter be implemented 
as approved prior to any construction works taking place on site and as 
required during the construction of the development.

6. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, and any associated 
materials transported to the site, precise details of the hardstanding for 
construction traffic and details of improvements to the access track for the 
turbine delivery vehicles shall be provided in accordance with the plans to be 
first submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. The 
hardstanding and servicing areas as approved shall thereafter be retained for 
the life of the development and decommissioned in accordance with details 
submitted under condition 19 of this approval.

7. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a habitat 
management plan to deal compensatory area to be managed specifically for 
woodlarks shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough 
Council (as indicated in the GLM Ecology Addendum 3). The schedule shall 
contain the precise location of the mitigation area outside of the 50 metre 
buffer zone of the blade overhang, details of the works to be undertaken and 
a timescale for the works to be carried out. Ecological site enhancement 
works shall be completed in accordance with the approved schedule. 
Mitigation should not compromise features which give the site botanical 
interest within the Local Wildlife Site boundary.

8. All construction work associated to the installation shall be undertaken outside 
of the bird-breeding season (March - September inclusive). Should works be 
carried out during this time, a suitably qualified ecologist shall be on site to 
survey for nesting birds, with a copy of the survey undertaken and any works 
required at the site to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough 
Council prior to the commencement of development at the site. Works shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details.

9. Prior to the erection of the wind turbine, details of the colour finish of the 
turbine tower, nacelle and blades shall be submitted to and approved in 

Page 105



writing by the Borough Council. Development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

10. Prior to the erection of the substation, details of the colour and type of 
materials to be used for the external walls and roof shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Borough Council. The size of the substation shall 
be in accordance with the parameters set out in condition 4 above. 
Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

11. Before development hereby approved is first commenced, precise details, 
including depths of the proposed wind turbine foundations to be constructed 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. The 
foundations as approved shall thereafter be retained for the life of the 
development and decommissioned in accordance with details submitted 
under condition 19 of this approval.

12. All cables within the development site from the turbine to the substation shall 
be set underground.

13. Prior to the First Export Date, a scheme providing a protocol for the 
investigation and alleviation of any electro-magnetic interference to terrestrial 
television caused by the operation of the wind turbine shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Borough Council. The protocol shall also 
include full contact details of who to contact in relation to the development 
should the Borough Council receive a complaint from a local resident within 
12 months of the first export date.  The protocol shall provide for the 
investigation by a qualified independent television engineer of any complaint 
of interference with television reception at a lawfully occupied dwelling 
(defined for the purposes of this condition as a building within Use Class C3 
and C4 of the Use Classes Order) which lawfully exists or had planning 
permission at the date of this permission, where such complaint is notified to 
the developer by the Borough Council within 12 months of the first export 
date. Where impairment is determined by the qualified television engineer to 
be attributable to the development, mitigation works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the protocol which has been approved in writing by the 
Borough Council

14. The Applicant must notify East Midlands Airport in writing that the wind turbine 
is in operation. This shall be done within 1 month, of the turbine commencing 
operation and the Borough Council shall be sent a copy of the notification 
made to East Midlands Airport.

15. The rating level of noise from the wind turbine (including the application of any 
tonal penalty) when calculated in accordance with the method described in 
the guidance document 'ETSU-R-97: The Assessment and Rating of Noise 
from Wind Farms' shall not exceed 35dBa for daytime and 43dBa for night 
time at the nearest residential property (Foundry Terrace: Grid Reference 
easting 452,079 Northing 353,048).

Page 106



16. Within 28 days from the receipt of a written request from the Borough Council, 
following a substantiated complaint to it, the wind turbine operator shall, at its 
expense, employ an independent consultant approved by the Borough 
Council to assess the level of noise generated by the wind turbine, following 
the method described in ETSU-R-97 referred to in condition 15.  Within 60 
days of appointing the independent consultant, unless agreed otherwise in 
writing with the LPA, the ETSU-R-97 noise assessment shall be completed 
and submitted to the Borough Council. Prior to the commencement of the 
noise measurement and assessment the monitoring locations shall be agreed 
in writing with the Borough Council.  If wind turbine Noise levels are measured 
and found to exceed those levels set out in Condition 15 the necessary 
corrective action should be taken within 30 days to reduce the levels to those 
set out in condition 15 and further noise assessment carried out to ensure 
compliance with condition 15. Copies of the results on noise assessments 
made after remedial action has been taken should also be submitted to the 
Borough Council.   A complaint shall be considered 'substantiated' where the 
Borough Council has conducted a preliminary investigation and taken into 
consideration the data requested as per condition 15 and judged that the 
complaint warrants further investigation by the operator to demonstrate that 
the noise limits are not being breached.

17. The wind turbine operator shall continuously log power production, wind 
speed and wind direction, all in accordance with Guidance Note 1 (d) of 
ETSU-R-97. These data shall be retained for a period of not less than 24 
months. The wind farm operator shall provide this information in the format set 
out in Guidance Note 1 (e) to the Borough Council on its request, within 14 
days of receipt in writing of such a request.

18. If the wind turbine hereby approved ceases to operate for a continuous period 
of 6 months unless otherwise approved in writing by the Borough Council, a 
scheme for the decommissioning and removal of the wind turbine and any 
other ancillary equipment, including a timetable for its removal, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council, within 3 months 
of the end of the 6 month cessation period. The approved scheme shall 
thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

19. Prior to the decommissioning of the site a scheme setting out a programme of 
works required to undertake decommissioning works, together with details of 
any access widening required, alteration to junctions, details of the abnormal 
load routes together with details of how any required off-site traffic 
management measures along the proposed route of decommissioning traffic, 
details of how the site shall be restored and landscaped once structures have 
been removed and a schedule of works required and timescales for 
undertaking the restoration shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Borough Council. The site shall be decommissioned in accordance with 
the approved details.

20. Prior to the first export of electricity a legally binding agreement between 
Rural Community Action Nottinghamshire (RCAN) and the Friends of 
Newstead,  who will manage the annual £7.5k annual community fund, shall 

Page 107



be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. Rural 
Community Action Nottinghamshire shall provide the £7.5k fund annually in 
line the terms of the legally binding agreement. The agreement shall be 
adhered to for the life of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Borough Council.

21. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a reptile mitigation 
management plan should be submitted to and approved by the Borough 
Council which meets the criteria for designation as a herptile Local Wildlife 
Site. The reptile mitigation plan should include details of the habitat to be 
created and its location. Any reptiles found during the construction and 
decommissioning of the development should be removed to the receptor area 
that is suitably fenced to prevent them from re-entering the proposed 
construction area.

22. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme 
setting out a monitoring programme in relation to Bats shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The monitoring 
programme shall cover a period of three years from the first export date of 
electricity to the grid. A minimum of 3 transect surveys per year between April 
and October including 1 dawn survey shall be carried out. The findings and 
the results of the surveys, together with any proposed mitigation measures 
and timescales for carrying out any mitigation shall be submitted as a report to 
the Local Planning Authority and shall be approved in writing by the Borough 
Council. The reports shall be submitted within three months of each survey 
being undertaken. Any further mitigation required shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details in relation to each survey undertaken.

23. Should Newstead and Annesley Country Park cease to operate and access to 
the open space for the general public be restricted then the wind turbine shall 
be decommissioned within 6 months of the date of the closure of the Country 
Park in accordance with details submitted under Condition 19 above.

24. Prior to the first export of electricity the formal approval from NATS with 
regards to the approved mitigation measures shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Borough Council in writing. The wind turbine installation shall 
conform with the mitigation measures approved for the life of the 
development.

25. The applicant must notify the Ministry of Defence (MOD) the date that 
construction starts and ends; the maximum height of the equipment and the 
latitude and longitude of the turbine. Prior to development commencing the 
Borough Council shall be sent a copy of the notification made to the MOD.

26. Before the development hereby approved is commenced, a plan indicating a 
50 metres buffer from the rotor swept area, showing the extent of tree and 
shrub removal required (calculated with reference to Natural England's 
Technical Information Note TIN051 and taking into account of the adjacent 
topography) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough 
Council. The 50 metre buffer zone shall be provided in accordance with the 

Page 108



approved details before the first generation of electricity from the wind turbine. 
Once approved the trees and shrubs within this area shall be stump treated 
(to prevent re-growth) and the area shall maintained as grassland for the life 
of the development.

27. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
mitigation measures outlined in sections 1.78 and 1.80 of the GLM Ecological 
Assessment dated 2014 with regards to the protection of badgers, reptiles 
and amphibians.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

2. This is a temporary permission and condition 2 is attached for the avoidance 
of doubt.

3. For the avoidance of doubt.

4. To ensure a satisfactory development in accordance with the aims of of Policy 
ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies 
Saved 2014).

5. In the interests of highway safety

6. For the avoidance of doubt.

7. To ensure the provision of ecological enhancements to enhance biodiversity, 
in accordance with the aims of Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough 
(September 2014).

8. In order to safeguard the local bird population in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough (September 
2014).

9. To ensure a satisfactory development in accordance with the aims of of Policy 
ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies 
Saved 2014).

10. To ensure a satisfactory development in accordance with the aims of of Policy 
ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies 
Saved 2014).

11. To ensure that the precise details of the turbine are defined in order for the 
Borough Council to control the nature of the development in accordance with 
the aims of of Policy ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan 
(Certain Policies Saved 2014).

Page 109



12. To safeguard the appearance of the site in accordance with the aims of of 
Policy ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain 
Policies Saved 2014).

13. To ensure that any adverse impacts on terrestrial television reception in the 
area is appropriately mitigated.

14. To ensure that East Midlands Airport are advised that the turbine has 
commenced operation

15. In order to safeguard the aural amenity of the site and neighbouring 
residential properties in accordance with the guidance contained within EN-3, 
paragraph 2.7.6.

16. In order to safeguard the aural amenity of the site and neighbouring 
residential properties in accordance with the guidance contained within EN-3, 
paragraph 2.7.6.

17. To enable the Borough Council to monitor noise impacts and to monitor 
against condition 18.

18. To ensure that the site is decommissioned appropriately should the turbine 
cease to operate for a continuous period of 6 months.

19. To ensure that when the site ceases operation at the time stated within 
condition 2 above that decommissioning works take place in an appropriate 
manner and that the site is restored to a suitable condition.

20. In order to secure the financial public benefit of the scheme with the relevant 
stakeholders in the community.

21. To ensure the provision of ecological enhancements to enhance biodiversity, 
in accordance with the aims of Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough 
(September 2014).

22. To ensure the provision of ecological enhancements to enhance biodiversity, 
in accordance with the aims of Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough 
(September 2014).

23. To ensure the site is decommissioned appropriately should the Country Park 
cease to operate for the benefit of the local community.

24. In order to safeguard potential impacts on air traffic in the local area.

25. In order to ensure the MOD have received the requested information relating 
to the development.

Page 110



26. To ensure there is no adverse impacts on the local bat population as a result 
of the wind turbine in line with paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (March 2012).

27. To ensure there is no adverse impacts on the local wildlife populations, in 
accordance with the aims of Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 17 of the Aligned Core Strategy for Gedling Borough 
(September 2014).

Reasons for Decision

Paragraph 98 of the NPPF advises that when determining planning applications for 
renewable energy schemes, local planning authorities should approve the 
application if its impacts are, or can be made acceptable. In the opinion of the 
Borough Council it has been demonstrated that the impacts of the proposal are 
acceptable.

Notes to Applicant

For the purpose of good public relations you are advised that it would be beneficial if 
a letter drop was undertaken to residents of Tilford Road asking that they park on 
one side of the carriageway on the date of the abnormal load to ensure adequate 
passage. You are advised to contact the Highway Authority Network Coordination 
Officer with regards to the abnormal load to check for road closures and road works.

In assessing this application, officers have worked with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner consistent with the requirements of paragraphs 186-187 of the 
NPPF. This included seeking additional information in order to assess the application 
and its impacts. Further information was sought with regards to mitigation measures 
required given the Local Wildlife designation of the application site and the 
requirements of NATS with regards to air traffic.

There is an international civil aviation requirement for all structures of 300 feet (91.4 
metres) or more to be charted on aeronautical charts. In the interests of Aviation 
safety, the Civil Aviation Authority requests that any feature/structure 70 feet in 
height, or greater, above ground level is notified to the Defence Geographic, 
including location(s) height(s) and lighting status of the feature/structure, the 
estimated and actual dates of construction and the maximum height of any 
construction equipment to be used, at least 6 weeks prior to the start of construction 
to allow for the appropriate notification to the relevant aviation communities.

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 2015/0941

Location: Proposed 231 Mapperley Plains, Arnold, Nottinghamshire.

NOTE: 
 This map is provided only for purposes of site location and should not be read as an up to date representation of the area around the site.
Reproduced with the permission of the Controller of H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright No. LA 100021248
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution of civil proceedings

Page 113

Agenda Item 7.



Report to Planning Committee

Application Number: 2015/0941

Location: Proposed 231 Mapperley Plains, Arnold, Nottinghamshire.

Proposal: Variation of Condition 2 and removal of Conditions 4 and 8 of 
Application 2013/1003 (Erect two storey house following 
demolition of existing bungalow) relating to amended plans, 
landscaping and tree protection measures.

Applicant: Mr Azar Yousaf

Agent: Mr Michael Wakerley

Case Officer: Ashley Langrick

This planning application has been referred to Planning Committee by 
Delegated Members’ Panel.

Site Description

The application site relates to a plot of land on the corner of Gedling Road and 
Mapperley Plains in Arnold.  A detached bungalow previously occupied the site, 
however, following previous planning permissions as well as the partial discharge of 
planning conditions, the bungalow has now been demolished and a replacement two 
storey property is in the process of being erected.  

The closest neighbouring properties to the site are 233 Mapperley Plains Road, a 
large detached two storey dwelling located to the north east of the site, and 4 Ruffles 
Avenue, a detached bungalow located immediately to the rear of the site.  The 
boundary treatment separating the site from the neighbouring dwellings comprises 
an approximately 2 metre high concrete panel fence.  The outside perimeter of the 
site presently comprises temporary boarding erected during the period of 
construction.  

Despite previous conditions, existing trees within the site were removed, so very little 
by way of trees and vegetation now remain on the site (to be discussed in more 
detail under the ‘Planning Considerations’ section).  In terms of land levels the site 
itself is relatively flat but the land falls away beyond the site boundary to the north-
west.  

With regard to the Proposals Map comprising the Gedling Borough Replacement 
Plan (2005), the site is located within the established urban residential area of 
Arnold. 

Page 114



Planning History

2013/1003 – Erect two storey house following demolition of existing bungalow.  

2014/0533 - Revised Scheme for Site Entrance including Dropped Kerb on Gedling 
Road for single dwelling on site of 231 Mapperley Plains Road.  

2014/1385DOC – Formal discharge of planning conditions in relation to erect two 
storey house following demolition of existing bungalow (2013/1003).  

Proposed Development

Following the approval of detailed planning permission for the erection of a two 
storey house to replace a bungalow, the applicant sought to discharge planning 
conditions.  In between these applications a separate submission was granted to 
provide a revised scheme of access/egress arrangements, including the dropping of 
a kerb onto Gedling Road.  

With regard to the formal discharge of condition submission, a letter was sent to the 
applicant’s agent in June 2015 to discharge a number of planning conditions.  
Significantly, the letter also refused to approve a condition (no. 4) relating to a 
landscaping scheme and the method of tree protection as a result of the removal of a 
number of trees from the site.  Linked to condition 4 was condition 8 which sought to 
ensure that the tree protection measures detailed within the submitted tree survey 
were put in place prior to commencement of development.  

The changes to the access arrangements separately approved under application 
2014/0533 and a change in the proposed construction materials also effectively 
breached condition 2 of the original planning permission (which related to specific 
drawing numbers).  

In dealing with the previous Discharge of Condition Application, the Officer therefore 
advised that a Removal/Variation of Condition Application should be made to the 
Borough Council to seek approval for all of the changes by varying condition 2 and 
removing conditions 4 and 8 of the original planning permission.  

This application therefore follows the previous advice.  

Consultations

Nottinghamshire County Council (Highway Authority)  – No comments received.  

Arboricultural Officer – No comments received.  

Neighbouring properties were notified of the proposal and the application advertised 
via a Site Notice – I have received one letter of representation as a result.  The letter 
was dated 24th May 2015 which evidently related to previous concerns including the 
removal of trees, the use of the site fencing for advertising, inappropriate car parking, 
and damage to boundary walls between properties.  

Page 115



In addition, a section was added to the above letter on 9th September 2015 in 
relation to the present application.  The concern is in relation to what landscaping is 
being proposed following the destruction of all trees, which was against the Planning 
Conditions set out in the permission dated 29th January 2014.  

Planning Considerations

The main planning issues involved in the determination of this application are 
whether the proposed development would have a material impact on the character 
and appearance of the site and wider street scene through the loss of the trees, the 
impact of the proposal on neighbouring residential amenity and the impact on 
highway safety.  

Gedling Borough adopted the Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) on 10th September 2014 
and this now forms part of the Development Plan along with certain policies saved 
contained within the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local Plan referred to in 
Appendix E of the ACS. 

The following ACS policy is relevant: 

 Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity

Policy 10 of the ACS looks at design and enhancing local identity and reflects the 
guidance contained in both the NPPF and the Replacement Local Plan policies.

The main local planning policy for this application comes from Policies ENV1, H7 
and H16 of the Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 
2008).

Policy ENV1 (Development Criteria) states;

‘Planning permission will be granted for development provided it is in accordance 
with other Local Plan policies and the proposals meet the following criteria:-

a. it is of a high standard of design which has regard to the appearance of the 
area and does not adversely affect the area by reason of its scale, bulk, form, 
layout or materials;

b. it would not have a significant adverse effect on the amenities of adjoining 
occupiers or the locality in general, by reason of the level of activities on the 
site or the level of traffic generated;

c. development proposals are to include adequate provisions for the safe and 
convenient access and circulation of pedestrians and vehicles.  In this regard, 
particular attention will be paid to the needs of disabled people, cyclists, 
pedestrians and people with young children;

d. it incorporates crime prevention measures in the design and layout in terms of 
good lighting levels, natural surveillance, defensible space and well 
considered layouts and landscaping;

Page 116



e. it does not prejudice the comprehensive development of a development site, 
and

f. it incorporates best practice in the protection and management of water 
resources.’

Policy H7 (Residential Development on Unidentified Sites Within the Urban Area and 
the Defined Village Envelopes) states that;

Planning permission will be granted for residential development, including 
conversions and the change of use of buildings to residential use within the urban 
area and the defined village envelopes provided:

a. it is of a high standard of design and does not adversely affect 
the area by reason of its scale, bulk, form, layout or materials;

b. it would not result in the loss of buildings or other features 
including open space which make an important contribution to 
the appearance of the area; and

c. it is not contrary to other policies contained in this Local Plan.

Policy H16 (Design of Residential Development) states that-

Planning permission will be granted for new residential development if the following 
design criteria are met:

a. dwellings should be sited and designed to relate to each other and to the 
roads, footpaths and open spaces in the surrounding layout;

b. residential development should be laid out and designed in such a way as to 
reduce the risk of crime;

c. the proposals are of a high standard of design which has regard to the 
surroundings and does not adversely affect the area by reason of their scale, 
bulk, form, layout or materials;

d.  dwellings should conserve energy and use it efficiently.

In making a recommendation in relation to this application, regard has been given to 
the above legislation and policy and, as a result, it has been determined that the 
main planning considerations in relation to this proposal are: - 

a) Whether there would be an adverse impact on neighbouring properties;
b) The impact of the proposal on the wider street scene;
c) The impact of the proposal on highway safety.

Each of the above aspects are considered in detail below. 

Page 117



Residential amenity

The scale and location of the proposal remain the same as that approved in the 
original planning permission (ref. 2013/1003).  In this context, the proposed building 
itself does not introduce any further concerns in relation to the usual amenity 
considerations including overlooking, overshadowing or massing.  

Notwithstanding the above, as a result of the removal of a number of trees within the 
site, it is still necessary to carefully consider whether this action results in any 
amenity concerns.  

With regard to the impact on the neighbouring property at 233 Mapperley Plains, I 
am of the opinion that the removal of the trees from the site between these 
properties does not introduce any neighbouring amenity concerns.  With reference to 
the Tree Survey that was submitted to comprise part of the original application 
documentation, the trees along the common boundary with no. 233 were towards the 
front of the plot and therefore had no beneficial screening effect between both 
dwellings.  

Moreover, as acknowledged by the Officer who previously dealt with the planning 
application for the dwelling, the built form of the proposal would not be positioned 
any closer to the shared boundary with the neighbouring property than the previous 
bungalow.  In addition, the main bulk of the proposed dwelling would be located off 
this boundary and the first floor windows facing no. 233 are to be obscurely glazed.  

Moreover, no access onto the garage roof was previously permitted and this can 
again be controlled by the imposition of a planning condition.    

Turning to the amenity levels of the existing dwellings to the rear of the application 
site i.e. those on Ruffles Avenue, I note that whilst the trees removed were likely to 
have had some positive screening effect between the properties, I consider their 
contribution towards preventing any specific overlooking to be negligible owing to the 
level of established trees and landscaping on the properties to the rear (which are 
still in situ).  

With regard to all of the above, I am of the opinion that the proposal would not result 
in any material impact on neighbouring residential amenity on the properties 
adjoining the site as a result of the removal of the trees.  

I am therefore of the opinion that the proposal complies with criteria b. of Policy 
ENV1 as well as the requirements of Policy 10 of the ACS.  

Impact on street scene

In the initial application for the erection of a replacement dwelling, the applicant 
submitted a Tree Survey identifying the trees on site and the method of protecting 
them during construction.  Whilst the Borough Council was satisfied that the 
established trees were being retained to help assimilate the development into its 
setting, the trees were not considered to be worthy of a Tree Preservation Order in 
the interests of visual amenity.  

Page 118



By subsequently removing the trees the applicant operated in breach of condition 8 
of 2013/1003 (protecting the trees during the construction phase) and therefore this 
present application seeks to regularise the situation by removing condition 8.  

Whilst I consider that the trees would have helped assimilate the proposal into the 
site, I do not consider that their removal has had a significant impact on the 
character and appearance of the wider area.  

It is therefore my opinion that the proposal would satisfy the criteria of Policy H7 
(Residential Development on Unidentified Sites Within the Urban Area and the 
Defined Village Envelopes) insofar as it would not result in the loss of any features 
which make an important contribution to the appearance of the area.  The proposal 
is also considered to accord with the requirements of Policy 10 of the ACS.

Notwithstanding the above, careful consideration has been given towards the detail 
of a landscaping scheme submitted during consideration of the application, in 
particular, the need for a number of trees to be planted within the confines of the 
application site.  Indeed, the scheme includes six 12 – 14cm RB Pyrus calleryana 
'Chanticleer' (common name Callery pear) trees to be planted around the edge of the 
site.  As these species mature they will have a positive contribution in street scene 
terms and, in my opinion, ultimately a more beneficial impact than the trees that were 
previously on the site.  

I am therefore satisfied with the overall landscaping scheme proposed which can be 
adequately controlled by way of a suitably worded planning condition ensuring its 
implementation.  With this in mind it is therefore not necessary to re-impose a 
condition requiring a landscaping scheme to be submitted, hence the removal of 
condition 4 of the original permission.  

The highway implications of the development

As previously discussed, in between the granting of the original planning permission 
for the replacement dwelling (2013/1003) and the discharge of planning conditions 
(2014/1385DOC), an application was submitted for a revised scheme for the site 
entrance including dropped kerb onto Gedling Road (2014/0533).  No objections 
were raised from a highway safety perspective subject to conditions and the 
submission was subsequently granted planning permission.  

In the above context, the current proposal seeks to replace the plans approved 
under the original permission which were controlled by planning condition 2 for the 
avoidance of doubt.  From a highway perspective, I am therefore of the opinion that 
the proposal introduces no further implications and is more of an administrative 
matter.  

In making adequate provision for the safe and convenient access and circulation of 
vehicles the proposal accords with the requirements of criteria 1 of Policy ENV1 of 
the Replacement Local Plan.  

I am also satisfied that the proposal continues to include an adequate level of off 

Page 119



street parking in accordance with the aims of the adopted Parking Provision for 
Residential Development SPD which requires 2 No. off street parking spaces for 
dwellings with 4 or more bedrooms.  

The planning conditions previously imposed on the application for a ‘revised scheme 
for site entrance including dropped Kerb on Gedling Road’ (ref. 2014/0533), which 
were primarily highway related, can be imposed in the interests of highway safety.  

Other matters

In reviewing the detailed elevations submitted with the application, an area of 
‘feature wall tiling’ was noted on the front elevation (south east facing).  The precise 
detail of such was clarified with the applicant’s agent who confirmed that this area 
would be constructed using white ‘Krion cladding’ which would be back lit with LED’s.  
A further drawing was subsequently supplied to show this detail more clearly which 
also formed a section of the side elevation facing south west.  

The level of illuminance of the backlighting has been clarified to ensure acceptability 
in terms of highway safety and amenity.  The applicant has confirmed that a 1 metre 
of LED strip is 960 lumens and beam angles is 120 degrees = 305.5 candela, but 
this is at 1 metre distance.  More significantly, the lights are fitted behind a 12 mm 
tile so would not be directly visible, only a glow on the edges of the tile would be 
visible, therefore the candela would be significantly reduced.  

The most appropriate way of assessing the level of candelas emitted from the LED’s 
is to use the standing advice from Nottinghamshire County Council Highways.  

The Institution of Lighting Engineers Technical Report No. 5 – 3rd Edition (2001) is 
used to assess acceptable lighting levels and to calculate appropriate luminance 
limits for signs.  This technical report provides guidance on the methods of 
measurements and the control of illuminated advertisements.  In this instance, the 
LED’s are purely for design/aesthetic purposes not advertisements.  There is a limit 
of luminance to be imposed as a condition of consent and a table within the report 
provides recommendations for maximum luminance in candelas per square metre.  

The advice consequently identifies that in the case of an area zoned as ‘Medium 
district brightness area (e.g. small town centres, urban locations)’ the maximum level 
of illuminance should be 800 cd/sq.m for up to 10 sq.m and 600 cd/sq.m for over 10 
sq.m.  

In this instance, at 305 candelas the illuminance from the LED’s is well below the 
guidance and, as identified above, is further mitigated owing to the distance of the 
LED’s to the boundary of the site and that the lights are behind the tiling.  As such, I 
am of the opinion that the proposed feature walls are acceptable.    

A condition can be imposed to adequately control the level of illuminance and 
condition 2 varied to relate to the substitution of plans.  

Conclusion

Page 120



Given all of the above, I am satisfied that the proposal accords with the aims of 
Policy 10 of the ACS and Policies ENV1, H7 and H16 of the Gedling Borough 
Council Replacement Local Plan (Certain Saved Policies 2008) and I therefore 
recommend that the variation of condition 2 (plan references) and removal of 
conditions 4 (landscaping) and 8 (tree protection measures) of application 2013/1003 
are granted.  

Recommendation:

To Grant Removal/Variation of Condition.

Conditions

1. This permission relates to the approved plans Ref. 214-377-P01 'Location 
Plan', 214-377-P02 'Floor Plans', 214-377-P03 'Elevations', 214-377-P04 
'Sections AA + BB', 214-377-P05 'Site Plan', 214-377-P06 'Boundary Wall', 
214-377-P07 'Flat Roof Layout', the details contained in the Application Form, 
the email received on 8th September 2015 with regard to construction 
materials and the detail of the 'feature wall tiling' and the email received on 
10th September 2015 attaching the 'Planting Plan', the 'Landscape Layout - 
Isometric' and the 'Landscape Layout' all dated 6th November 2014.

2. Prior to the dwelling being first occupied, the means of enclosure as shown on 
drawing ref. 214-377-P06 'Boundary Wall' and 214-377-P05 'Site Plan' shall 
be erected.

3. No works permitted under Class A, B, C, or D of Part 1 Schedule 2 of the 
Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) shall be undertaken without the prior 
written permission of the Borough Council.

4. Notwithstanding the approved plans, there shall be no access to the garage 
flat roof from the first floor of the proposed dwelling.

5. The approved 'Landscape Plan' dated 6th November 2014 shall be carried out 
in the first planting season following the substantial completion of the 
development and any planting material which becomes diseased or dies 
within five years of the completion of the development shall be replaced in the 
next planting season by the applicants or their successors in title.

6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until a 
dropped vehicular footway crossing is available for use and constructed in 
accordance with the Highway Authority specification to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority.

7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 
the driveway is surfaced in a hard bound material (not loose gravel) for a 
minimum of 5.5 metres behind the highway boundary. The surfaced driveway 

Page 121



shall then be maintained in such hard bound material for the life of the 
development.

8. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 
the driveway is constructed with provision to prevent the unregulated 
discharge of surface water from the driveway to the public highway in 
accordance with details first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of 
surface water to the public highway shall then be retained for the life of the 
development.

9. The access hereby approved onto Gedling Road shall serve one dwelling 
only.

10. The illumination of the 'feature walls' identified on drawing numbers PR-01 
and PR-02 comprising part of the email received on 8th September 2015 shall 
not exceed a level of 305.5 candelas, and the means of illumination must not 
be intermittent, pulsing or flashing kind.

Reasons

1. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out 
in accordance with the details as approved.

2. To ensure a satisfactory development, in accordance with the aims of Policy 
ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local Plan (Certain 
Policies Saved 2014) and Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy (September 
2014).

3. In order to protect the residential amenity of the site and adjoining dwellings, 
in accordance with the aims of Policy ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014) and Policy 10 of the 
Aligned Core Strategy (September 2014).

4. In order to protect the amenity of neighbouring properties in accordance with 
the aims of Policy ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local 
Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014) and Policy 10 of the Aligned Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

5. To ensure satisfactory development, in accordance with the aims of policy 
ENV1 of the Gedling Borough Council Replacement Local Plan (Certain 
Policies Saved 2014) and Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy (September 
2014).

6. In the interests of highway safety.

7. In the interests of highway safety.

8. In the interests of highway safety.

Page 122



9. In the interests of highway safety.

10. In the interest of neighbouring amenity and highway safety.

Reasons for Decision

In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development is visually 
acceptable, results in no significant impact on neighbouring properties, and 
introduces no highway concerns.  The proposal therefore accords with the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policy 10 of the Aligned 
Core Strategy (2014) and ENV1, H7 and H16 of the Gedling Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014).

Notes to Applicant

Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively 
with the applicant in accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  During consideration of the planning application the changes 
made since the original approval (2013/1003) were clarified with the Applicant's 
Agent for the avoidance of doubt.  The Applicant was also given the opportunity to 
submit a landscaping scheme during the processing of the application to ensure that 
a pre-commencement condition is not imposed.  Moreover, as it became apparent 
that two street scene facing elevations would contain an element of 'feature wall 
tiling' backlit with LED's the level of illuminance was sought to ensure no adverse 
impact on amenity.   

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 
during development, this should be reported immediately to The Coal Authority on 
0845 762   6848. Further information is also available on The Coal Authority website 
at www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, current and 
future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal Authority's Property 
Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com.

The attached permission is for development which will involve building up to, or close 
to, the boundary of the site.  Your attention is drawn to the fact that if you should 
need access to neighbouring land in another ownership in order to facilitate the 
construction of the building and its future maintenance you are advised to obtain 
permission from the owner of the land for such access before beginning your 
development.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 2015/0954

Location: Gedling Country Park, Spring Lane, Gedling, Nottinghamshire.

NOTE: 
 This map is provided only for purposes of site location and should not be read as an up to date representation of the area around the site.
Reproduced with the permission of the Controller of H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright No. LA 100021248
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution of civil proceedings

Page 125

Agenda Item 8.



Report to Planning Committee

Application Number: 2015/0954

Location: Gedling Country Park, Spring Lane, Gedling, Nottinghamshire.

Proposal: Create snack van hard standing area in Gedling Country Park.

Applicant: Gedling Borough Council

Agent: Mr John Evens

Case Officer: Amy Cockayne

This application is being brought to Committee due to the applicant being 
Gedling Borough Council. 

Site Description

The application site relates to an area of land within the car park serving the Gedling 
Country Park, the site of the former Gedling Colliery which covers an area of 
approximately 110 hectares. The Country Park already provides recreational 
facilities such as picnic areas and pathways for walking and cycling. 

The car park to the Country Park is accessed from Spring Lane and is sited towards 
the northern boundary of the Park.

The Park is located within an area identified for the protection of open space in the 
Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014). 

The nearest residential properties are located to the north of the site along Spring 
Lane.  

Planning History

2012/1456 – Creation of country park, including a new access road, car park for 40 
spaces and surfaced paths. Conditional Permission granted on 11th April 2013.

2014/0650 – To allow the change of use of land from public park (Sui Generis) to a 
pitch for the siting of an ice cream van (A1 use). Conditional Permission granted on 
10th July 2014.

Proposed Development

Full planning permission is sought for the creation of an area of hardstanding in the 

Page 126



Country Park to allow the positioning and trading of a snack van. The use of the land 
for A1 purposes i.e. ice cream or snack van, was previously approved under 
permission 2014/0650. The proposed hardstanding area would be incorporated 
within an extension to the existing car parking area, facilitating extra parking for 25 
standard vehicles. The creation of the car park falls within the requirements of Part 
12, Class A of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 and does not require 
planning permission. 

The area of land that forms the application measures approximately 260m2. A corner 
of the proposed hardstanding would be created specifically for the siting of a snack 
van, incorporating a larger plot than a standard vehicular parking space and 
boundary treatment to separate this pitch from the 25 car parking spaces (knee rail 
fencing). Works are proposed to be carried out to the land for the regrading and 
levelling of ground soil. The details in the application state that the hardstanding 
would comprise of Terram geotextile matting covered by 150mm of type one road 
stone. A slabbed surface would be created to provide a stable surface for users of 
the snack van. 

Consultations

Neighbouring properties were notified via letter and a site notice was posted near to 
the site. One letter of representation was received making the following comments; 

 Creation of hardstanding should be no problem in itself; providing it is suitably 
located, well within the boundary of the Park and probably near a Car Park

 Any vehicles parked on this hardstanding should ensure that sufficient 
provision is made for litter collection

 Hopefully the snack van will not require a generator – sound and smells 
should be kept to a minimum

 No chimes or tunes to be emitted from the van
 Snack van should have a restriction on day and hours of business
 Procedures operated by the retailer will hopefully be monitored by Gedling BC

Nottinghamshire Police Architectural Liaison – No comments have been received. 

Gedling Borough Council (Licensing) – No comments have been received.

Gedling Borough Council (Food, health and safety) – No comments have been 
received.

Gedling Borough Council (Parks and Street Care) – No comments have been 
received.

Planning Considerations

The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are the 
impact upon the recreational purposes and quality of the public open space, the 
potential impact on the character and appearance of the locality and the impact upon 
the residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings. 

Page 127



There is not considered to be any highways impact arising from the development, as 
the proposal would not affect the existing highway network in the locality.

At the national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) is 
relevant. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The NPPF sees good design as a key element of sustainable 
development.

The following policies are relevant to the application:

National Planning Policy Framework: 

Part 1 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Part 7 – Requiring good design
Part 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Gedling Borough Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014):

ENV1 – Development Criteria
R1 – Protection of Open Space
R2 – Accessible Public Open Space

Gedling Borough Council Aligned Core Strategy 2014:

Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing Local Identity
Policy 13 – Culture, Tourism and Sport
Policy 16 – Green Infrastructure, Parks and Open Space

Policy R1 of the Replacement Local Plan states planning permission should not be 
granted for development on land that is used as open space. An exception to Policy 
R1 includes; where development would enhance or improve the recreational or 
sporting potential or quality of the site, and the proposed development shall avoid the 
erosion of the recreational function and maintain or enhance the character of the 
open space. Additionally, in accordance with Policy R2 of the Replacement Local 
Plan, the development should not adversely affect access to the protected open 
space. Due to the positioning of the proposed hardstanding and its relationship to the 
additional car parking for users of the Country Park, I am satisfied that the 
development would not override the wider recreational purpose of the Country Park 
and the character of the site and its surrounding area as open space would be 
maintained. 

A previous planning approval permitted the use of the area for A1 classes (as 
defined within the Use Classes Order) in connection with the siting of an ice 
cream/snack van. For that reason I am of the opinion that the development would 
help facilitate the use of the site for the practical positioning of a snack van which 
would create local business opportunities, and therefore be in accordance with the 
aims of the NPPF to support economic growth. 

The comments received in response to the neighbour consultation have been 
carefully considered. Many of the comments relate specifically to the business 

Page 128



activity of any future retailer using the site and do not form material planning 
considerations for this current application for proposed hardstanding at the site. Due 
to the nature of the development and the proposed hardstanding being incorporated 
within an extension to the existing car parking area at the Country Park, I am 
satisfied that the development would have no unduly detrimental impact upon the 
amenity of any occupiers and users of the neighbouring dwellings. 

Given the above consideration, I am satisfied that the proposed development would 
have no undue impact on the Country Park, the open space, the amenity of nearby 
residential properties or on highway safety. In my opinion, the proposed 
development accords with Saved Policies ENV1, R1 and R2 of the Gedling Borough 
Replacement Local Plan as well as the NPPF and Gedling Aligned Core Strategy. It 
is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted.

Recommendation:

To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 
date of this permission.

2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the plans and details 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 2nd October 2015. The 
development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these plans 
and details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reasons

1. In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and to define the terms of this permission.

Reasons for Decision

In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development would help facilitate 
a use that would enhance recreational opportunities within the Borough and would 
not unduly impact upon the amenity of local residents, the visual amenity or 
character of the area. The proposal therefore accords with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2012) and policies ENV1, R1 or R2 of the Gedling Borough 
Replacement Local Plan (Saved Policies 2008).

Notes to Applicant

This application is associated with Planning Approval 2014/0650 'To allow the 
change of use of land from Public Car Park (Sui Generis) to a pitch for the siting of 
an ice cream van (A1 use)'

Page 129



Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively 
with the applicant in accordance with paragraphs 186 to 187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. During the processing of the application there were no problems 
for which the Local Planning Authority had to seek a solution in relation to this 
application.

Page 130



Report to Planning Committee

Subject: Development Management Improvement Plan

Date: 14 October 2015

Author: Service Manager – Planning

1. Purpose of the Report

 To seek members’ comments on the draft Development Management 
Improvement Plan, produced following the recent independent service 
review.

2. Background

Members will recall that a short independent resource review of the 
Development Management service was carried out by Fortismere Associates 
and ARUP in the Spring and early Summer of 2015 on behalf of the Planning 
Advisory Service. It was the first review of its type in the country.

Drawing on the findings of that review, and on wider evidence and issues 
relating to current performance of the service, a draft Improvement Plan has 
now been drawn up. A copy of the draft plan is attached at Appendix A.

3. Proposal

The Resource Review identified a number of areas for improvement which 
need to be addressed

 Lack of management capacity in the existing structure
 Not meeting corporate targets on “minor” and “other” categories of 

planning applications
 Increasing proportion of non-fee earning applications
 Opportunities to charge for services on full cost recovery basis
 Improve communication and customer experience
 Improve the use of ICT

Page 131

Agenda Item 9.



The draft Improvement Plan has been developed to address these issues and 
wider points derived from customer, member, employee and other stakeholder 
feedback.

The Improvement Plan is themed around delivering improvement across a 
range of themes.

 Strategic overview
 Staffing, including leadership and management
 Systems and process improvements
 Performance management and improvement
 Income generation
 Customer care and customer focus
 Democratic improvements

It is a challenging programme, to be delivered over a two year period. In some 
areas, it requires significant, cultural change. 

Delivery of the programme will be led by the Service Manager, but will require 
support from all officers within the service going forward. Frequent staff 
briefings will seek to ensure continued staff engagement with and ownership 
of the Plan. Officer oversight will be co-ordinated by the Corporate Director 
responsible for Planning. 

It is also felt to be important that there is member oversight of delivery of the 
Plan. It is therefore proposed that a small Member Reference Group is 
established to provide such oversight, advised and supported by the 
Corporate Director and the Service Manager. 

If supported, it is suggested that this reference group consists of the Portfolio 
Holder with responsibility for Planning matters; the chair of this Committee and 
a member of the Opposition Group. In addition, progress reports should be 
presented to the committee every six months.

Members will note there is a specific section of the Improvement Plan focusing 
on democratic improvements. Given that this area of work is of particular 
relevance to members, it is further suggested that the Planning Delegation 
Panel takes the role of a reference group for this section of the Improvement 
Plan, working with the Service Manager.

It is intended that a final version of the Improvement Plan, where appropriate 
reflecting members’ comments arising from today’s meeting, will be the 
subject of an executive decision by the Portfolio Holder for Growth and 
Regeneration, to be made as soon as possible.

Page 132



4. Resource Implications

The service continues to operate against a challenging financial backdrop, 
with increasing demands and expectations upon it alongside an increasing 
proportion of development activity being deemed to be prior notification and 
thus not attracting a planning fee. Attracting and retaining staff remains a 
challenge in a competitive market.

The Improvement Plan includes the development and implementation of a new 
staffing structure, work on which is being led by the Chief Executive as part of 
a wider management review currently in progress. This will be the subject of 
formal consultation in due course. 

In the meantime, early steps are being taken to increase the number of front-
line planning staff employed and to strengthen capacity to review systems and 
processes, which are key to delivering efficiencies. These will be delivered 
from within existing agreed council resources.

The Plan also envisages the development of new income streams and, where 
consistent with the quasi-judicial nature of the service, a more entrepreneurial 
and commercial approach. This should help to offset cost pressures outlined 
above.

5. Recommendation

Members are invited to comment on the draft Improvement Plan attached at 
Appendix A.

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Draft Improvement Plan

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Improvement Plan

Final draft – 2 October 2015
Improvement activity Actions to deliver 

improvement
Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Strategic overview – to ensure a clear focus for the service to drive its culture and future direction
Develop service vision and ethos 
and communicate this to all 
stakeholders

 Draft vision statement, 
drawing on service review

 Engagement with 
stakeholders, including 
members, staff, consultees, 
customers and other service 
users

 Adopt vision

Officer time

Possible support from 
Communications and 
Customer Services in drafting 
and engagement

Clear understanding of 
how the service works

Autumn 15 Service Manager 
Corporate Director

Staffing (incl. leadership and management) – to address capacity and retention issues within the service and to improve and focus 
leadership and management of the service
Develop and implement new 
staffing structure

 Draft and cost revised 
structure

 Secure SLT support
 Consult with staff as required
 Recruit to posts as required
 Induct employees appointed, 

stressing importance of 
delivering the service vision.

Officer time

Support and advice from 
Organisational Development 
and Financial Services

SLT support

New structure to 
provide stronger focus 
on planning delivery; 
greater resilience for 
the service; improved 
staff retention; to 
implement improved 
customer care and 
performance 
management. 

Oct – Dec 15 Chief Executive
Corporate Director  
Service Manager

Improve engagement with staff to 
deliver the Improvement 
Programme

 Regular programmed 
briefings for all staff in the 
service, with key staff from 

Officer time Better informed and 
engaged employees

From Sept 15 
and ongoing

Service Manager/ 
Corporate Director

P
age 135



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

other services (e.g. Finance; 
Customer Services) invited 
as and when required;

 To include briefings on 
structural changes; 
Improvement Plan delivery; 
customer focus standards 
and expectations; 
performance culture

Increase staff capacity to deal 
with large developments by 
exploring introduction of Planning 
Performance Agreements 

 Review how other authorities 
use these.

 Identify examples of their 
successful introduction, 
including how legal obstacles 
have been overcome

 Engage with potential 
developer funders

 Draft out roles and 
responsibilities/contractual 
agreements if required

 Introduce new PPA-funded 
role

Support and advice from 
Legal Services; Financial 
Services; Organisational 
Development

Potential to bring in 
Fully funded additional 
staffing resource to 
drive forward larger 
development.

Potential for combined 
planning and project 
management support 
for such development.

Autumn 15 Service Manager

Review duty planner service Linked to pre-app charging and 
process improvements.
Consider what alternative 
arrangements might be put in 
place.

Call centre support More calls dealt with at 
first contact stage.
More efficient use of 
the resources within 
the Development 
Management team.
More self-service.

March 16 Service Manager

P
age 136



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Systems and processes – to ensure the service is operating as efficiently as possible, reflecting good practice and making full use of 
electronic means of service delivery, and that it does this in a manner consistent with customer expectations
Fully review and overhaul all 
existing processes, with a view to 
improving efficiency, making 
greater use of IT (and away from 
paper systems); increasing self-
service and improving customer 
satisfaction. 

 Identify and agree processes 
for review with timetable

 Identify and, if necessary 
externally procure technical 
and professional support to 
review processes

 Fully map those processes 
as in place at present

 Review associated 
consultation processes

 Identify recognised good 
practice at other authorities 
and visit/meet with those 
authorities

 Identify recognised good 
practice at Gedling BC in 
terms of process review and 
re-engineering and discuss 
with respective managers

 Introduce new processes
 Ensure staff are trained and 

supported in introduction of 
new processes

 Ensure ongoing staff 
engagement

 Review ongoing staff needs, 
including Service Support, in 
the light of changes 
introduced

Full and continuing 
engagement from IT Services; 
Organisational Development 
and Customer Services.

Possible external support to 
be commissioned, funded 
from Transformation Fund or 
similar.

Support from key external 
suppliers incl UNIFORM

Support from Housing 
Services to get the most from 
benchmarking with other 
authorities and services

Other partner authorities as 
“critical friend” 

Modernised service.
More use of IT, less 
paper.
More efficient use of 
staff resource.
More customer 
focused service.

Reviews by 
Mar 16.

Implement by 
end 16

Service Manager/ 
Service Support 
Officer/ Principal 
Planners

P
age 137



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

 Develop benchmarking tools

The following are specific actions to improve and develop systems and processes already recognised within the service for early action
Introduce Development Team 
approach for co-ordinating 
responses to major development 
pre-applications and planning 
applications

Regular diaried round table 
meetings including Planning, 
PASC, Public Protection, 
Communities, County Highways, 
Education and others as 
required, to review major 
development proposals, provide 
advice on the schemes and what 
supporting information will be 
needed, and to understand the 
potential impacts and benefits of 
the proposal.

Regular commitment from all 
partners.

Applicant gets 
comprehensive 
comments on the 
proposal.

Council services areas 
can understand not 
just the impact for their 
own area, but how 
these can be 
developed to deliver 
greater benefits for the 
Council and 
community as a whole.

Protocol to be 
drafted early 
2016.

Development 
team to be 
launched early 
2016.

Service Manager

Introduce Consultee Access to 
enable electronic consultation 
with statutory and non-statutory 
consultees

Full e-consultation for all 150 
bodies.

IDOX support.
Training for consultees.

Reduced monitoring of 
P&E inbox.
Document 
management.

4 months FTE 
plus support 
from OD 
service and/or 
IT

Service Manager/ 
Service Support

Publish consultee responses 
online

Encourage all applicants/agents 
to register for Public Access 
updates.

IDOX support. Customer service. 4 months FTE 
plus support 
from OD 
service and/or 
IT

Service Manager/ 
Service Support

Improve County responses to 
searches

County to populate search 
responses in Total Land 
Charges, not e-mail.

County Council GBC staff currently 
spend up to 1 day/ 
week populating Total 
Land Charges

Oct 15 Service Manager/ 
Service Support

P
age 138



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Review Solicitors requests post 
Land Charges/compliance

Explore and if feasible introduce 
charge for producing “letters of 
comfort”

Nov 15 Service Support

Update Validation List Full review of validation list and 
update accordingly

Principal Planning Officers Ability to refuse to 
validate incomplete 
applications and not be 
challenged.
Co-ordinate with CIL 
software.

Oct 15 Principal Planning 
Officers

Improve the quality and clarity of 
application descriptions

Amend the descriptions 
submitted on applications to 
ensure that they cover all the 
development proposed in a 
consistent and coherent manner

Validating case officers.
Acknowledgment letter to be 
changed.
Engage and test with 
Members

Clearer descriptions.
Fewer requests to 
clarify.
Co-ordinate with CIL.

With 
immediate 
effect.

All

Introduce charging for viability 
assessments

Where there are concerns about 
the information submitted 
supporting the viability of a 
proposal, the applicant will pay 
for an independent third party 
assessment of these

Website updated.
Payment process agreed.

Independent 
validation.
Reduced negotiations.

With 
immediate 
effect.

Service Managers 
– Planning and 
Housing

Improve and clarify Enforcement 
processes

 Review and refresh 
procedures.

 Improve awareness of the 
Enforcement policy.

 Explore further use of 
Uniform IT module.

 All complaints to be 
contacted after site visit with 
initial findings.

 Strengthen implementation of 
enforcement.

 Introduce resilience by 

Officer resource.
IDOX support.

Customer service.
Fewer calls chasing 
progress.

Mar 16 Service Manager

P
age 139



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

making part of Planning 
Officers’ roles, covering 
Enforcement Officer absence 
and workload peaks.

Performance management – to develop a stronger performance culture within the service; to improve absolute and comparative performance 
against key performance measures (especially nationally recognised measures) and sustain that improvement
Critically review all existing 
performance measures for 
relevance and importance to the 
service and to customers as 
measures of performance

 Review current PIs
 Research alternatives 

used by good practice 
authorities

 Specifically research 
customer satisfaction 
measures

 Specifically research 
cost and income 
measures

 Review and incorporate 
key measures set out in 
Service review, 
especially around 
workload and backlog

Advice and support from OD 
service

Advice from PAS

Clear indications of 
what a high performing 
service looks like.

Dec 15 Service Manager/ 
Corporate Director

Propose and when agreed 
implement a new suite of 
performance indicators that better 
reflect performance and cost of 
the service and customer 
expectations

Apr 16 Service Manager

Strengthen performance culture 
within the service, raising its 
profile and widening ownership

Brief staff at beginning of process 
and once new measures 
introduced.

Creates and 
strengthens individual 
responsibility 

Oct 15 and 
ongoing

Service Manager/ 
Corporate Director

P
age 140



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Explore personal PIs and 
individual targets for each officer

When reviewing processes, look 
at making Case Officer 
responsible from start to finish.

Introduce a monthly performance 
dashboard for display 

Routine inclusion on team 
meeting agendas; specific 
reference in PDRs

Healthy competition.

Easier to identify 
blockages

Sign up to Planning Quality 
Framework to benchmark 
performance

Input data and set up customer 
surveys.
Monitor customer satisfaction.

IT/Comms Improved comparative 
performance data.

Autumn 15 Service Support

Income generation – to ensure the service identifies and progresses commercial opportunities, while retaining the integrity of its quasi-judicial 
role
Introduce pre-application 
charging

 Ensure service has capacity 
and systems in place to 
deliver successfully

 Establish and agree basis for 
charging levels and actual 
charges to reflect that

 Put in place systems to 
deliver

 Train staff involved in 
delivery, in Planning and in 
other service, including 
Customer Services

 Develop and implement 

Finance/IT/
Communications/ Customer 
Services

Additional income. Jan 16 Service Manager

P
age 141



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

awareness campaign 
amongst key stakeholders 

 Identify and provide 
administrative support

Explore further income 
generating opportunities for 
Development Management.

Various examples to be explored 

See also potential Planning 
Performance Agreements above

Finance/ Communications/ 
Customer Services

During 
2016/17

Service Manager/ 
Principal Planning 
Officers

Customer care – to develop and embed a stronger customer focus throughout the service, recognising the multiple customers served
Develop better understanding of 
the customer perspective

Identify different customers and 
their needs and preferences.

Comms.
Customer Services.

Better understanding 
of what customers 
want, and use this to 
shape future service 
delivery.

15/16 Service Manager

Regular customer care training 
for Development Management 
officers

Customer care.
Report writing.
Uniform.
Site safety.

HR/external Able to prioritise 
workload and 
understand what’s 
required.

Nov 15 Service Manager

Review and reduce e-mail 
mailboxes

Eliminate obsolete and under-
used mailboxes
Review monitoring 
arrangements.

IT/Customer Services/Comms Easier access and 
monitoring.
More efficient use of 
staff resources.

Nov 15 Service Manager /
Service Support

Review and fully update website Full review of content; use of 
language; clarity, from user 
perspective

Comms support Self-service by service 
users

Dec 15 Service Manager

Review and update training to 
improve the interface between 

Re-training.
Improve filtering of enquiries.

Customer Services support More efficient sifting of 
calls/e-mails.

ongoing Service Manager /
Service Support

P
age 142



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Customer Services and Planning Reduced hand-overs.
More efficient use of 
staff resource.

Develop and publish service 
standards

Draft and publish to reflect 
customer expectations.

Comms/ Customer Services Demonstrates good 
practice

Dec 15 Service Manager

Improve the quality and 
frequency of feedback to 
customers on the progress of 
planning applications

Where an application is likely to 
go out of time, the applicant will 
be updated at the end of week 
6/start of week 7 to explain why.

7 week list run weekly. Customer service. Dec 15 Service Manager /
Service Support

Encourage better use of IT so all 
applicants and consultees can 
self-serve

Encourage all applicants/agents 
to register for Public Access 
updates.

Update acknowledgment 
letter; applicants 
responsibility.

Customer service. Dec 15 Service Manager /
Service Support

Democratic improvements – to modernise and reflect latest good practice in democratic process, and improve efficiency of systems and 
processes that support the process
Migrate committee and delegated 
reports to modern.gov

Implement on modern.gov. IT/Members’ Services Consistency with 
corporate systems

Apr 16 Service Manager

Review structure, layout and 
content of Planning Committee 
reports

 Review good practice in 
layout and presentation

 Draft new report template to 
reflect that

 Engage with Legal Services 
and Members Services

 Consult and engage with 
members and service users

IT/Members’ Services/
Members

Shorter, with improved 
structure, with 
recommendations 
more prominent; with 
consultation narrative 
appended

Apr 16 Principal Planning 
Officers

Review timing, frequency and 
operation of Planning Committee 

Frequency/agendas/reports/ 
member briefings

Engage with Committee Chair 
and committee members

IT/Members’ Services/
Members

16/17 
municipal year

Service Manager

P
age 143



Improvement activity Actions to deliver 
improvement

Resources needed Benefits Timing Led by

Review Member engagement in 
the Development Management 
process

Consider existing arrangements 
and impact on performance

Members 16/17 
municipal year

Service Manager

Review the operation of the 
Delegation Panel

Consider existing arrangements 
and impact on performance

Members 16/17 
municipal year

Service Manager

P
age 144



Report to Planning Committee

Application Number: 2015/0027

Location: 16 Cottage Meadow, Colwick.

Proposal: Replace the hipped roof to the property with a partially 
hipped roof in order to provide accommodation within the 
roof space together with the erection of a dormer to the 
front elevation roof slope.

Case Officer: Alison Jackson.

Planning permission was refused by the Borough Council on the 3rd March 2015 on 
the following grounds:

1. In the opinion of the Borough Council as Local Planning Authority the 
proposed development will result in a dominant and incongruous feature 
within the street scene owing to its scale and bulk. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012, the Aligned Core 
Strategy 2014 and the policies contained with the Gedling Borough Council 
Replacement Local Plan (Certain Policies Saved 2014).

An appeal against this decision was subsequently lodged with the Planning 
Inspectorate.

The appeal has been dismissed. The Inspector concluded that the proposed 
development would cause significant harm to the character and appearance of the 
host dwelling and the surrounding area.

Recommendation:

To note the information.

Page 145

Agenda Item 10.



This page is intentionally left blank



ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL  18th September 2015

2015/0693
Ivy Villa  15 Cross Street Carlton
Construction of 4no. terraced dwellings.

The proposed development would have no undue impact on neighbouring amenity or 
highway safety. 

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

2015/0767
Alberts Garden 3 Nottingham Road Ravenshead
Removal of condition 8 2012/0449 Change of Use to restaurant and bar with extension to 
front and side.

WITHDRAWN FROM AGENDA 

2015/0768
Alberts Garden 3 Nottingham Road Ravenshead
Display advertisements - 5 signs, 2x fascia, 2x entrance/exit and 1x illuminated sign

WITHDRAWN FROM AGENDA 

2015/0803
Rear Of Site At Bestwood Hotel Park Road Bestwood
6 new build flats to rear of Bestwood Hotel refurbishment

The proposed development would have no undue impact on the conservation area, 
highway safety or the amenity of adjoining neighbours. 

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

Parish Council to be notified of decision SS 

Page 147

Agenda Item 11.



2015/0821
17 Daisy Road Mapperley Nottinghamshire
Reduce number of bedrooms. Create fourth apartment Re: submission 2015/0292.

WITHDRAWN FROM AGENDA 

2015/0808
23 Kirk Road Mapperley Nottinghamshire
Enlargement/extension of existing building in rear garden to form annexe for living 
accommodation.

The proposed development would have no undue impact on neighbouring amenity or the 
character of the area. 

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

2015/0930
1 Swan Meadow Colwick Nottinghamshire
Erection of a brick boundary wall to the south west side of the property

WITHDRAWN FROM AGENDA

2015/0911
75 Church Road Burton Joyce Nottinghamshire
Single storey extension to rear of property to incorporate kitchen dinner and downstairs 
toilet. Double story extension to side of property incorporating new garage, drying room on 
the ground floor, with an extended bedroom and family bathroom on the first floor. The 
side extension will include removal of the existing garage to be replaced by a joined single 
storey building with a green roof to form a fourth bedroom with ensuite bathroom. Front 
Driveway to be blocked paved.

The proposed development would have no undue impact on neighbouring amenity or the 
character of the area. 

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

Page 148



2015/0995
Tall Trees Newstead Abbey Park Nottingham Road
Variation of conditions 2, 4, 6 & 7 of Planning Permission 2014/0623

The proposed development would have be a minor amendment to a previous approval.  

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

David Gray 18th September 2015

Page 149



ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL  25th September 2015

2015/0821
17 Daisy Road Mapperley Nottinghamshire
Reduce number of bedrooms. Create fourth apartment Re: submission 2015/0292.

The proposed development would have no significant impact on adjoining properties.

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

2015/0941
231 Mapperley Plains Arnold
Resubmission of application (2013/1003) to erect two storey house following demolition of 
existing bungalow varying layout and landscaping.

The Panel recommended that the application be determined at Planning Committee.

2015/0929
437 Westdale Lane West Mapperley Nottinghamshire
Demolition of an existing garage building and the creation of a new build development of 2 
no. self contained 2 bed apartments, with associated car parking, vehicular access, bin 
storage and hard landscaping, and minor works to the existing property at 437 Westdale 
Lane

The proposed development would have no significant impact on the amenities of adjoining 
properties.  

The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated 
authority.

Decision to be issued following completion of paperwork.

Peter Baguley 25th September 2015

Page 150



Report to Planning Committee

Subject: Future Planning Applications

Date: 14 October 2015

The following planning applications or details have been submitted and are receiving 
consideration.  They may be reported to a future meeting of the Planning Committee 
and are available for inspection online at:  http://pawam.gedling.gov.uk:81/online-
applications/

Alternatively, hard copies may be viewed at Gedling1Stop or by prior arrangement 
with Development Control.

App No Address Proposal Possible Date
2015/0154 The Folly, Park 

Lane,
Lambley. 

Residential redevelopment 
to provide 5 affordable 
dwellings, comprising 2 
bungalows & 3 starter 
houses.

4/11/15

2015/0424 Mill Field Close, 
Burton Joyce.

Residential Development. 4/11/15

2015/0824 Former School 
site, Ashwell 
Street, Netherfield.

Construction of new 
medical centre & pharmacy, 
associated parking, cycle 
shelters & landscaping.

4/11/15

2011/0523 Woodborough 
Park, Foxwood 
Lane, 
Woodborough.

Wind turbine with hub 
height of 50.09m & blade 
length of 16.7m. Ancillary 
development comprises a 
permanent access track & 
crane pad.

25/11/15

2014/0169 Gedling Care 
Home, 23 
Waverley Avenue, 
Gedling.

Demolition of care home & 
construction of 14 
apartments, car parking & 
associated landscaping.

25/11/15

2014/0273 Land at corner 
Longdale Lane & 
Kighill Lane, 
Ravenshead.

Site for residential 
development.

25/11/15

Page 151

Agenda Item 12.

http://pawam.gedling.gov.uk:81/online-applications/
http://pawam.gedling.gov.uk:81/online-applications/


2014/1343 Westhouse Farm
Moor Road
Bestwood Village.

New single storey Primary 
School.

25/11/15

2015/1094 Land rear of 194-
202 Oakdale 
Road, Carlton.

Construction of 14 houses. 25/11/15

Please note that the above list is not exhaustive; applications may be referred at short 
notice to the Committee by the Planning Delegation Panel or for other reasons.  The 
Committee date given is the earliest anticipated date that an application could be 
reported, which may change as processing of an application continues. 

Recommendation:

To note the information.

Page 152


	Agenda
	2. To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2015.
	 Planning Committee Protocol.
	4. Updated Planning Committee Protocol and Code of Practice
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	5. Application No. 2014/0242- Land Adjacent 4 Northcliffe Avenue, Mapperley, Nottinghamshire.
	6. Application No. 2014/1168- Newstead and Annesley Country Park, Tilford Road, Newstead.
	7. Application No. 2015/0941- 231 Mapperley Plains, Arnold.
	8. Application No. 2015/0954- Gedling Country Park, Spring Lane.
	9. Development Management Improvement Plan
	Imp Plan final draft 02 10 15.docx

	10. Appeal Decision- 16 Cottage Meadow, Colwick.
	11. Planning Delegation Panel Action Sheets
	12. Future Planning Applications

